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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 
HISTORICAL BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT 
 
Manzanar was one of ten internment camps which held native born Japanese and Japanese Americans 
evacuated from the West Coast of the United States during World War II.  Construction of the facilities at the 
Manzanar War Relocation Center took place between 1942 and 1944.  The site was selected to hold Japanese 
American evacuees in February 1942, and construction began the following month.  The first evacuees arrived 
on March 21, 1942.  Construction and remodeling of the buildings in the center was constant until 1944 when 
most major construction ended.  Manzanar was closed when the last evacuees left on November 21, 1945. 
 
After a National Park Service study of all ten sites, it was determined that Manzanar, a National Historic 
Landmark, presented the best opportunity for preservation and interpretation.  The United States Congress 
established Manzanar National Historic Site on March 3, 1992. 
 
The General Management Plan (GMP) for the park was completed in January 1997.  In order to begin 
implementation of the GMP, which called for preservation of the three remaining buildings on the site and 
adaptive reuse of the Auditorium, the largest of the three, it is necessary to prepare an Historic Structure 
Report (HSR) for the Auditorium Building.  In accordance with NPS-28, the Cultural Resource Management 
Guidelines, the report includes achitectural and engineering analysis and recommendations. The 
recommendations reflect concurrence with national codes, Historic Preservation Standards and Guidelines, 
and NPS Management Guidelines.  The HSR includes documentation of available historical records and 
evidence of the building’s evolution and significance, documentation of existing conditions, proposals for 
specific treatment of the building, analysis of the effects of those treatments on the building, and 
recommendations for further studies.  This HSR will serve as the programming, historic documentation and 
design recommendations document for schematic and design development. 
 
 
THE MANZANAR AUDITORIUM-GYMNASIUM 
 
The Auditorium Building was designed by the Farm Security Administration, U.S. Department of Agriculture. 
 A survey of the educational needs of the 10 relocation centers undertaken in March 1943 reported that the 
high school auditorium at Manzanar would include two rooms for shop classes, a health unit, locker rooms, 
showers, and storage, in addition to the main assembly area.  Evacuees began construction of the auditorium 
in February 1944 and completed it on September 20, 1944.  The completed wood frame building had overall 
dimensions of 118 feet by 119 feet with an assembly area measuring 80 feet by 96 feet.  The stage extended 
from the east side of the assembly area, and an elevated film projection room from the west.  Attached to the 
north and south sides of the auditorium were single story areas (wings) used for dressing rooms, lockers, and 
offices.  An area on the south wing extended 40’-9” beyond the east end of the auditorium and was used as a 
health clinic.  The large arched roof of the auditorium was supported by five wood trusses.  After the closing 
of Manzanar, the auditorium was purchased by Inyo County in 1947 and leased to the Veterans of Foreign 
Wars (VFW) who used the facility as a meeting hall until the early 1950s.  When the VFW left the site, the 
south wing was removed from the building and is still serving as the VFW Hall and American Legion Post in 
Lone Pine, although it has been greatly altered.  After the VFW use, Inyo County removed the stage and 
installed a concrete truck ramp in the east end of the building and used the structure as a maintenance facility 
until it was purchased by the National Park Service in 1996. 
The structure was documented by the Historic American Buildings Survey in 1994.  Construction drawings 
have not been found but there is a good collection of historic black and white photographs.  A temporary fire 
and intrusion detection system was installed in 1995.  The Denver Service Center designed a water, sewer and 
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fire suppression system for the building in Fiscal Year 1997 and construction was underway in Fiscal Year 
1998.  A preliminary seismic evaluation of the building has been undertaken through a separate study.1 
 
 
MAJOR ISSUES IDENTIFIED IN PROJECT AGREEMENT 
 
An HSR for the Auditorium is needed in order to implement the GMP Preferred Alternative to adaptively 
reuse the historic structure as an interpretive center.  The HSR provides basic architectural and engineering 
information of the existing condition of the building through inspection, analysis, documentation, and 
rehabilitation recommendations in concurrence with applicable building codes and USDI Rehabilitation 
Standards and Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings.  Future work on the structure may have to be 
phased. 
 
The main issue is how to preserve the integrity of the building’s historic fabric, which has seen little 
maintenance in the past 50 years.  While changes to the building appear minor, major changes have occurred 
in building codes and environmental requirements.2 
 
 
RESEARCH TO PRODUCE HSR 
 
Primary sources of historic data are the Records of the War Relocation Authority in the National Archives, 
Washington, D.C., records pertaining to Manzanar in the National Archives Sierra-Pacific Division in San 
Bruno, California, the University of California at Los Angeles Library, and the Manzanar newspaper, 
Manzanar Free Press.  The overall history of Manzanar is found in the Historic Resources Study The 
Evacuation and Relocation of Persons of Japanese Ancestry during World War II:  A Historical Study of the 
Manzanar War Relocation Center, by Harlan D. Unrau; National Park Service, 1996. 
 
 

                                                      
1 FEMA 178/June 1992 Seismic Evaluation, Manzanar Auditorium Building, prepared by Martin/Martin, Inc. Wheat 

Ridge, Colorado, Final Report, December 1998. 
2 From Project Agreement. 
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MAJOR RESEARCH FINDINGS 
 
There is reasonably good written and photographic documentation of the history and physical nature of the 
building and its use with the exception of contruction drawings.  Only one sheet of original construction 
drawings has been found to date.  This documentation provides good information for the appearance of the 
exterior of the building and the interior of the auditorium/gymnasium space.  The remaining physical presence 
of the interior of the north wing and the single available drawing provides the general layout of the south 
wing, but no interior details. 
 
Physical investigation of the building in conjunction with historic documentation shows that the stage and the 
auditorium/gymnasium floor can be reconstructed with accuracy.  With certain exceptions, the building is 
generally in reasonably good condition.  The exceptions are deteriorated column bases in the south wall, badly 
weathered and deteriorated siding, missing and deteriorated exterior doors and extremely weathered and 
deteriorated windows.  The building requires all new mechanical and electrical systems. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR TREATMENT OR USE 
 
It is proposed in the General Management Plan that the building be restored to its 1944-45 appearance, 
including reconstruction of the south wing, and adaptively used to present and interpret the history of the 
internment of native born Japanese and Japanese Americans evacuated from the West Coast of the United 
States during World War II.
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ADMINISTRATIVE DATA 
 
 
HISTORIC STRUCTURE IDENTIFICATION 
 
The Manzanar Auditorium-Gymnasium is also known just as the Manzanar Auditorium.  Both names are used 
in this report.  The park building number is HS-01 and the List of Classified Structures identification number 
is ID-LCS-5866. 
 
 
LOCATION 
 
The Manzanar Auditorium is located on the west side of U.S. Highway 395, approximately 6 miles south of 
the town of Independence and 10 miles north of the town of Lone Pine in Inyo County, California.  The 
nearest major airports are in Las Vegas, Nevada (approximately 250 miles away) and in Ontario, California 
(approximately 230 miles); although there are limited flights into the Inyokern Airport, located near 
Ridgecrest about 82 miles to the south of Manzanar along Highway 395.  Overnight accommodations are 
available in Lone Pine and Independence.4 
 
 
USE 
 
The building was constructed as an auditorium and gymnasium for the camp high school; and also included 
rooms for shop classes and a health unit.  It was also used for community cultural events and other activities. 
After the camp was closed, the building was used as a VFW Post (1947 to early 1950s), then as a maintenance 
facility by Inyo County until 1996. 
 
 
MODIFICATIONS 
 
The primary modifications made to the building were after the period of historic significance, which is 1944-
45.  These modifications were:  the removal of the south wing, ca. 1953-54; the enclosure of the main 
entrance, possibly between 1947 and 1954 but probably ca. 1954; replacement of the original 
auditorium/gymnasium floor with a concrete slab, removal of most of the stage and installation of a vehicle 
entrance in the east wall, and installation of a vehicle door in the south wall, all ca. 1954.  None of these 
modifications are significant historically or architecturally and restoration of the original building 
configuration and details are recommended. 
 

                                                      
4 Ibid. 
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PROPOSED TREATMENT 
 
It is proposed in the General Management Plan that the building be restored to its 1944-45 appearance, 
including reconstruction of the south wing, and adaptively used to present and interpret the history of the 
internment of native born Japanese and Japanese Americans evacuated from the West Coast of the United 
States during World War II. 
 
 
RELATED STUDIES 
 
The general history of Manzanar is documented in the Historic Resources Study The Evacuation and 
Relocation of Persons of Japanese Ancestry during World War II:  A Historical Study of the Manzanar War 
Relocation Center, by Harlan D. Unrau; National Park Service, 1996. 
 
 
CULTURAL RESOURCE DATA 
 
Date listed in National Register:  July 30, 1976. 
 
Entered as a National Historic Landmark February 4, 1985. 
 
Period of Significance:  1944-1945. 
 
Context of Significance:  The Community Auditorium-Gymnasium at Manzanar National Historic Site is part 
of the first internment camp for Japanese and Japanese-Americans forcibly removed from the West Coast 
early in World War II.  The camp is a symbolic reminder that a nation of laws must honor the concept of 
freedom and the rights of its citizens.  The Community Auditorium-Gymnasium was built by camp internees.5 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DOCUMENTATION 
 
As soon as practicable, catalogue and provide secure accessible storage of historic documents, photographs 
and information pertaining not only to the Auditorium but for the general history of Manzanar.  Space is 
proposed to be included in the restored building in conjunction with the administrative activities. 
 
 

                                                      
5 This statement has been adapted from information in the List of Classified Stuctures data. 
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Drawing of the Front of the Auditorium-Gymnasium from the Manzanar School Yearbook 
Credit: Inyo County Library, VRF, “Manzanar Camp Reports” 
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HISTORY 
 
 
WARTIME “RELOCATION” 
 
On the morning of December 7, 1941, naval carrier planes of the Empire of Japan attacked the U.S. Navy 
Base at Pearl Harbor, Oahu, Hawaii, the U.S. Army Air Corps' Hickam, Wheeler and Bellows Airfields, the 
Army's Schofield Barracks, and Kaneohe Naval Air Station, thus bringing the United States fully into the then 
already raging Second World War.6  The United States had many citizens who either were naturalized 
emigrants from, or the descendants of emigrants from, the enemy alliance or "Rome-Berlin-Tokyo Axis."  
There were also a substantial number of citizens of the enemy powers resident in the United States.  Their 
legal status became immediately that of enemy aliens, subject, if the government chose to do so, either to 
exchange for American citizens held by the Axis powers, or internment in Department of Justice internment 
camps for the duration of the war.  Their children and grandchildren, however, if born in the United States, 
had the legal status of American citizens, and many of these were young adults. 
 
A number of citizens of Axis powers regarded suspiciously by the intelligence or law enforcement authorities 
indeed found themselves interned in Justice Department camps for the duration of the war, though only a 
small part of those who were in fact legally aliens of German or Italian or other European descent.  Many from 
enemy European nations who were long time residents of the United States and who raised no suspicions of 
treasonous conduct simply continued to live quietly in the United States throughout the war, while others were 
refugees from the Fascist dictatorships. 
 
The case of those of Japanese nationality and descent proved different.  For various reasons stemming from 
various motives, a number of army officers, civilian government officials, politicians at local, statewide and 
federal levels of government, newspaper editors, columnists, radio commentators, and others, called for 
removing from the Pacific coast states not only enemy aliens of Japanese nationality (known in Japanese as 
Issei) but ALL of Japanese ancestry, including children and young adults who were American citizens due to 
having been born in the United States.  This included even Japanese veterans of the U.S. Army during the 
First World War.  The idea was to move these people into the interior of the United States where they would 
not pose the threat of sabotage of the war effort which some believed they might if left on the Pacific Coast.  
The means of implementing this involved moving these people to temporary assembly centers, then to ten new 
“relocation” camps built in the interior of the country, and once they were sponsored by other Americans and 
received job offers, to move them out of the camps to work in cities or rural areas away from the coasts.  As it 
worked out, all of the Pacific Coast residents of Japanese ancestry moved to assembly centers and then to the 
ten permanent camps (permanent for the duration of the war only), but comparatively few moved either 
temporarily or permanently out of the camps into cities and rural areas in the interior, and once the war ended 
and the camps closed, many migrated back to the Pacific Coast states which had been their homes. 
Ironically, the entire relocation of the Japanese for reasons of security in fact was unnecessary at the time it 
began, an unnecessary drain on the war effort which served no useful purpose.  J. Edgar Hoover, head of the 
Federal Bureau of Investigation, opposed it as unnecessary at the beginning, and now his reason is known.  
During the spring of 1941, before war broke out in the Pacific, the F.B.I. and the Office of Naval Intelligence 
jointly executed a "black bag job" on the Imperial Japanese Consulate in Los Angeles.  Late one night, they 
and the Los Angeles police threw a discreet cordon around about nine city blocks in Los Angeles surrounding 
the Japanese consulate, turning away those who wished to enter the area with mention of a possible leak of gas 
or some such excuse.  They had sprung from a California prison an experienced safe-cracker, and with his 
help broke into the Japanese consulate and into the consulate's classified documents safe.  They copied 

                                                      
6 The literature on the attack on Pearl Harbor is extensive.  The best reference, and the one used here, is Gordon W. 

Prange, At Dawn We Slept; The Untold Story of Pearl Harbor. 
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everything they found and replaced the originals as if untouched, so the consulate staff would not know what 
had happened.  Subsequently reviewing the stolen document copies, they found a list of 450-plus Japanese 
intelligence agents then working on the West Coast.  They also found a report that the Issei and Nisei 
(Japanese and Americans of Japanese ancestry) resident in the United States were not to be trusted by the 
Imperial Government because they had all become too Americanized, and were in fact "traitors to their 
culture."  Therefore, the whole relocation business was unnecessary because the law enforcement authorities 
knew exactly who the spies were and who they weren't.  It wasn't necessary to remove American citizens of 
Japanese ancestry (Nisei and Kibei) from the Pacific Coast states, and it wasn't necessary to remove the vast 
majority of Japanese enemy aliens (Issei); those Issei who were under specific suspicion due to statements 
they had made or actions they had taken could have been interned in Justice Department internment camps, 
leaving the vast majority of Issei at large.7  Therefore political rather than security considerations called forth 
the relocation program. 
 
It is not the purpose of this study to deal with the many controversies and arguments which swirl around all 
aspects of the relocation of Japanese in the United States during the war.  This is not a history of the war 
relocation endeavor or of any of the ten relocation centers.  Rather this is the history of one building, the high 
school auditorium/gymnasium, at one of those camps, Manzanar, in the Owens Valley of eastern California.8 
 
 
CREATION OF MANZANAR RELOCATION CENTER 
 
Following the attack on Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941, on December 11, 1941, the army activated the 
long-planned wartime Western Defense Command, established with headquarters at the Presidio of San 
Francisco, along with headquarters of Fourth Army.  Lieutenant General John L. DeWitt commanded both.  
What had been the Ninth Corps Area command at the Presidio the army soon converted to the Ninth Service 
Command and moved its headquarters to Fort Douglas in Salt Lake City, although it still served under the 
command of General DeWitt at the Presidio of San Francisco.  Nowhere in this military structure was there a 
contingent capable of handling relocation of Americans of Japanese ancestry and Japanese long-resident in the 
United States, although unable by law to become naturalized citizens.  On March 10, 1942, therefore, under 
army Civil Affairs functions, General DeWitt established a civilian agency under the Army known as the 
Wartime Civil Control Administration to manage the rounding up and assembling of Japanese and Japanese 
Americans at "reception centers," mostly converted race track stables and stalls, and the creation and 
subsequent transfer of the Japanese and Japanese Americans to "relocation camps" to last the duration of the 
war.  Eight days after creation of the Wartime Civil Control Administration, President Franklin Delano 
Roosevelt signed Executive Order No. 9102 on March 18, 1942, creating the War Relocation Authority, a 
civilian agency under the Office of Emergency Services (eventually it would be transferred to the Interior 
Department), to manage the relocation camps outside the Pacific Coast states once they had been set up, in 
essence to relieve the hard-pressed military establishment from having to manage the relocation for the 
duration of the war.  (Ironically, two of the camps would be erected within California, one of the states from 

                                                      
7 Arnold Krammer, Undue Process: The Untold Story of America's German Alien Internees  (New York: Rowman & 

Littlefield Publishers, Inc., 1997), pp. 31, 181-182. 
8 For a history of Manzanar, see Harlan D. Unrau, The Evacuation and Relocation of Persons of Japanese Ancestry 

during World War II: A Historical Study of the Manzanar War Relocation Center.  2 vols.  Denver: National Park 
Service, 1996.  This constitutes what the National Park Service terms a "historic resources study."  This study will be 
cited hereafter by the author's name and the volume and page numbers.  The bibliography of this study lists a wide 
range of primary and secondary sources, including books by Roger Daniels and others, covering the history of the 
World War II "relocation" process, and the history of Manzanar, and both the National Park Service Pacific West 
Regional Office Historic Preservation Library and the Manzanar National Historic Site Library have a number of 
shelves of published works devoted to the subject. 
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which the Japanese and Japanese Americans were supposed to be entirely removed, a source of continuing 
controversy: Manzanar and Tule Lake.) 
 
On March 21, 1942, the first advance group of Japanese Americans arrived at Manzanar to establish and begin 
construction of the "reception center" under the Wartime Civil Control Authority.  On June 1, 1942, the 
Wartime Civil Control Authority transferred the camp to the War Relocation Authority, and it thus became 
Manzanar War Relocation Center rather than a "reception" camp. 
 
In the spring months of 1942 the two agencies in sequence constructed Manzanar War Relocation Center, 
including a small military camp for military police guards, an administrative complex for the camp's paid 
W.R.A. staff, a large number of "barracks" for the Japanese and Japanese Americans to be interned in the 
camp, along with requisite mess halls, a camp hospital, warehouses, a camp power plant, and all the other 
infrastructure for what became, in effect, a small city, albeit one behind barbed wire and surrounded by eight 
sentry towers manned by military police with either shotguns or submachine guns. 
 
 
THE MANZANAR HIGH SCHOOL AND ITS AUDITORIUM-GYMNASIUM 
 
On February 6, 1943, the Manzanar camp newspaper, the Manzanar Free Press, reported that the War 
Relocation Authority headquarters had authorized construction of a high school "assembly hall" and the 
Public Works Division at Manzanar already had staked off the site in the firebreak between Blocks 7 and 13.  
Lucy Adams, head of the Community Services Department, and Shigeru Nakanishi, a draftsman in the Public 
Works Division, described the building.  Mrs. Adams said that the "barn styled assembly hall will be used as a 
community assembly room and gymnasium as well as an auditorium."  Glen Nakamura, chief draftsman in the 
public works division, added that motion pictures could also be shown in the building because it would 
contain a projection booth.  It would also have a "regular size basketball court."  Initial plans called for 
including a high school science laboratory, a workshop, and a "health room" in the building.  Initial plans also 
called for an auditorium room 118 feet square, with a 30 by 22 foot stage, two dressing rooms, a storage room, 
two furnace rooms, a locker room, and a shower room.  Enlargement of the proposed student wash room 
space was under consideration.9 
 
Employees of the Farm Security Administration, a "New Deal" agency established by the Roosevelt 
Administration, had prepared the final plans for the combined auditorium-gymnasium and other buildings at 
Manzanar, probably around August 1942.  A list of materials needed for each of the buildings, including a 
"Gymnasium," bore a date of August 5, 1942.10 
 
Early in 1943 the War Production Board, in view of shortages of materials critical to the war effort, eliminated 
construction of new elementary and high school buildings at all ten war relocation centers, and in a report on 
the matter to Ralph Merritt, visiting Senior Engineers F.W. Thunberg and Education Advisor Robert E. 
Gibson laid out the need to remodel various barracks for use as classrooms and other school facilities.  In the 
course of that memo, they told Merritt that 

 

                                                      
9 Manzanar Free Press, Friday, February 6, 1942; xerox copy of clipping supplied by Ross Hopkins, Superintendent, 

Manzanar N.H.S. 
10 Senior Engineer A.M. Sandridge, Memorandum, December 7, 1944, to Project Director Ralph P. Merritt, National 

Archives, Washington, D.C., Record Group No. 210, Records of the War Relocation Authority, Entry No. 48, Box 
No. 220, Records of Relocation Centers, 1942-1946, Subject-classified General Files, Manzanar Relocation Center, 
Central Files, File No. 18.010 - Auditorium, hereafter cited as "NA Auditorium File." 
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Only a part of the high school building is to be completed[:] an auditorium, two rooms for shop, a 
health unit, locker rooms, showers, and storage closets.  This is to be constructed in the fire break 
adjacent to Block 7, the block which is at the present time being utilized for high school 
classrooms.11 

 
This suggested that the initial conception was for a group of high school buildings which included an 
auditorium, a plan abandoned due to wartime shortages of construction materials. 
 
 
BUILDING THE AUDITORIUM 
 
The issue of the Manzanar Free Press published on Wednesday, January 5, 1944 reported that the Public 
Works Division of the Manzanar Relocation Center had announced that construction of the "long anticipated 
combined auditorium-gymnasium" at Manzanar would commence early that month.  The newspaper 
described the proposed building as 118 feet square, with a seating capacity of 1,200 people.  It would be 
erected in the fire break between Blocks 7 and 13 "facing the upper end" of the camp, or in other words, 
facing west to "B" Street.  It would feature a 22 by 40 foot stage and a fireproof projection room for motion 
picture equipment.  Its uses would include lectures, dances, and social gatherings.  The Douglas fir floor in the 
main interior space would be large enough to accommodate one 80 by 96-foot basketball court.  Wings on 
each side would house rest rooms, lavatories, and lockers.  The building would be heated by an oil-fired 
forced draft furnace.12 
 
 
LAYING A CORNERSTONE 
 
Subsequently, Mrs. Lucy Adams, assistant project director in charge of Community management, chaired and 
organized a committee to arrange a cornerstone-laying ceremony, scheduled initially for Saturday, February 
12, 1944.  Following tradition in such activities, the committee planned to place a sealed metal box inside a 
concrete block that would be part of the building.  It would contain copies of speeches by project director 
Ralph Merritt and the chairman of the Block Managers Assembly, Kiyoharu Anzei, one or more copies of the 
school newspaper and the Free Press, and a list of the high school student body.  The ceremony itself would 
include numbers by the community band and the school chorus, a flag-raising ceremony at a flagpole to be 
erected in front of the site of the new building, and the aforementioned speeches by Merritt and Anzei.  Mrs. 
Adams told the Free Press that she would also appoint a committee of representatives from the Community 
Activities Division, the Education Department, Cooperative Enterprises, and the Community Welfare 
Division to govern the uses of the auditorium-gymnasium after its completion.13 
 
Prematurely, as it would turn out, the Manzanar Free Press reported in its issue for Saturday, February 12, 
that the cornerstone-laying ceremony that afternoon would initiate construction of the $15,000 auditorium-
gymnasium under the supervision of construction superintendent O.E. Sisler with direct supervision under 

                                                      
11 F.W. Thunberg and Robert E. Gibson, Memorandum, "Report of building requirements at Manzanar Relocation 

Center," April 22, 1943, to Ralph Merritt.  Xerox copy from the National Archives in the history files of the Pacific 
Great Basin Support Office, San Francisco.  A historian with the Historic American Buildings Survey team working 
on Manzanar supplied this memorandum to the author, but without the identification of the box or file in the National 
Archives, although the memorandum may have been from Manzanar Central Files under a subject heading for 
construction with the file number 43.500. 

12 Manzanar Free Press, Vol. V, No. 2, Wednesday, Jan. 5, 1944, p. l, cols. 1 and 2. 
13 Manzanar Free Press, Vol. 5, No. 12, Wednesday, February 9, 1944, p. 1, col. l. 
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J.W. Lawing assisted by K. Kunishige.  The only problem was that a winter storm blew in either overnight or 
that morning, forcing postponement for a week of the ceremony the newspaper had described.  More 
important, the paper revealed that construction of forms for the concrete footings had already begun under a 
foreman named I. Sakata some time during the week of February 6.  Furthermore, later in a progress report on 
construction at Manzanar, Project Director Ralph Merritt claimed that construction activity had begun on 
January 28, 1944.  Other outside carpenter crews would be assigned as work progressed on the wood-frame 
building.  The Engineering Division planned to have mill work for the door jams, window casings, and 
interior finishes prepared in the carpenter shop at Warehouse 34 by Jim Araki and his crew.  R.D. Feil and a 
camp electrical crew would do all the electrical wiring and other work.  K. Bowker and his plumbing crew 
would install all the plumbing and the hot water system.  J. Nakahama and his paint crew would do all the 
painting and interior decorating.14 
 
The resurrected cornerstone ceremony began at 2 p.m. on Saturday, February 19, 1944, with a cold wind 
blowing down from the icy Sierra Nevada, before an audience of about 300 "in the firebreak 7-12."  Merritt 
gave a speech amounting to a little over two single space typed pages.  He said the building for which they 
were laying the cornerstone would "become the family living room for all the members of our Manzanar 
community."  Herein, according to Merritt, children would gather for school classes and in the evening for 
plays and parties.  Older people would gather in the auditorium "to consider the welfare of the community."  
People of all ages would come for lectures and motion pictures.  "In truth it will not only be the living room 
but the family fireside where hopes and plans will be built for the future and where day by day living in 
harmony and helpfulness will be practices." 
 
Merritt referred to the box to be placed in concrete containing records of the day the building was begun for 
"men of the future to read." 
 

At some time, when the temporary wooden housing of this Manzanar has gone, as the houses and 
church and school of another Manzanar that once stood here have long since gone, then in that 
future day when the box in this corner stone is opened men will read of this strange war time 
community where men and women and children faced the greatest problems of life and each gave 
his answer according to his own heart. 
 

Merritt's intention for the rest of his speech had been sabotaged by the storm-inflicted delay, for originally it 
had been scheduled for Lincoln's Birthday, so for the remainder of his speech Merritt described the man and 
quoted the words of Abraham Lincoln.  He chose not to rewrite his speech, but gave it as he would have on 
Lincoln's Birthday.  With assistant project director Lucy Adams as Mistress of Ceremonies, Kiyoharu Anzai 
spoke after Merritt, the substance of his comments not reported in the newspaper.  The Manzanar Community 
Band provided appropriate music, and high school student body president George Nishimura led a flag-raising 
ceremony.  Merritt and others expected completion of the auditorium in three months, in time to be used for 
high school graduation ceremonies.15 
 

                                                      
14 Manzanar Free Press, Vol. 5, No. 12, Wednesday, February 9, 1944, p. 1, col. 1; Ralph Merritt's office diary, kept for 

him by his secretary, entry for Sat., Feb. 12, 1944, Collection No. 122, Manzanar Collection, Box 47, Folder l, Special 
Collections, University Research Library, University of California at Los Angeles: hereafter cited as "Merritt's office 
diary," and the date.  A.M. Sandridge, Senior Engineer, Manzanar War Relocation Center, February 7, 1944, to the 
Free Press, Attn. Roy M. Takeno, NR Auditorium File. 

15 Manzanar Free Press, Vol. 5, No. 16, Wednesday, February 23, 1944, p. 1, columns 1 and 2;  Merritt's office diary, 
Sat. Feb. 19, 1944, "Address for Laying of Corner Stone, Manzanar Auditorium," by Ralph P. Merritt, attached to 
diary entry.  The cornerstone later was looted of all its contents by a party or parties unknown.  The broken 
cornerstone has been found in several pieces some distance north of the auditorium. 
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“MINOR” CHANGES 
 
While not all of the correspondence has survived, apparently Assistant Project Director Lucy Adams 
appointed a Community Auditorium Committee to review plans for the building, possibly in a memorandum 
dated February 23 but no longer in the "Auditorium" file.  Lee C. Poole served as chairman, with Dr. Carter, 
Mr. Nielsen, Mr. Fox, Mr. Murakami, Mr. Anzai, Mr. Nakano, Mr. Enseki, and Mr. Kohigashi as members.  
The committee met three times during the week of February 28, and on March 8, 1944, Poole sent a four and a 
half page typed memorandum to Mrs. Adams detailing suggested changes in the plans for the building, as well 
as lists of proposed stage furnishings and even stage paint, makeup, cosmetics, music racks, and the like.  
With regard to the structure itself, the committee made a number of suggestions, keyed to blueprints which 
apparently no longer exist: 
 
 

I.  Minor structural changes: 
 
Since the high school gym [sic] classes are estimated to be about 75 students per class-hour for both 
boys and girls, it is observed that the locker room and dressing room facilities are much too crowded 
for practical purposes.  The committee, therefore, recommends that the present storage facilities, 
Number l and Number 4 on Blue Print in MA-X816, be incorporated as part of the dressing room--
locker room facilities and that the present Health Unit be used for storage capacity until such time as 
the Health clinic will be organized. 
 
It is recommended that the Health Unit be equipped with a lavatory and toilet. 
 
It is recommended that a dutch door be cut in the present wall dividing the storage room from the 
locker rooms and that the walls of the present storage room be shelved so as to make some 500 
"open wall lockers".  It is estimated that this will require 2000 Bd. ft. of lumber.  It is proposed that 
a responsible student be put in charge each period to check in and out the baskets for students. 
 
It is recommended that the space set aside for equipment and coach be reversed so that the students 
will not pass through the equipment room to see the coach. 
 
It is recommended that the janitors' closets be removed from the toilet room and be placed in the 
corner of the storage rooms, Number 2 and 3 respectively, of the above named Blue Print in order to 
allow for the cutting of one door between the shower and toilet rooms.  The cutting of this door will 
require putting the water closets on the opposite side of the room as they are now drawn.  That the 7' 
x 40'6" x 21' area beneath the stage be floored and finished well enough that it might be used for  
additional storage space as may be required. 
 
It is recommended that there be constructed beneath the mirrors of the dressing room and full length 
of the dressing room, an 18 inch shelf to be used as a makeup table.  Also, above the mirrors it is 
recommended that an 18 inch shelf be constructed to be used for storing small properties and 
changes during productions 
 
It is recommended that there be provided 1280 sq. ft. of screen wire, 1/2 inch mesh, to protect the 
windows from basketballs. 
 
It is further recommended that two basketball backstops be constructed so that they will swing 
against the ceiling when not in use. 



“Minor” Changes 

11 

 
It is recommended that the projection room be fire proofed as required by Manual Release 40.4.6 J.
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II.  Wiring: 
 
It is recommended that there be 20 ft. of footlights wired for three circuits; that there be two borders 
20 ft. long wired for three colors, and set for lights every 4 inches. 
 
There should also be four plugs set in the stage and four different positions as well as four 3-way 
outlets at the front of the stage and just above the floor to provide lights for orchestra playing for 
stage performances. 
 
The present dressing rooms should have one light to every 2 ft. above the makeup mirrors. 
 
III.  Furniture and Equipment: 
 
It is recommended that the seating be provided by the construction of two hundred ten (210) 
backless benches, 10 ft. long, 11 in. seat width, and 16 in. high.  This size bench range 26 in. back to 
back to accommodate fifteen hundred (1500) people. 
 
There should be built six 3 ft. racks joined by a pole for hanging clothes, three of which should be 
placed in each of the dressing rooms. 
 
There should be an equivalent of 20 sq. ft. of mirrors for each dressing room approximately 2 ft. x 
10 ft. 
 
For stage productions, there should be one porch set consisting of a settee and four chairs. 
 
IV.  Equipment for Stage and Stage Productions: 
 
There should be one front pull curtain as of [sic: should read "of as"] heavy material as is practical 
and arranged to push to both sides and clear the stage. 
 
Immediately back of the front pull curtain there should be a header curtain approximately 5 ft. x 60 
ft.  This header should be of the same material as front pull curtain. 
 
There should be a complete back pull curtain.  It is suggested that this be of monks cloth and of 
some neutral color, size 14 ft. x 60 ft. 
There should be four wing curtains 6 ft. x 14 feet.  These may also be of monks cloth. 
 
There should be two side curtains approximately 14 ft. x 18' also monks cloth with two additional 
strips 6 ft. x 14 ft. to make possible door and window openings on the stage setting, and three 
monks cloth headers approximately 5 ft. x 60 ft. to shield the overhead borderlights. 
 
There should be one smooth drop curtain which could be rolled up to hang back stage and may be 
of muslin, color preferred sky blue. 
 
V.  Other Stage Settings: 
 
There should be seven wood wings approximately 6 ft. x 14 ft. made of plywood or celotex. 
 
There should be a picket fence of three 30" x 9' sections and one gate.  There should be 38 stage 
braces made in the form of an "L" 6" x 1'. 
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There should be following pieces in an Interior Set: 
 
Six pieces 6 ft. x 14 ft.; one piece to have a door opening, and one piece to have a window opening. 
 
Three pieces 9 ft. x 14 ft.; one piece to have a double door opening, and one piece to have a window 
opening. 
 
VI.  Other Supplies and Stage productions: 
 
One gallon of silver and gold type paint [probably meaning one gallon of each color] to be used for 
scenery and costumes. 
 
Seven bolts of sateen in black, red, blue, green, yellow, gray and white.  Seven bolts of cambric in 
the same colors. 
 
Fifteen music racks with lights.  It is suggested that the light shades, in this case, could be made out 
of tin cans. 
 
It is further suggested that a stock of cosmetics and artists' makeup materials be purchased, such as 
crepe hair in gray, brown, black and white; face glue, one pound nose putty; grease paint; lipsticks; 
eye brow pencils; mascara; 10 pounds of cold cream; various colored makeup powders; and one bat 
of white wool for wigs (substitute, cotton). 

 
VII.  The following is the Estimated Costs of the above: 
 
Benches 210, 10'x11"x16", @ 5.50     1155.00 
Electrical wiring, floor plugs, footlights, 
 border lights, dressing room lights, etc.     100.00 
Curtain and Back drops: 
 Monks cloth, 
  Back curtain, 60' x 14' 
  4 wing curtains, 6' x 14' 
  2 side curtains, 18' x 14' 
  2  "  door or window drops  6' x 6' 
  3 headers, 5' x 60' 
       880 yds.  @ .80  704.00 
 Muslin 
  Back drop curtain, 14' x 40' , 187 yds. @ .20     37.40 
Music Racks, 15 @ 3.00         45.00 
Sateen, 7 colors, 210 yds., @  .35         73.50 
Cambric, 7 colors , 210 yds., @  .35       73.50 
Screen wire (Windows), 1280 sq. ft., @  .08    102.40 
Lockers, 2000 bd. ft. @ 112.50      225.00 
Stage Braces,  76 Bd. Ft. M, (1" x 6") ,  R.W. @ 120 M       8.25 
Celotex;  7 wood wings, Interior set, 1500 sq. ft. @ .05     75.00 
Fence  20 Bd. Ft. M, 1" x 4", @ $120         2.40 
Shelving   80 Bd. ft. M (Dressing Room), 1" x 6", @ 120 M      9.60 
Mirrors , 40 sq. ft., @ $1.60 sq. ft.       64.00 
Clothes Hanger racks, 5' x 3', 14 Bd. Ft. M., 2" x 4" @$70 M        .98 
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Porch and Interior Furniture set for Stage      50.00 
Paint - Silver, gold, neutral, 5 gallons       15.00 
Cosmetics                      25.00 
     Estimated Total Amount          $2766.00 16 

 
It is evident from the language in this memorandum that at least one and perhaps more members of the 
committee were, before the war, professionals in the theater arts.  Unfortunately, nothing survives in the file to 
indicate which of the foregoing recommendations were followed, although the evidence of photographs 
suggests that many of them were followed. 
 
On April 10, 1944, a draughtsman drew up a "Ceiling Plan" for the auditorium, which showed a plan of the 
ceiling framing, a section through the building showing a ceiling truss, and details of the end of a truss and the 
eave.  This was the fifth of five sheets, whether all done on that same date or not being unknown, the others 
not having survived.  Whether or not this plan was a part of the response to the March recommendations 
remains a matter for speculation.17 
 
 
PROGRESS 
 
On June 13, 1944, Manzanar Project Director Ralph Merritt reported to Director Dillon S. Myer on various 
construction projects, and in that letter said: 
 

High School Auditorium – This project was started January 28, 1944.  Construction was slowed 
considerably for the first month due to bad weather.  After that date the construction progressed 
very nicely until April when due to relocation and seasonal leave, we lost a large number of our 
skilled employees.  Finally by concentrating most of our skilled labor on this particular building we 
have completed enough to permit the commencement exercises on June 15.  A great deal of finish 
carpenter work and installation of heating units and hot air ducts as well as painting and landscaping 
will be completed after graduation exercises are over.  we expect to complete the entire building by 
August 1.18 
 

That same day, in anticipation of its initial use, Merritt issued 11 regulations governing public assemblies in 
the "Manzanar Community Auditorium:" 
 

The following safety regulations governing the use of the Manzanar Community Auditorium are 
hereby issued and are in full force: 
 (1) Audiences in the gymnasium [auditorium] are to be limited to a maximum of 
       1280 persons. 
 (2) standing in aisles and exits is prohibited. 
 (3) The following aisles are to be maintained: 
   One six-foot center aisle from the front doors to the stage. 
   One six-foot center cross aisle between center side exits. 
   Side aisles are to be four feet wide. 

                                                      
16 Lee C. Poole, Memorandum, "Report of the Community Auditorium Committee, March 8, 1944, to Mrs. Lucy Adams, 

Assistant Project Director, Community Management Division, NR Auditorium File. 
17 Record Group 210, Records of the War Relocation Authority, Entry No. 48, Box No. 220, File No. 18.010, National 

Archives. 
18 National Archives, Record Group No. 210, Entry 16, Box 315, War Relocation Authority Headquarters Subject-

Classified General Files, November 1942-December 1944, File No. 43.503#1 (Unrau research files, Manzanar NHS). 
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 (4) All exit doors must be unlocked during the time the audience is in the building. 
       Corridors to exit doors must be kept free of obstructions and well lighted at all  
       times, while building is occupied by an audience. 
 (5) Decorations made of flammable materials must be kept to a minimum. 
       Approval of decorations must be obtained from the Fire Protection Officer. 
 (6) Smoking is prohibited during public assembly. 
 (7) All assemblies must be under responsible supervision. 
 (8) Competent operators of heating and lighting equipment must be in attendance. 
 (9) Rows of seats shall be spaced so that not less than 27 inches is obtained from  
       the front of one row to the front of the next. 
     (10) A permit from the Fire Department must be obtained 24 hours in advance of  
      each use.  The use of the auditorium shall be subject to regulations prescribed  
      by the Fire Protection Officer. 
    (11) All WRA regulations pertaining to the fire safety of persons and property must 
      be observed.19 

 
These regulations primarily focused on safety, especially fire safety, and did not cover all aspects of 
management of the auditorium; further regulations would prove necessary. 
 
 
A PROGRAM FOR THE OPENING 
 
While construction of the auditorium/gymnasium crawled towards completion, the high school music teacher 
sat down and began composing an operetta, entitled "Loud and Clear," which Superintendent of Education 
Genevieve W. Carter announced on June 3 would be the first program to be given in the new building.  A 
matinee performance of the operetta at 2 p.m. on June 15 "For the benefit of smaller children" actually would 
be the first use of the building, but the formal presentation of the operetta at 8:15 p.m. on Friday, June 16, 
1944, would constitute the actual dedicatory performance in the building.  Project Director Ralph Merritt 
again would speak briefly prior to the performance to inaugurate its use.  Tickets for the operetta went on sale 
about June 10th: five cents apiece for the kiddie matinee, 25 cents for evacuees, 50 cents for others.  Whether 
"others" included camp staff, or they got in free, remained unclear.20 
 
The story line of the operetta focused on the student body of a fictional college that faced closure due to lack 
of funds.  The students set out to find a solution to the problem, which led to "many a laugh" as well as much 
heartache, but they refused to give up until finally they saved the college.  Those playing characters in the 
operetta included Karie Shindo, Kow Maruki, Harry Tashima, Lillian Uyemura, Tsugi Sakata, Kazuko Nagai, 
Lillian Wakatsuki, Kiyomi Okazaki, Tommy Uyeda, Suzanne Anzai, and Noboru Yamazaki.  The "Winston 
Chorus" of 36 singers (the Manzanar High School choir) contributed to the 19 musical numbers performed by 
the cast and the camp orchestra.  Music instructor Frizzell had written all the scores.21 
 
At the last minute, the performance nearly failed to take place.  Apparently the camp administration had 
advertised it far and wide, bringing people in from all over the Owens Valley, including Bishop, Big Pine, 
Independence, and Lone Pine, some to have dinner in the Administrative Mess Hall prior to the performance.  
In the auditorium, meanwhile, a section of seats had been roped off for use by the parents of the performers.  

                                                      
19 From the Ralph Merritt Collection, Special Collections, University Research Library, University of California at Los 

Angeles. 
20 Manzanar Free Press, Vol. 5, No. 45, Saturday, June 3, 1944, p. 1, col. 3; Vol. 5, No. 47, Saturday, June 10, 1944, p. 

1, col. 3. 
21 Ibid., Vol. 5, No. 47, Saturday, June 10, 1944, p. 1, col. 3;  Vol. 5, No. 49, Saturday, June 17, 1944, p. 1, col. 2. 
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Faced with an influx of valley residents, camp administration decided to use this section of seats for the 
Caucasian visitors from outside the camp.  When the performers and singers learned that, they staged an 
instant strike.  They were not going to perform unless those seats were used for their parents.  Louis Frizzell, 
probably on the verge of tears after all the work he had put in writing and composing the music for the 
operetta and directing and conducting it through numerous rehearsals, pleaded with his student performers as a 
personal favor to him to go ahead and present the operetta, and reluctantly, they did.22 
 
 
A GRADUATION CEREMONY 
 
Two days later, Sunday evening June 18, 1944, an audience estimated at between 1100 and 1200 camp 
residents and staff attended the high school graduation ceremonies for 177 students clad in traditional caps and 
gowns in the new auditorium.  Project Director Ralph Merritt presided, while Camp Superintendent of 
Education Genevieve Carter handed out the diplomas.  Assistant Project Director Lucy Adams greeted the 
class of 1944, and introduced the commencement speaker, Dr. Cecil Dunn, professor of economics at 
Occidental College, who spoke on "Peace and our Responsibilities."  Haruko Uyeda and Arnold T. Mayeda 
spoke for the graduating class.  The Manzanar High School Parent Teacher's Association hosted a reception 
for the graduating class in Mess Hall 7 following the commencement exercises.23 
 
Subsequently, high school principal Rollin C. Fox chaired the committee assigned to apportion uses of the 
new auditorium/gymnasium.  Other members included Dr. Genevieve Carter, superintendent of education, Joe 
Kohigashi representing Community Activities, fire chief Frank Hon, Koichi Masanuka representing 
Consumer Enterprises, Aksel Nielsen, also of Community Activities, and Frank Yasuda representing Town 
Hall.  The committee decided that events planned by camp administration had the highest priority and 
preempted anything else scheduled to take place in the building.  Otherwise, high school physical education 
classes, assemblies, and "other such activities" had use of the building on week days from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. and 
on Saturday mornings.  On Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday evenings and on Saturday 
afternoons, the Community Activities Division could make use of the building.  Saturday evenings and all day 
Sundays, Consumer Enterprises had use of the auditorium.  Others who needed to use the building were to 
contact Principal Fox or other members of the committee, filling out a formal application for such use.24 
 
 
A MEMORIAL SERVICE 
 
During the war, young Nisei men entered the armed services for combat in Europe against German and Italian 
forces, and before long, many of them had become casualties.  This led to memorial services being held in the 
Auditorium, as Manzanar Acting Project Attorney Kent Silverthorne reported on Monday, August 14, 1944, 
apparently regarding a ceremony held in the auditorium the previous day 
 
                                                      
22 Merritt's office diary, Friday, June 16, 1944. 
23 Manzanar Free Press, Vol. 5, No. 49, Saturday, June 17, 1944, p. 1, cols. 1 and 2; Vol. 5, No. 50, June 21, 1944, p. 1, 

cols. l and 2.  There are discrepancies between these two articles.  The article before the event described Rollin C. Fox, 
the school principal, as superintendent of education, and Genevieve Carter representing the Parent Teacher 
Association along with Howard K. Murakami; the article after the event described Genevieve Carter as the 
superintendent of education.  Harlan D. Unrau, The Evacuation and Relocation of Persons of Japanese Ancestry 
during World War II: A Historical Study of the Manzanar War Relocation Center, Vol. Two, p. 545, identified Rollin 
C. Fox as the second principal of the Manzanar High School, serving from 1943 until 1945, and on p. 547 identified 
Genevieve Carter as the Superintendent of Education. 

24 Manzanar Free Press, Vol. 6, No. 28, Saturday, September 30, 1944, p. 1, col. 5. 
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Sunday afternoon I attended the most impressive and moving memorial service I have ever 
experienced.  The new auditorium, appropriately enough, was used for the first time to hold 
memorial services for Pfc. Frank Arikawa, a Nisei soldier who was killed in Italy on July 6.  His 
parents have two other sons in the army.  I had rather expected that they would be bitter over their 
loss, but on the contrary, they are proud that their son has given his life for his country. 
 
On the surface the services were ordinary enough, but the implications were extremely dramatic.  
Many who wept, I am sure, wept not so much for Pfc. Arikawa as for those who under such strange 
and anomalous circumstances were gathered to pay him tribute. 
 
First a squad of soldiers performed the ceremony of placing the flag at half-mast to the 
accompaniment of the Star Spangled Banner--a stirring ceremony under any circumstances.  It 
tightened one's throat to see how meticulously Nisei and Issei held hat or hand over their hearts as 
the National Anthem was being played.  (No, Mr. Hearst, I didn't see any fingers crossed.)  Then the 
services in the auditorium were begun before a large audience.  The platform was filled with 
speakers, not the least conspicuous of whom, was our Property Officer, Mr. Bromley, dressed in the 
full regalia of a Commander of the American Legion.  The parents of Frank Arikawa are Buddhists 
but their children are Christians, so they insisted upon having Japanese Christian Ministers officiate. 
 The fact that their prayers were rendered in broken, barely understandable English, certainly did 
nothing to detract from their significance.  Christian hymns were sung--not too lustily, since fully 
three fourths of the audience was composed of Issei Buddhists.  Mr. Merritt gave a splendid talk 
which I thought exceptionally honest and courageous.  Mr. Bromley made a few appropriate 
remarks and read an original poem which was worthy of a Rupert [illegible]...25  Mrs. Adams' 
tribute was especially effective because she addressed her remarks directly to the members of the 
Arikawa family who sat in the front row throughout the services. 

 
The rest of the speakers were evacuees, Issei and Nisei.  One Nisei boy gave a particularly fine talk; his thesis 
being that in spite of evacuation, in spite of the barbed wire, this is still the best country of all.  The contrast 
between this and the Issei speakers who respectfully bowed to the chairman and then to the picture of the dead 
boy before speaking, or reading Japanese poems, was like something in a mixed up dream.26 
 
Clearly, the memorial service in the Auditorium had been a very moving ceremony. 
 
On August 10, 1944, the chairman of the Auditorium Committee sent a memorandum to Camp Senior 
Engineer A.M. Sandridge reporting complaints that the entrance to the auditorium had insufficient lighting.  
The committee asked Sandridge to have lights installed above the main entrance, high enough to that the light 
bulbs could not be easily reached and stolen.27 
 
 

                                                      
25 The poet referred to probably was Rupert Brooke, an English poet killed in 1915 in the First World War in Europe.  

The author is indebted to NPS Historian Harry Butowsky of the Washington office for assistance in arriving at this 
conclusion. 

26 Quoted in a memorandum from Edwin E. Ferguson, August 23, 1944, to The Director (Dillon S. Myer) and Merrill 
Tozier.  National Archives, Record Group No. 210, Records of the War Relocation Authority, Entry 20, Box 31, File:  
Manzanar Relocation Center, August 1944.  Copy in Unrau research files, Manzanar N.H.S. 

27 Memorandum, Lee C. Poole, Chairman, Community Auditorium Committee, August 10, 1944, to Senior Engineer 
A.M. Sandridge, NA Auditorium File. 
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APPROPRIATE USES 
 
The question of what uses of the auditorium were appropriate and which were not became more of an issue 
late in the summer of 1944.  At a meeting of the Auditorium Committee on September 15, in which high 
school principal Rollin C. Fox replaced Lee Poole as the committee chairman because the latter had left 
Manzanar for a position elsewhere, the committee discussed progress in finishing the floor, which suggests 
that it had not been finished at the time the Auditorium went into use in June, and they also discussed the 
hanging of the curtains and draperies, and the placement of necessary signs in the building.  The draperies and 
curtains had yet to be fireproofed--suggesting that it consisted of treatment of the cloth with a fire retardant 
chemical.  The Co-op representative, Mr. Sugimoto, announced their intention to shorten the black out 
curtains so that they would terminate just short of the ledge below the windows; as it stood, they were too 
long.  Then Fox read a letter that his predecessor, Poole, had sent to Merritt, which Merritt had returned to 
Poole with a notation, "Basketball out because floor is not able to stand it."  The committee decided to raise 
the issue in a memorandum to Merritt as to precisely what activities should be permissible and what activities 
should not.  In the meantime, the committee approved letting the College Relocation Committee use the 
auditorium for a dance on September 23 "if the auditorium were ready to be used . . . "28 
 
On September 20, 1944, Committee Chairman Fox sent a memorandum to Merritt regarding use of the 
auditorium in which he said that the committee believed that Merritt's statement that the floor in the building 
would not accommodate basketball opened up the whole question of what activities would be permissible if 
the floor was to survive.  (The committee wondered, incidentally, since to the best of their knowledge the 
building followed the standard plan for combined auditorium-gymnasiums and similar buildings at other 
camps which were indeed used for athletic activities, why the Manzanar auditorium could not be so used.)  If 
the floor could not support basketball, the committee members mused, then it probably could not support 
volleyball, tumbling, boxing, fencing, badminton, wrestling, "rhythms," whatever that entailed, and 
calisthenics.  The committee did believe permissible activities included social dancing, musicals, motion 
pictures, bazaars, assemblies, plays, singing activities, exhibits, lectures, and memorial services.  In other 
words, if Merritt were correct about the inability of the floor in the building to accommodate the pounding it 
would get in a basketball game, it probably could not accommodate almost any other sports activity either.  As 
built, it appeared that the "auditorium-gymnasium" was in fact only an auditorium.  The committee went on to 
approve the serving of buffet refreshments such as punch and cookies and sandwiches in the building, but 
recommended against using the building for banquets and dinners due to the lack of serving facilities.29 
 
 
COMPLETION OF THE AUDITORIUM/GYMNASIUM 
 
Almost incidentally, Fox indicated that the auditorium was expected to be ready for general use "next 
Monday," which would be September 25, 1944, which probably should be considered the real date of the 
opening of the building, rather than June 16 or even June 15.30 
 
 
FURTHER CONCERN REGARDING PROPER USES 
 

                                                      
28 Minutes of Auditorium Committee meeting, September 15, 1944, NA Auditorium File. 
29 Rollin C. Fox, memorandum, September 20, 1944, to Project Director Merritt regarding use of the auditorium, NA 

Auditorium File. 
30 Ibid. 
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Responding the day after Fox wrote him, Ralph Merritt approved the uses the Auditorium Committee 
suggested, as well as permitting buffet snacks but not banquets or dinners, since such facilities were available 
in the mess halls, and answering a minor concern of the committee, agreed that kendo and judo groups not use 
the auditorium, as they already had suitable space elsewhere in the camp. 

 
Regarding athletic uses of the building as a gymnasium, Merritt wrote: 

 
I would also approve of tumbling, boxing, fencing, and wrestling if conducted on the usual mats, 
and badminton and setting-up exercises.  I do not want to refuse the use of the auditorium for any 
proper purposes and my purpose is only to try to protect the building for the greatest use over the 
longest time for the largest number of people.  The point is that the floor is constructed of wood 
nailed into place and any rhythmic or other jumping on the floor will loosen the nails and thereby 
destroy the usefulness of the building for many purposes.  If calisthenics does not involve the 
jumping up and down on the floor that will loosen these nails they should not be prohibited, 
otherwise common sense should be applied and that portion which has to do with the destruction of 
the floor should not be permitted. 
 
It is for this reason that basketball and volley ball must be prohibited even though the area of the 
building was made to conform to basketball court requirements. 

 
Thus the auditorium would fulfill only partially its dual role as a high school gymnasium.31 
 
Implementing Merritt's decisions, the Auditorium Committee issued on October 27, 1944, two mimeographed 
pages of regulations regarding the use of the Manzanar auditorium.  It required every organization seeking 
such use to file a formal application on Form No. 1021A, obtainable in the high school office in Building 1-
13-4.  The regulations stated that when a function could be held successfully in an unused mess hall or some 
other building at Manzanar, use of the auditorium was not to be requested. 
 
Standard use including the high school having the building Monday through Friday from 8 a.m. to 5:30 p.m., 
Friday evening, and Saturday mornings.  The Community Activities Section had use of the building Monday 
through Thursday evenings and Saturday afternoons.  The Cooperative had the use of the building on 
Saturday evenings and Sunday afternoons and evenings.  Other organizations wanting to use the building had 
to clear such use with the sections assigned use by the above schedule in order to reserve any particular date.  
The regulations went on to say: 
 

The auditorium may be used for such events as are sponsored by and approved by project 
administration, the Education Department, Community Activities, and Consumer Enterprises, and 
by such other organizations and groups as are sponsored by the project administration, and by 
community service groups and organizations.  The use of the building by clubs, the purpose of 
which is primarily social or athletic in nature, or for private parties or private activities, will not be 
granted. 

 
The regulations allowed only light refreshments to be served in the building, in order "to protect the building, 
floor, and the equipment from being soiled or damaged by spilled soft drinks or food items difficult to clean 
up." 
 

                                                      
31 Ralph P. Merritt, Project Director, Memorandum, September 21, 1944, to Chairman R.C. Fox of the Auditorium 

Committee, NA Auditorium File. 



HISTORY 

20 

If a function were likely to fill the auditorium, admission would be by ticket in order to control the number 
admitted so as not to exceed the building's capacity of 1280 seats.  Organizations using the building could 
arrange seating as they wished, but had to replace everything as they had found it.  The custodian would 
unlock the building when the person in charge of a function arrived, and not earlier.  The organization using 
the building was responsible for informing Internal Security of their function in advance, two days in advance 
if a security detail was needed during the function to keep order. 
 
The regulations established maximum prices to be charged for various functions: 25 cents per couple for 
dances, 15 cents per single person; 25 cents per individual for plays, musicals, short events, and other similar 
events; there would be no charge for motion pictures other than the charge by Community Enterprises.  The 
committee, of course, could make exceptions to these charges if it so wished.  Oddly enough, Federal tax of 
20 per cent had to be paid on all admission fees, a wartime measure, and the regulations contained a chart of 
the tax due for a range of fees. Taxes for the regularly assigned uses would be paid by the responsible section, 
but other organizations had to remit directly to the Collector of Internal Revenue in San Francisco.32 
 
Early in November, 1944, the Manzanar administration attempted to purchase a piano for use in the 
auditorium, but ran into some sort of budget or procurement problem.  Merritt wondered if one might be 
rented, if the Camp could not obtain permission to purchase one.  As with other questions raised in 
correspondence, the outcome is unknown, but photos by Toyo Miyatake of events in the auditorium show a 
piano.33 
 
 
A QUESTION OF STRUCTURAL INTEGRITY 
 
Around the same time Manzanar administration received two troubling letters from C.G. "Gail" Showalter, 
one dated October 10, 1942 but the year was believed to be a typographical error for 1944, and another dated 
October 17, 1944, in which this Showalter, a former employee of the camp, claimed to have sent "rough 
drawings," dimensions, and a thorough description of the auditorium to some civil engineer of his 
acquaintance overseas, apparently in the armed forces, in response to which the unnamed engineer apparently 
concluded that due to the omission of diagonal sheathing on the roof of the auditorium that the building was 
structurally weak and in danger of collapse.  Furthermore, Showalter alleged that horizontal diagonal bracing 
and vertical diagonal bracing shown in detail on plan No. 26 5A had been omitted. 
 
Showalter's letters raised issues important enough to warrent quoting them in their entirety.  Showalter wrote 
first on October 10 from Lone Pine to A.M. Sandridge: 
 

Dear Sandy: 
 
As you know, I quit the job at Manzanar on June 10th[;] now I'll explain why,[;] as yet, this letter is 
between you and me and hope you can do something about it. 
 
I was very much dissatisfied and disappointed [sic] when many structural points were changed in 
the auditorium but at the time could do nothing about it as only one man could be heard, so, after I 
quit I sent all the information on this building to a friend of mine, who is in the service, and is an 

                                                      
32 "Conditions Pertaining to Use of the Manzanar Auditorium," October 27, 1944, NA Auditorium File; Rollin C. Fox, 

[Minutes of the] Auditorium Committee Meeting, October 27, 1944, NA Auditorium File. 
33 Memorandum, Ralph P. Merritt to Edwin H. Hooper, November 6, 1944, NA Auditorium File;  photos by Toyo 

Miyatake, Miyatake Studio, in the Pacific Great Basin Support Office library. 
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expert on figuring jobs of this kind,[;] this man is a structural engineer and holds licenses for all of 
Calif. 
 
This is what he says, (I sent rough drawings, dimensions, and a thorough discription [sic].)  "The 
substitutions you spoke of, particularly the elemination [sic] of the diagonal sheathing, makes the 
resistance to wind or earthquake loading practically non-existant.  Figured the walls (20 ft high) of 
the main auditorium as the principal shear walls, this had to be so since there was no way to get the 
shear down into the walls of the low side sheds.  This again would require the roof to be diagonally 
sheathed in order to carry your wind or earthquake loads into your main auditorium walls. 
 
["]This, as you say, elimination of the roof and main auditorium wall diagonal sheathing absolutely 
messed the building up from a structural standpoint.  Throwing additional vertical load (ceiling at 
plate level) on the trusses also overloads the frame from a standpoint of vertical loads.  As the 
building now stands it is very poorly constructed for both vertical and horizontal loads, it sure is a 
mess.  Diagonal sheathing on the outside shed walls has very little value on the whole structure and 
acts more or less very locally. 
 

Showalter went on to claim "considerable field engineering experience" and wrote "it is my opinion that the 
building in question could fail structurally at any time . . . "34 
 
Sandridge did not answer Showalter promptly, if at all, and when by October 17 he had received no response, 
Showalter wrote directly to Ralph Merritt: 
 

On June 10, 1944, I resigned my position as carpenter at Manzanar because I had become disgusted 
at the many vital structural changes made in the auditorium (under construction then) in direct 
violation of the original plans and having had some engineering experience along these lines, 
realized that this building could fail structurally at any time.  So, in order to verify my suspicious, 
after leaving youre [sic] employ, I sent sketches and a thorough description of the changes and 
omissions to a very competent structural engineer who is now in the service so took some time to 
reach him as he was overseas, that is why this letter has been delayed,[.]  I realize this should have 
been reported much sooner to someone who could do something about it." 

 
Showalter told Merritt that he had written Mr. Sandridge but received no acknowledgement, and continued: 
 

You might ask Mr Sandridge or Mr Sisler why diagonal roof sheathing shown in the original plans 
was laid vertical on the existing building also why all lateral bracing was left out and why diagonal 
sheathing on main auditorium walls was left out and horizontal siding substituted.  The enclosed 
copy of the Engineers report will explain the importance of these structural points.  This condition 
has given me some worry as I feel that the building is unfit for human occupancy. 
 
I would suggest that you have a California licensed structural engineer check this building against 
the original plans.  Calif engineers really have to know their business to be licensed.35 
 

Showalter expressed hope he would receive some reply. 
 
                                                      
34 Gail Showalter, Oct. 10, 1942 [meant to read 1944], to A.M. Sandridge, National Archives, Record Group No. 210, 

Records of the War Relocation Authority, Entry 16, Headquarters, subject-classified general files, Box 315, File 
43.503 No. 1. Xerox copy in park files. 

35 C.G. Showalter, Lone Pine, Calif., Oct. 17, 1944, to Ralph P. Merritt, ibid. 
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Officials in government bureaucracies, as is perhaps only natural, don't like criticism.  Often the response is to 
impugn the motives of the critic.  Rather than assume that Gail Showalter held sincere concerns about the 
structural stability of the auditorium in which clearly changes had been made from the original plans, 
Sandridge looked into Showalter's employment record at Manzanar, finding that he held a temporary 
appointment as a carpenter in the engineering section from April 10, 1943 to some time in June 1943, again 
from August 17, 1943 to September 4, 1943, and a permanent appointment as CPC-8 Foreman Carpenter 
from June 11, 1944, until he resigned on June 22, 1944.  Sandridge quoted the reason shown on the separation 
sheet for his resignation as "Dissatisfied with working conditions."  In a close-out interview with Personnel 
Officer D.H. Cox, however, Showalter cited as reasons for leaving:  
(1) Transportation; (2) cost of living; (3) relationship with fellow employees; (4) lack [of] interest of work; (5) 
level or work unsuitable to ability; (6) salary received; and (7), the major reason, his immediate supervision--
in other words, he did not get along with his supervisor, who was probably Sisler, or possibly Lawing.  
Showalter had not said specifically that he had left due to concern over changes in the building, though in fact 
that could have been included in his differences with his supervisor.  Sandridge looked also at the experience 
Showalter claimed, going back to 1923, finding that Showalter had worked as a carpenter for the Los Angeles 
Department of Water and Power, the California Division of Highways, the United States Engineer District 
[Corps of Engineers], and several private parties.  Sandridge indicated that Showalter had shown no 
"engineering" experience, and little experience as a foreman, and claimed that his letter to Merritt made claims 
of experience his application for work at Manzanar had not shown.36 
 
The truth of the matter is that Showalter had raised some valid questions: changes had been made from the 
plans in construction of the Manzanar auditorium, apparently without reference to the opinion of any 
structural engineer, and as it would develop, final plans had never been sent to Washington for review, much 
less any plans that showed ad hoc changes in erecting the structure.  Furthermore, while Showalter was not a 
qualified structural engineer, he had roughly 20 years of experience as a carpenter during which he probably 
learned something about the structure of balloon frame buildings and why certain bracing was needed in the 
frame.  Furthermore, Sandridge's answer to the unidentified structural engineer telling Showalter that the 
building might not stand up to wind pressure or earthquake, was that it was not designed to be earthquake-
proof.  Perhaps Sandridge was unaware of the fact that one of the strongest earthquakes in the recorded history 
of California had struck nearby in the Owens Valley on March 26, 1872, with a series of strong foreshocks 
and aftershocks, killing 24 people at Lone Pine and some elsewhere.37  Sandridge did not answer the issue of 
the effect of wind, although strong winds often blow down into the Owens Valley from the Sierra Nevada 
immediately to the west. 
 
Ralph Merritt, however, was not willing to sweep the matter under a rug, figuratively speaking, and on 
November 2, 1944, sent Showalter's letters and Sandridge's response to Dillon Myer, Director of the War 
Relocation Authority in Washington.  Merritt concluded, "Mr. Showalter is a local man whom I have known 
for some time as a carpenter and mill man.  I do not know any reason why he is competent to judge 
engineering or structural design and there is no evidence that the person whom he quotes is a competent 
authority.  However, it seems best to send these documents to you for consideration and advice."38 
 
E. J. Utz, head of the camp Operations Division told Merritt in a letter of November 14 that the statements 
from Showalter and the engineer he quoted were "badly garbled to the point where his meaning is not at all 
clear . . . "  Utz said he and Senior Engineer Sandridge had concluded that Showalter was a disgruntled former 
employee of Manzanar using this complaint to embarrass Merritt's staff.  While Showalter had worked at 

                                                      
36 A.M. Sandridge, Senior Engineer, Memorandum, October 30, 1944, to Merritt, ibid. 
37 W.A. Chalfant, The Story of Inyo, Chapter XXIV, "El Temblor," pp. 259-264. 
38 Ralph P. Merritt, letter, November 2, 1944 to D.S. Myer, with enclosures, ibid. 
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Manzanar, Utz could find no record that he had been employed there in 1944 at the time the auditorium was 
built, and there was nothing on file to show that he was qualified to assess the structural integrity of the 
building. 
 
Utz went on to say: 
 

A careful study of the plans for the subject building leads us to believe that the matter of diagonal 
sheathing on the roof of the main building is of little consequence, provided the original plans 
showing 2" x 8" flat horizontal diagonal bracing was [sic] followed.  The benefits derived from 
diagonal sheathing would probably provide diagonal bracing in excess of requirements, and any 
kind of solid sheathing provides additional stiffening.  Since the plans were approved by a qualified 
engineer, we see no reason for concern, provided there were no serious structural deviations from 
the original plans. 
 
The roof sheathing on the additions to the main building are very effective as stiffeners and braces 
to the main building; their effectiveness, however, depends to a great extent upon the manner in 
which roof members are attached to the main building.  It is recommended that your engineer 
review the methods used in attaching the rafters of the additions to the main building to ascertain 
that details supplied on the plans prepared by the Farm Security Administration were complied 
with. 

 
But it appeared that Mr. Showalter did have some valid concerns.  Utz continued: 
 

It appears from Mr. Showalter's letter that the horizontal diagonal bracing and the vertical diagonal 
bracing shown in detail on Plan #26 5A was omitted.  We would like, therefore, to have details and 
a complete description of the methods used in attaching the ceiling to the bottom cord [sic-chord] of 
the roof trusses, in order that we can ascertain the extent this ceiling would replace the braces.  This 
should be given early consideration. 
 
Generally speaking, plans and specifications approved for a building should be followed.  
Exceptions to this rule should always be handled as provided for in the Engineering Manual 
Sections 40.3.5. 
 

Thus even though Utz thought Showalter a disgruntled former employee, he did take the latter's criticism 
seriously enough to ask Merritt to have it investigated.39 
                                                      
39 E.J. Utz., Chief, Operations Division, Manzanar, November 14, 1944, to Project Director Merritt, NA Auditorium 

File. 

 The question of the structural stability of the building is not merely an academic matter.  As mentioned in the narrative, 
at 2:30 a.m. on March 26, 1872, a Great Earthquake struck the Owens Valley, preceded by a smaller quake or 
foreshock near Lone Pine on March 17, a major aftershock followed the Great Quake at 6:30 the same morning, 200 
aftershocks continued the rest of March 26 and 27th, and diminishing aftershocks occurred for some further time.  The 
quake killed at least 26 and injured many more.  Subsequent investigation revealed that Paiute Indian oral tradition 
recalled a similar quake around 1790.  W.A. Chalfant, The Story of Inyo, pp. 259-264. 

 Although the Richter Scale for measuring the intensity of earthquakes did not exist in 1872, the U.S.Geological Survey 
has for various reasons and using various techniques gone back and estimated the magnitude of various past 
earthquakes, certainly all of the great quakes, including the one near Manzanar.  The U.S. Geological Survey estimated 
the magnitude of the main quake near Lone Pine as 7.76 on the Richter Scale, and the major after shock that same day 
as 6.5.  However, the times indicated by the U.S. Geological Survey do not square with Chalfant's chapter; he reported 
the main quake at 2:30 a.m. while the U.S.G.S. reported it at 10:30 a.m.; Chalfant reported the major aftershock at 6:30 
a.m. while the U.S.G.S. reported it at 2:06 p.m.  It may have been a case of people at the time not being able to judge 
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Merritt sent Utz's letter to Senior Engineer Sandridge, who was ill at the time, and did not respond until 
December 7, 1944.  With respect to the method of attaching the rafters of the north and south additions to the 
main building, Sandridge reported: 
 

I have rechecked this personally and find that the detail supplied on the plans prepared by Farm 
Security Administration were complied with.  They are nailed to the plate on which they rest, and in 
addition to this we have nailed each rafter to the studding where it joins the main building.  This is 
shown on the attached plan which we have drawn to show bracing and method of attaching ceiling 
to the bottom of the cord [chord] of the roof trusses. 

 
Sandridge went on to explain why the diagonal bracing had been omitted on the lower chord of the five roof 
trusses: 

 
On the original plan horizontal diagonal braces of 2 x 8's laid flat and nailed to the top of cord [sic-
chord] is shown.  This bracing was on 18 foot centers.  I believe that the reason that this type of 
bracing was shown on original plan was due to the fact that the ceiling was attached near the top of 
the trusses and directly under the roof.  Consequently, bracing of this type was needed to not only 
brace the bottom cord [chord] but to help reduce vibration.  In our material received for this 
building, there were not any 2 x 8's which were long enough to make a brace of this type without 
splicing in between the trusses.  The type of furnace originally intended for this building could not 
be furnished.  Four smaller heaters with less B.T.U. ratings were furnished to heat the main part of 
the auditorium.  Consequently, it was necessary that we conserve on space to be heated as much as 
possible due to these reasons and other factors, we believed it more desirable to attach the ceiling to 
the bottom of the cord [chord] which not only reduced the space to heat but also made the building 
easier to clean by not having the trusses exposed so that they would catch dust.  This was done by 
using 2 x 6 nailed to the bottom cord on 2 foot centers as described on attached plan.  This not only 
served as bracing which has proved to be very effective but also made it an easy method of 
attaching celotex ceiling flush with the bottom cord. 
 

It also turned out that while all other changes from the original drawings had been submitted to Washington 
for approval, inadvertently this one had not.  Sandridge did not say whether or not he was sending it now, after 
the fact of construction.  Apparently he did not.40 
 
In the end, it is not clear that any qualified structural engineer ever specifically addressed the questions raised 
by Showalter, since Utz was an administrator, and it seemed unlikely that his Camp Operations Division had a 
structural engineer on staff.  Furthermore, with but the partial exception of Utz, it seemed clear that no one in 
the War Relocation Authority really understood the structureal weaknesses in the building Showalter had 
identified.  In retrospect, Showalter had quite correctly identified structural flaws in the completed building 
resulting from ad hoc changes from the original plans during its construction.  Irrespective of the reasons for 
those changes, the people who made them had not understood how greatly they weakened the structural 
integrity of the building. 

                                                                                                                                                                           
among foreshocks and aftershocks which were the main ones among the many, and it may be that some lesser shocks 
did the damage and were more evident than major shocks beneath the surface.  For the U.S. Geological Survey data, I 
am indebted to Melanie Moreno in Menlo Park; however the data is available on the Internet at 
HTTP://WWWNEIC.CR.USGS.Gov.  "NEIC" stands for National Earthquake Information Center.  

40 Senior Engineer A.M. Sandridge, Memorandum, December 7, 1944, to Project Director Ralph P. Merritt, NA 
Auditorium File. 
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A NEW “CUSTODIAN” 
 
On November 20, 1944, Ralph Merritt appointed Community Activities Supervisor Aksel G. Neilsen 
custodian of the auditorium.  Merritt mentioned that he did not believe that the Auditorium Committee of 
which Neilsen was a member could serve as custodian of the building, and he felt that Neilsen was the "logical 
person" to be "responsible for the building, to see that it is not mutilated, and to be responsible for the 
equipment in the building."41 
 
A month later, on December 11, Merritt had Nielsen sign a sheet spelling out an even dozen duties of the 
"Manager," not custodian, of the Community Auditorium: 
 

  l. Be present and have the door open at least 1/2 hour before the beginning of any program in the 
auditorium.  (Earlier on special occasions). 

 2. Be present for all programs in the auditorium (except regular school classes during the day). 
 3. Turn on the lights in the auditorium. 
 4. See that the place is locked up and lights out after each performance. 
 5. Check on the heating system to see that the heaters are working for and during each 

performance and that the room has the proper temperature. 
 6. Operate the stage lights when needed for special performances. 
 7. Operate the fans when needed. 
 8. Open or close windows as needed. 
 9. Check on  the air  throughout the auditorium during the entire performance.  Open or shut the 

windows or turn on the fans, according to what is needed to get the proper temperature and 
ventilation. 

10. Be custodian of all stage equipment. 
11. Supervise the building whenever in use.  This includes the following: 
   (a)  warn anybody who misuses equipment 
   (b)  take down names of violators if necessary 
   (c)  report destruction or damage of equipment or facilities to the  Supervisor of Community 

Activities. 
   (d)  report trouble to the police immediately. 
12.  Other duties which may become apparent as need arises.42 
 

The list of duties hinted at one environmental aspect of Manzanar that the auditorium faced.  The area being 
arid due to the withdrawal of most of the local water by the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power, 
some might assume that it was a scorching desert.  Desert it was, and it could be hot during the summer 
months, though probably no hotter than California's Central Valley.  Manzanar was at an elevation of about 
4,000 feet, which tended to moderate the summers, but winter at Manzanar could be an icy horror; the camp 
did not get much snow, although it did receive some, but it suffered howling winds blowing eastward down 
from the snowy peaks of the Sierra Nevada immediately to the west, one of them, Mount Whitney, the highest 
point in the contiguous United States.  Thus the auditorium manager at Manzanar had a real task in trying to 
keep the auditorium, equipped with an inadequate heating plant, warm enough for use in winter. 
 

                                                      
41 Ralph P. Merritt, Project Director, Memorandum November 20, 1944, to Aksel G. Nielsen, Community Activities 

Supervisor, NA Auditorium File. 
42 "Duties of the manager of the Community Auditorium," December 11. 1944, NA Auditorium File. 
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On November 22, 1944, Auditorium Committee Chairman Rollin Fox sent a memorandum to Senior Camp 
Engineer Sandridge complaining about a strong draft coming down the ventilators in the Auditorium shower 
rooms when the wind blew--which seemed to be most of the time at Manzanar.  High school teachers had 
asked Fox to have the vents closed off, but Fox didn't believe that was a real solution to the problem, and 
asked Sandridge to have one of the men in his Public Works Section see if there was any other solution.  
Sandridge had one of his men look into it, who then scribbled a note on the bottom of the memo:  "Sandy: I 
called Fox on this and think I have him convinced that the present system is O.K."43 
 
A week later, Fox called another problem to Sandridge's attention: 
 

I have been keeping track of the condition of the auditorium floor.  From what I can determine, the 
sand and grit tracked in on shoes are being scuffed into the floor and cutting it up.  In the auditorium 
proper, you'll notice that the use of street shoes for public meetings, dances, and the like is having its 
effect, too. 
 
I do not know what [that] we can do much about this, nevertheless, it is a condition that justifies our 
knowing about it . . . . 

 
Sandridge gave the memo to an employee of his Public Works Section, who scribbled another note, this time: 
 "Sandy: This is what you get when you use D.[ouglas] F.[ir] flooring."  Again, an environmental factor ruled: 
the soil of the alluvial fan on which Manzanar had been built featured a gritty natural mix of sand and gravel 
washed down over the eons from the rocky Sierra Nevada immediately to the west.44 
 
Sandridge did look into the matter further, however, and on December 12 sent a memorandum to Merritt: 
 

The auditorium has a good sub-floor under the finish floor which can support approximately 100 
pounds per square foot so it can safely care for all auditorium loads required of a building of this 
type.  The top floor is regular 4 inch fir flooring of a fair grade.  This flooring has butt joints with 
ends nailed, which is suitable for ordinary use but not for a basketball court.  Regulation gym floors 
which are used for basketball are usually of a hard wood such as maple or oak and have tongue and 
grooved ends as well as sides.  This fir flooring was laid as good as possible with men available, 
sanded and treated with a floor hardener.  But I do not believe it will last very long if used for a 
basketball court as jumping and other sudden jars will loosen the ends and break the lower edge of 
gro[o]ves on this type of floor which would increase the maintenance costs and greatly lower the 
expected life of the present floor. 
 
In fact, with ordinary gym classes, picture shows and other meetings which keep this building in use 
almost every day and part of every night the floor is now showing considerable wear. . . .45 

 
It seems likely that Douglas fir had been used for the finished floor either to keep down costs in what was, 
after all, a temporary building, or because harder woods such as maple or oak were in short supply due to 
other wartime needs. 

                                                      
43 Rollin C. Fox, high school principal, memorandum November 22, 1944, to Mr. Sandridge, NA Auditorium File. 
44 Rollin C. Fox, Principal, Manzanar High School, November 30, 1944, to Mr. Sandridge, Public Works, NA 

Auditorium File. 
45 A.M. Sandridge, Senior Engineer, Memorandum, December 12, 1944, to Ralph P. Merritt, project director, NA 

Auditorium File. 



Management Problems 

27 

On December 2, Rollin Fox reported that the janitors had been asking him to get paper towels for the 
auditorium.  They had been getting them all along from the Public Works Section, but the staff in Warehouse 
36 now refused to give him any more.  That same day, in a separate memo, Fox asked Sandridge about 
progress in constructing some sectional platforms for use on the auditorium stage, which he had initially asked 
for near the end of October.  Sandridge responded to both memos on December 15.  With regard to paper 
towels, he said he understood that the schools had a separate supply of paper towels for their use, and Fox 
could get some by request to School Supply Officer Haberle.  As for the sectional platforms, they had to be 
submitted in the Public Works budget for the upcoming quarter.  If the Washington Office approved that 
quarterly budget, Public Affairs could go ahead with construction of the platforms.46 
 
 
MANAGEMENT PROBLEMS 
 
Meanwhile, management of the auditorium had been unraveling.  On December 19, 1944, Aksel Neilsen, who 
supposedly had that responsibility, sent a three page memorandum to Ralph Merritt, raising a number of 
concerns.  First of all, he proposed that Fred Miyake be made manager.  Then he pointed out that confusion 
reigned as to who was responsible for what with regard to the auditorium, whether Public Works, the High 
School, the Custodian, or the Auditorium Committee.  "For instance," Neilsen complained, "we do not know 
who is responsible for the keys."  In the past, Public Works Division had issued keys to several people in the 
high school, the Co-op, the janitors, Mrs. Adams, and one to Community Activities.  Nielsen had a key, which 
he needed to retain so that he and the public address crew could get into the building when they needed to, but 
didn't have another to give to the proposed new manager. 
 
Then there arose the question of who was responsible for supplies for the auditorium, as well as proposed 
changes in the building and repairs to it.  Nielsen's Community Activities Section had no funds for such uses.  
Perhaps each section that used the building, such as the high school, should be responsible for their share of 
supplies.  Nielsen had just recently sent requisitions to the Public Works Division for: more lights over the 
stage right inside the front curtain (where it was too dark for the orchestra and choruses to see to read music on 
the stage); for construction of a large storage closet under the stage for locking up supplies and small 
equipment such as footlights, spotlights, and stage supplies; signs in Japanese over the doors to the men's and 
women's rest rooms; repairing the windows so they could not be pried open from the outside; and other small 
repairs to windows and lights. 
 
Although Merritt had appointed Nielsen manager of the auditorium on November 20 and spelled out his duties 
on December 11, as of December 19 Neilsen apparently did not believe that either the Auditorium Committee 
of which he was a member, or A.E. Sandridge, who headed the Public Works Division, took his role seriously. 
 Thus he asked Merritt to officially notify the committee and Sandridge of his appointment and spell out to 
them who had responsibility for: 
 
 1.  Distribution of keys 
 2.  Decision as to when additional keys are needed and should be made for distribution. 
 3.  The keeping of reserve keys 
 4.  Setting up benches for performances and taking them away again and clean up the floor after 

each use.  At present, the two janitors refuse to do so and Community Activities have no 
janitors as they were transferred to the Public Works long ago.  Volunteers, as, for instance, 
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the coaches and players in the one-act plays recently put on in the auditorium, refuse to do 
janitorial work such as setting up benches and cleaning up afterwards. 

 5.  What section pays for repairs, alterations or improvements in the auditorium. 
 6.  What is the exact authority and duty of the auditorium committee and whom does it 

represent.  By that I mean, does each member represent the whole of the community or the 
section in which he works. 

 7.  Who decides when improvements in the auditorium are needed and should be made. 
 8.  Who is responsible for making out requisitions for alterations, repairs, and the like.47 
 
Clearly, management of the new auditorium was not going smoothly. 
 
Acting Project Director Edwin H. Hooper responded clearly and concisely to Neilsen's request for clarification 
of authority and responsibility on December 30, 1944, citing Neilsen's November 20 appointment by Project 
Director Merritt, and adding the following instructions: 
 

No. 1-  Mr. Neilsen as Custodian has full responsibility for the building with the exception that the 
Auditorium Committee shall pass on who shall have use of the building at any particular time and 
advise Mr. Neilsen. 
 
No. 2-  Mr. Nielsen will be responsible for all keys.  Public Works will furnish Mr. Nielsen with a 
list of all keys heretofore issued and with all surplus keys, taking Mr. Nielsen's receipt for same.  It 
shall be agreed with Nielsen as to the keys Public Works will need. 
 
No. 3-  All additional keys needed will be requisitioned by Mr. Nielsen through the Supply Officer. 
 It will be necessary because of the shortage of funds for Operation that each request for new keys 
be completely justified. 
 
No. 4-  All requests for maintenance and repairs shall be channeled through Mr. Nielsen to Public 
Works, which section is in charge of all maintenance and repairs.  This does not include any 
changes of any kind whatsoever within the building itself as under present regulations it will be 
necessary for Public Works to have a complete understanding of what is desired and submit the 
request to Washington for approval. 
 
No. 5-  Public Works through its maintenance section will furnish janitorial service and janitorial 
supplies such as soap, toilet paper, brooms, towels, etc. 
 
No. 6-  It will be the responsibility of each section or activity using the auditorium to provide it's 
[sic] own stage props. 
 
No. 7-  No activity or section is to make any change in the lighting effects, etc. without the approval 
of the custodian.  The custodian will upon request either approve or refer to Public Works for 
checking.  In this connection it will be the custodian's duty to see that the Fire Department approves 
of any changes so as to eliminate fire hazards. 
 
No. 8-  Mr. Neilsen will be allowed two laborers on the Community Activities staff to set up and 
take down benches.48 
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A copy was sent to the Personnel Division for action on the last paragraph. 
 
Unfortunately, this clear delineation of authority did not solve all the problems.  A New Year's Eve function in 
the auditorium resulted in damage which, Merritt wrote, "with proper supervision probably would not have 
happened." 
 
Someone had broken one of the water pipes in the men's lavatory, not to mention one of the tops to the toilet 
tanks.  Someone had, deliberately or otherwise, stopped up one of the toilets, which had consequently flooded 
the floor.  Someone had thrown two unused rolls of toilet paper in the waste container.  A broken whiskey 
bottle lay on the floor.  Water in the hall, apparently from the stopped up toilet, had run under the partition into 
the office of the Supervisor of Men's Athletics.  Someone had broken one of the window openers; another had 
been bent.  In one or two places it appeared and smelled as if someone had vomited on the floor.  Much of the 
punch at the refreshment stand in the main room apparently had ended up on the floor. 
 
In calling all of this damage to the attention of Aksel Nielsen on January 9, 1945, with a copy of the memo to 
Mr. Fox, Ralph Merritt concluded: 
 

The above sounds as though rather considerably was wrong [sic].  I wish here to state that the 
damage was probably no more than would have happened in any auditorium in any city where there 
were that many persons present; however, I desire to point out that funds for the maintenance of the 
auditorium and for the balance of the Manzanar Projects are going to be very hard to secure and that 
we must extend every effort to see that no damage is done to the auditorium so that it will be in 
good order for the use of the people of the Center for as long as the Project operates.49 
 

But this memorandum did not settle the issue in Merritt's own mind, and he continued to mull it over. 
 
Six days later, Merritt wrote a telling memorandum to his assistant project director, Lyle G. Wentner, with 
copies to no one else: 
 

I wonder if you would be kind enough to review the original appointment of Mr. Fox as Chairman 
of the Auditorium Committee, the later appointment of Aksel Nielsen as Custodian, and the two 
unsigned letters prepared by Mr. Hooper for my signature pointing out what Mr. Hooper considers 
to be failures in the handling of the Auditorium.  My feeling is that the problem goes much deeper 
than the gang of boys misusing the physical equipment of the building.  The question is, in what 
way should the Auditorium be used and who should promote its best use in the remaining months of 
Manzanar.  After you have gone over the problem, I would like to talk it over with you with the 
thought that the auditorium might best be put in your handling and that we should see that such 
social functions as may be approved will have sufficiently strong backing to prevent the type of 
thing that occurred on New Year's Eve when the Community Activities section sponsored a dance, 
or on Christmas Eve when a small group of evacuees had a dance which they were not able to 
control.50 
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Clearly Project Director Ralph Merritt was unhappy with management of the auditorium up to this time. 
While he had been able to anticipate for some time that World War II seemed to be progressing toward victory 
over Germany and, later Japan, and the probable closing of the Manzanar War Relocation Center some time in 
1945, nevertheless until that happened he had to run the camp efficiently, and the operation of the auditorium 
seemed anything but efficient. 
 
 
THE INTRODUCTION OF VOLLEYBALL 
 
While Wentner considered the issues involving management of the auditorium, seven individuals representing 
various clubs and organizations interested in youth problems at Manzanar signed a joint memorandum to 
Ralph Merritt asking that the playing of volleyball be allowed in the auditorium, and that the floor be painted 
with lines laying out two volleyball courts.  These people also anticipated that their remaining time at 
Manzanar was "definitely limited," and wanted to maximize use of the auditorium for that shortening interval 
of time.  These groups wanted to use the building for sports that could not be played outdoors during winter, 
and specifically one sport: volleyball.  "They feel that the sports program is one of the best Americanizing 
influences as well as the best means of keeping young people occupied and out of trouble." 
 

Although it may be advisable to prohibit the playing of certain sports in the auditorium, we should 
like to have volleyball removed from the list of sports excluded.  We feel that volleyball should not 
have been included in the prohibited list in the first place as it involves no hard running or constant 
jumping.  In order to prove our point, we should like to state the following concerning rules and 
regulations for volleyball: 
 
A volleyball team plays on a 30 x 30 foot square with six players on each side.  Each player is 
supposed to stay within his allotted 10 x 10 foot square.  Thus the distance he travels is so short that 
he is never able to get up much speed.  Five of the players pass the ball and good passers keep their 
feet on the floor without any jumping.  Only one player, the "spiker", jumps when attempting to kill 
the ball.  However, the jump is straight up with a previous run of only one or two steps which makes 
his jump no harder than when some of the movie fans step up on the benches and jumps down on 
the floor again.  In fact, it would probably be lighter inasmuch as the player would wear gym shoes 
or play barefooted.  Furthermore, it will take a long time to develop "spikers" who can really jump 
and "kill" the ball. 

 
Anyway, this collection of groups wanted two volleyball courts painted on the auditorium floor, as well as the 
necessary stanchions to carry two nets.  If school funds could not be used, Community Activities section 
would be willing to pay the costs.  Those signing the memorandum included [illegible] Sakaguchi, chairmen 
of the Men's Club,  Frank Yasuda, chairman of CACA, whatever that was, Barbara Dougherty, Advisor of the 
Youth Council, James Smith, a coach at the high school, Clyde L. Simpson, former principal of the 
elementary school, Rollin C. Fox, principal of the Manzanar High School, and Aksel Nielsen, supervisor of 
Community Activities.51 
 
Meanwhile, as a part of the ongoing management of the auditorium, Senior Engineer A.M. Sandridge sent 
auditorium custodian Axel Nielsen on January 26, 1945, a list of 43 auditorium keys, either to doors or to 
various lockers, with the names of individuals to whom they had been issued.  That same day, Assistant 
Director Lyle Wentner sent a memorandum to Ralph Merritt laying out proposed revisions to regulations for 
the use of the auditorium for motion pictures: 
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Beginning the weekend of Saturday, February 3 and 4, and every weekend thereafter, motion 
picture shows will begin promptly at 7 p.m. instead of 6:30 p.m. 
 
Doors will be open at 6:30 p.m.  This will allow one-half hour to admit and seat those attending the 
show. 
 
Admission will be by tickets only without exception--all tickets to be dated for each show. 
 
There will be two ticket takers and two doors open to prevent congestion between 6:30 and 7 
o'clock.  All tickets will be torn in half at the time of admission.  One-half of the ticket will be 
retained by the customer and one-half by the person designated to receive the tickets.  Not more 
than 1280 tickets shall be issued by the Co-op for any one occasion. 
 
Everyone occupying a seat, whether adult or child, must have a ticket for admission. 
 
The doors of the Auditorium will be closed at 7 p.m. and no one will be admitted after that time. 
 
Mr. Nielson is responsible for instructing all ticket handlers in their duties. 
 
The custodian of the building is not to open the Auditorium until all arrangements for admission 
have been made.52 

 
Whether Wentner had yet gotten together with Merritt to fully discuss the auditorium management problems 
is unknown, but clearly he had gotten a grip on some of those problems. 
 
Three days later, however, on January 29, 1945, Wentner submitted to Merritt five recommendations 
regarding auditorium management for the director to consider: 

l. The Community Activities section had been charged with full responsibility for granting use 
permits based upon the attached revisions of the regulations.  Mr. Fox, Mr. Nielsen, and Mr. 
Yasuda have given their approval to these revisions. 

2. The Assistant Project Director in charge of Community Management [i.e., Wentner himself] 
shall give final approval on all permits. 

3. The Auditorium committee be discontinued on the basis that its functions are no longer needed. 
4. The new conditions of use permit provide for more effective controls and at the same time 

encourages more extensive use by all groups in the community of Auditorium facilities. 
5. It is specifically recommended that regulations be relaxed to permit volleyball, badminton, and 

paddle tennis in the Auditorium.53 
 
The central file contained no memorandum indicating what action Merritt took on Wentner's 
recommendations, but he probably approved them all.  It is clear that the Public Works Division did paint 
lines outlining two volleyball courts on the auditorium floor. 
 Human nature being what it is, no amount of regulation could anticipate and mitigate all problems with 
auditorium management.  On the afternoon of February 8, Community Activities Supervisor Axel Nielsen and 
High School Principal Rollin Fox visited the auditorium to make some check on the facilities.  They found 
that the motion picture projection crew from the Co-op was holding a private screening of films for an 
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audience of 18; while not clear, it sounded as if they were projecting the films on a screen within the 
projection booth.  "This, as you know, is against the rules and violates our agreement in several ways," 
Nielsen wrote Co-op General Manager K. Arai later that afternoon.  Nielsen went on to say: 

 
First, a sign on the door states that only the projectionists should enter the booth and that no more 
than four should be present at any one time.  Second, the auditorium is used for classes during the 
day and the school has been constantly complaining that your boys are running back and forth in the 
auditorium during the class periods.  This time it was not only boys but also girls who disturbed the 
class by going to the movies in the middle of the afternoon.  Third, as you know the agreement is 
that the Co-op is to have the use of the auditorium, including the projection room, Saturday evening 
and Sunday afternoon and evening.  If any Co-op employees need to enter the building outside the 
time when the building is turned over to them they should secure permission in advance from those 
concerned.  This would mean that in order to enter the auditorium during a school day permission 
must be secured from Mr. Fox.  If your boys wish to enter at any other time please have them secure 
permission from me. 
 
If you find difficulty in controlling the movie crew, I would suggest that the keys be turned back to 
us and that they be loaned to you every weekend or that we have the auditorium custodian open the 
building for you.  We are not only concerned with disturbances in the auditorium but also about 
destruction and thefts.  Since last evening, a turnbuckle was stolen from the badminton courts and 
the only way we can check on who enters and leaves the building is by keeping a close check on the 
use of the keys. 
Will you please talk to your movie crew and make sure that they understand the regulations and our 
agreement.  Also please inform them that the light was on in the projection room late Monday 
evening after the auditorium was closed up and dark. 

 
As a postscript, Neilsen added that if a room was needed for previewing movies to be shown in the 
auditorium, the high school could supply a room for the purpose.54 
 
 
PROGRAMS PLANNED FOR 1945 
 
Meanwhile, some time around the first of the year, Aksel Neilsen had a list of programs planned for the 
auditorium in 1945 drawn up.  Keeping in mind that the high school used the building on weekdays and other 
sections had certain times assigned on evenings or weekends for use of the building, this undated list provided 
some idea of the kinds of programs held in the building. 
 
             DATE                      ACTIVITY        IN CHARGE               
 January 
 Sat. & Sun. 20, 21 Japanese Talent Show Mr. S. Takeyasu 
 Fri. 26 Recorded Concert Mr. Joe Sakai 
 
 February 
 Thu. & Fri. 1, 2 Educational Movies Dr. G. Schwesinger & 
   Mr. M. Shiosaki 
 Thu. & Fri. 8, 9 Japanese Dancing Mr. S. Takeyasu 
 Fri. 16 Concert, Music Hall Mr. H.F. Thorne & 
   Mr. S. Nakamura 
 March 
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 Thu. & Fri. 1, 2 Open 
 Thu. & Fri. 8, 9 Japanese Drama and Music Mr. S. Takeyasu 
 Fri. 16 American Talent Show and Quiz Mr. S. Ishii & 
   Miss Harumi Hino 
 Thu. 23 Pre-Easter High School Party Mr. R.C. Fox 
 Thu. & Fri. 29, 30 American Drama Mr. T. Higashi 
 
 April 
 Fri. 6 Senior Play Mr. R.C. Fox 
 Thur. & Fri. 12, 13 Japanese Talent Show Mr. S. Takeyasu 
 Fri. 20 Oratorical Contest Mr. T. Higashi 
 Fri. 27 Elementary School Pageant Mr. E.B. Dykes 
 
 May 
 Fri. 4 Spring Dance Mr. S. Ishii & 
   Miss Harumi Hino 
 Fri. 11 High School Music Night Mr. R. C. Fox55 
 
 
THE CLOSING OF MANZANAR WAR RELOCATION CENTER 
 
Throughout this year an accelerating number of Manzanar residents left on what originally had been called 
"indefinite leave" but soon changed to "terminal departure" as the Manzanar War Relocation Center and 
indeed the War Relocation Authority faced the waning phase of World War II.  On May 8, 1945, after 
spending his first night in the White House, President Harry Truman, who had so unexpectedly inherited 
leadership of the United States after the death of Franklin Delano Roosevelt, announced to the American 
people the surrender of Nazi Germany.  With that surrender, armed forces of America and its allies that had 
been devoted to crushing the Axis in Europe could turn their efforts to the Pacific Theater against the one 
remaining Axis power, Japan.  The end of the Pacific War was so apparently near that on July 13, War 
Relocation Authority Director Dillon S. Myer announced that the Manzanar camp would close by November 
30, 1945.  Now the War Relocation Authority could not push people out fast enough.  Meanwhile, the war 
marched ever closer to the Japanese home islands, and now, the result of all of the scientific prowess of the 
Allies, and particularly of the United States, could be brought to bear against the Empire of Japan. At 8:15 
a.m. and 17 seconds on August 6, 1945, a B-29 Flying Fortress named "Enola Gay" dropped the world's first 
nuclear bomb used in combat on Hiroshima, and when that did not result in surrender of the Japanese Empire, 
three days later on August 9, another superfortress, this one named "Bock's Car," dropped a second atomic 
bomb, this one on the city of Nagasaki.  Six days later, after a radio announcement that it would do so on 
August 14, on August 15, 1945, Emperor Hirohito spoke over the radio to his subjects accepting the 
conditions of the Potsdam Declaration of the Allied Powers, thus bringing World War II to a close with the de 
facto surrender of the Empire of Japan, that country's first military defeat in 2,500 years.56 
 
On August 18, the Manzanar Free Press published Instruction No. 129 from Washington authorizing camp 
directors to forceably evict residents who, after due warning, had failed or refused to arrange to move out of 
the camp.  Project Director Merritt issued his own directive reinforcing Myer's order on August 29.  The 
schools at Manzanar did not open in September, and use of the auditorium phased out.  On September 2, 
1945, on the foredeck of the battleship U.S.S. Missouri in Tokyo Bay, representatives of the Emperor of Japan 
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signed the instrument of surrender in the presence of a delegation of Allied officers led by General Douglas 
MacArthur.  Departures from Manzanar accelerated in September and October, and at 11 a.m. on November 
21, 1945, the last of the evacuees left Manzanar.57 
 
As a part of the work of closing down the Manzanar War Relocation Center after the end of World War II, the 
remaining key staff members prepared a massive report on the history and physical history of the camp.  
Project Director Ralph Merritt convened a final staff meeting of the Manzanar staff on February 15, 1946, and 
on that same day submitted the report of nearly 1,600 pages to Washington.  Senior Engineer Arthur M. 
Sandridge and Oliver E. Sisler, the Camp Superintendent of Maintenance and Construction, authored the 
"Engineering Section" of the report, which in a copy with hand-numbered pages extended from page 989 
through page 1057.  They provided the best description of the auditorium-gymnasium building found in War 
Relocation Authority files, a description of the building at the conclusion of its use by the Manzanar 
community: 
 

The gymnasium-auditorium, which was used for various Center activities, was the only building 
constructed in the school group.  All construction of the other units for the schools was canceled by 
the WRA and the school buildings that were used were provided by remodeling existing barrack-
type buildings. 
 
The gymnasium-auditorium structure classified as gymnasium type A, had an overall width of 118 
ft. and a length of 119 ft.  The main auditorium floor was 80 x 96 feet square [sic].  The stage at the 
east end of the main floor was 22 feet deep with an overall width of 30 feet. 
 
On each side and adjacent to the stage, a dressing-room provided space for equipment and stage 
trappings. 
 
A wooden truss, supported on each end by wooden columns, supported the proscenium arch which 
had a clearance of 12 feet from the finished floor. 
 
Extending the full length of the main section, and, on each side, a one-story shed-type section was 
constructed.  This portion housed the toilets, dressing-rooms, lockers, and offices.  The one-story 
shed-type section on the south side extended 40 ft. 9 in. beyond the east end and was used as a 
health unit. 
 
The auditorium-gymnasium was built on piers placed approximately 8 feet on centers each way.  
Girders were of 6 in. x 10 in. material with 2 in. x 6 in. floor joists, spaced 12 inches on centers.  All 
floors were double; the first or subfloor was of 1 in. x 6 in. Douglas fir shiplap laid diagonally, 
while the finished floor was l in. x 4 in. tongue-and-grooved Douglas fir, sanded and varnished. 
 
The walls of the main section were 20 feet high.  Posts, 12 in. x 12 in., supported five Pratt-type 
wooden trusses.  These trusses were constructed with split ring connecters and bolts.  The ceiling 
joists were of 2 in. x 6 in. material.  Roof purlins were 2 in. x 10 in. lap jointed at each end and solid 
at each lap. 
 
Diagonal sheeting was laid over the purlins, and then split-sheet roofing was applied, mopped on 
with hot asphalt. 
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A shed-type roof was build [sic - meant built] over the stage; 2 in. x 12 in. joists spaced on 24-inch 
centers with 2 rows of solid bridging were used on this section.  Sheeting of l in. x 6 in. shiplap was 
laid and split-sheet roofing was mopped on. 
 
A concrete porch, 9 ft. x 31 ft. 5 in., was built across the front for an entrance to the three sets of 
double doors.  Above this porch the moving picture projection booth, 8 ft. 6 in. x 30 ft. 11 in., was 
housed.  This was divided into two rooms; one for the machines and the other for the rewinding of 
the films.  The entire area of both rooms was lined with fireproof asbestos board. 
 
Two inside stairways leading from the main floor to this booth furnished access and a means of 
escape in case of fire. 
 
The one-story shed section, housing the toilets, dressing-rooms, locker rooms, and health room, was 
constructed with 2 in. x 4 in. studding, with 2 in. x 12 in. rafters spaced 24 inches on centers, and 
bridged with solid blocking, sheeted and roofed, the same as for the other portions of the building. 
 
The exterior wall finish was l in. x 6 in. V shiplap painted to protect it from the weather.  The 
interior wall finish was of the same material.  The auditorium ceiling was finished with 1/2-inch 
fibre board applied to the ceiling joists flush with the underside of the bottom cords [chords] of the 
trusses.  All ceilings in the remaining portion of the building were of the same material. 
 
Heating was provided by H.C. Little forced draft automatic oil heaters.  These heaters were placed 
in the most strategic points.  Two were under the stage and forced the heat directly into the main 
auditorium through screened grills.  Two others were placed at the front, in the room adjacent to the 
main floor, and supplied heat in main room.  Two others were connected to overhead ducts and 
forced the hot air through the grills into the toilets, shower rooms, and offices.  The dressing-rooms 
and health unit were provided with independent space heaters. 
 
The hot-water system consisted of a 250-gallon Hanson boiler located under the stage and 
connected with necessary piping running from this point to the health unit, showers, wash rooms, 
and toilets. 
 
Electric wiring was installed for the proper illumination and operation of all equipment including 
four Trane 125 P. projector fans installed in the ceiling of the auditorium.  Special footlights and 
over head lighting were provided for the stage. 
 

Plumbing and sewage were installed according to plans with the necessary connections made to the sewer and 
water mains.58 
 
Sandridge and Sisler thus described the building at the time the camp was preparing to close in 1945. 
 
On March 10, 1946, the War Relocation Authority turned the buildings and structures, "fixed assets" in 
bureaucratic terminology, over to the General Land Office of the Department of the Interior, while movable 
property and consumer goods became the responsibility of the War Assets Administration, for disposal.  
President Harry S. Trueman issued an executive order liquidating the War Relocation Authority effective June 

                                                      
58 Arthur M. Sandridge and Oliver E. Sisler, "Engineering Section," War Relocation Authority, Final Report, Manzanar 

War Relocation Center, Chapter 2, WRA Construction, Part I, New Construction, B, Gymnasium-Auditorium, pp. 20-
23 in the handwritten page numbers in the Engineering Section, which were, again in hand-written numbers, pages 
1008 through 1011 of the full report, on file in the National Archives. 
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30, 1946.  On July 16, 1946, the General Land Office was absorbed into a new Interior Department bureau, 
the Bureau of Land Management.59 
 
Shortly after the General Land Office received responsibility for Manzanar's buildings, the agency dispatched 
five field examiners from Washington to conduct an appraisal of the property.  Late in April and in early May, 
1946, the field examiners prepared and submitted an "Appraisal Report: Buildings, Improvements, and 
Designated Personal Property, Manzanar Relocation Center, Manzanar, California."60  In the section entitled 
"Appraisal Report of Buildings and Structures," Item No. 156 in the unpaginated document consisted of the 
appraisal of the auditorium: 
 
 Dimension lumber 59,268 bd. ft. 
 Ship lap    59,983    " 
 T & G flooring  15,432    " 
 Outside rustic  15,075    " 
 Shelving, etc.    1,686    " 
  Total lumber           141,444 bd. ft. 
 
 90% salvable        136.300 bd. ft.    $40 M. $5,542.00 
 Plumbing fixtures          435.00 
 Pipe valves and fittings         239.72 
 Hanson water heater and tank, cost $400 
  50% salvage value         200.00 
 Riveted iron stack, 28' x 26", $ .30 ft           6.40 
 62 doors mixed, with locks,     1.75 ea.         108.50 
 175 sash, hinged, 4 lts., .50  "           87.50 
 24 -  8" frosted globes, .50  "          12.00 
 25 - 10" frosted globes, .60  "          15.00 
 35 enamel reflectors, 14" screened         21.00 
  Gross Salvage ....................   $6,579.12 
 Cost of wrecking, 180 days @ $12    2,160.00 
  Net salvage ......................   $4,419.12 
 
The "Cost of wrecking" figure proved irrelevant with respect to this building since no one demolished it.61 
 
A War Assets Administration "Fixed Assets Inventory" which included the auditorium listed its internal 
spaces: 
 

AUDITORIUM, HIGH SCHOOL, exterior walls V joint siding painted, room interiors lined with V 
joint siding and gypsum wall board, auditorium lined partially with V joint siding and wall board, 5 
built-up wood roof trusses to support roof over auditorium, gambrel roof, covered with mineral 
surfaced roll roofing, 2 rooms 11'x 14', 2 rooms 9'x13', 2 rooms 8'x9', 2 rooms 8'x12', 2 rooms 
12'x13', stage 24'x40', 2 rooms 4'x9', 1 hall 4'x52'., 1 room 20'x27', 1 room 11'x20', 1 hall 4'x48', 2 

                                                      
59 Unrau, Vol. II, p. 805. 
60 Unrau, Vol. II, p. 805. 
61 "Explanatory Notes / Appraisal of Buildings and Structures," Item No. 156, in the Sierra Pacific Division of the 

National Archives at San Bruno, California, Record Group no. 49, General Land Office, San Francisco Regional 
Office, Division of Land Planning, Records related to the disposal of Manzanar and Tule Lake War Relocation 
Centers, 1945-1948, Box 919, Folder 82177, Manzanar Relocation Center, 2089902 - SRP - BFE. 
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halls 5'-6"x15', 1 room 5x15', 1 room 20'x36', 1 room 12'x15', 2 rooms 15'x16', auditorium 80'x96', 
1 room 14'x15', 1 room 19'x32', 1 room 12'x19', WRA construction. 

 
This document estimated the War Relocation Authority's cost for the building as $30,375.89, and 
recommended a depreciation of $5,315.78, for a total appraised value of $25,060.ll.62 
 
On April 25, 1946, Field Examiner Ernest R. Cushing of the General Land Office prepared an inventory and 
appraisal of the equipment and furnishings in the auditorium.  A small number of the items could be 
considered part of the building's fixtures, such as two H.C. Little DU 42 heaters, three H.C. Little DU 44 
heaters, four H.C. Little DU 46 heaters, five 25 1/2 by 19 1/2 inch wall mirrors, and two metal dispensers for 
paper towels.  Other items on the list fell into the category of furnishings.  Camp carpenters had made the 174 
six foot long 16 by 11 1/2 inch backless wooden benches along with another 137 that were eight feet long.  
The auditorium also contained 54 miscellaneous metal or wooden chairs, 49 of them folding chairs, a waste 
paper basket and two white enameled trash containers, a couple of fire extinguishers, a 12 foot high painter's 
ladder, four electric light reflectors, probably used on the stage, a garden rake, stage curtains including back 
and side drops, with pulleys and rope, window drapes and curtains, a special purpose desk, and a couple of 
silk American flags, with standards.  Cushing listed the acquisition costs of each of these items, as well as an 
appraisal price.  He totaled only the latter, the resulting sum being $1,838.50 appraisal value.63 
 
Cushing had a number of comments to add to the appraisal: 

 
The mechanical equipment such as heaters and fire extinguishers are carried in the inventory with 
no depreciation.  The heaters were purchased at considerably below retail prices and the unit costs 
as listed are below present OPA [Office of Price Administration] ceilings.  The fire extinguishers, so 
far as could be learned have never been used and with refilling of fluid are as in good condition as 
when originally purchased. 
 
The project made material in the auditorium was constructed for a definite purpose and many of the 
articles were poorly constructed.  Their resale demand is doubtful and accordingly a reduction of 
50% from the unit cost for depreciation is being made.  The special purpose desk is a ticket 
collecting disk and has no value for resale, consequently the unit cost was reduced from $8.00 to 
$1.00, the probable value of the lumber involved in its construction. 
 
The material purchased for the auditorium is carried in the appraisal with a depreciation but of 25% 
from the unit cost, to compensate for wear and tear.  Only one of the two silk American flags could 
be located in the auditorium, one having been obviously removed during the interval between the 
taking of the two inventories.  The window draperies and curtains are heavy and dyed black, having 
been made on order as blackout curtains for the windows.  Having been made according to special 
specifications and the need for such articles having passed, the unit cost was reduced from $400.00 
to $100.00, which it is believed would represent a fair price for the material involved. 

 

                                                      
62 National Archives, Laguna Niguel, California, Pacific Southwest Region, Record Group No. 270, Records of the War 

Assets Administration, Real property Disposal Case Files, Folder Title:  Manzanar Relocation Center - Manzanar, CA, 
Fixed Asset Inventory, Box No. 89.  

63 "Manzanar Relocation Center / Manzanar, California / Inventory and Appraisal of Equipment and Furnishings of 
Auditorium," signed by Ernest R. Cushing, Field Examiner, San Francisco, California, April 25, 1946, one sheet of 
data with title sheet, in the National Archives, Sierra Pacific Division, at San Bruno, California; Record Group No. 49, 
Records of the Bureau of Land Management (successor to the General Land Office), Series 95, Box 919, File No. 
82177; a copy of this document appears as Appendix B in this report. 
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Indeed, as Cushing indicated, there was not much need for blackout curtains in peacetime. 
 
 
PRESERVATION OF THE AUDITORIUM 
 
The land on which Manzanar stood had been leased from the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power 
with a proviso that 90 days after termination of the camp, the buildings and improvements erected by the U.S. 
Government would be removed.  That did not happen.  The lease also contained a proviso that the L.A.D.W.P. 
could indicate whether it wished to acquire buildings and improvements in lieu of site restoration.  Exercising 
that option, on November 28, 1945, and again on January 8, 1946, L.A.D.W.P. indicated a desire to purchase 
eight apartment and dormitory structures in the WRA personnel housing area, with their furnishings, the 
auditorium with its equipment and fixtures, 11 buildings in the camp hospital complex, water and sewer 
systems that served these particular buildings, and the camp's entire electrical distribution system.  Later it 
asked for the laundry in the personnel area also.  A court stipulation dated March 27, 1946, notified one and 
all that these buildings and utility systems were not to be removed. 
 
With respect to the auditorium, according to an internal memorandum the Los Angeles Department of Water 
and Power apparently intended to interest local organizations in purchasing the building and leasing the land 
on which it stood: 
 

Auditorium: This is a very large structure and it is doubtful if the Department would have sufficient 
use to justify its maintenance.  There would no doubt be numerous activities by the various civic 
organizations in the county which could be conducted in the auditorium under rental agreements.  
After thorough consideration it appears that the best solution regarding this facility would be to 
interest local organizations in the possibility of purchase by a large group and leasing the site from 
the Department for its maintenance.64 

 
Mysteriously, a sheet in the files of the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power dated March 7, 1946, 
listing "Structures and Equipment at Manzanar Relocation center needed by department of Water and Power" 
included the Auditorium, (Structure 51): "Entire structure together with incidental equipment and fixtures.  
Also portions of water distribution system and sewage disposal system adequate to serve this facility."65  
Despite this list, the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power decided it did not need the auditorium 
building. 
 
The War Assets Administration, which inherited the responsibility for disposal of the assets of the Manzanar 
camp, ultimately declined to sell piecemeal certain parts of the infrastructure to be left in place, and instead 
chose to advertise all the buildings and structures for sale with the condition that they either be dismantled or 
be moved off site.  The auditorium went into this category of disposal. 
 
The subsequent history of the dismantling of the camp is long and complex.  Some buildings and structures 
were sold intact to be moved off the site either into nearby towns or to rural ranches and farms.  Some were 
retained on site and leased out for some years.  Many others were demolished.

                                                      
64 Burton S. Grant, Assistant Chief Engineer of Water Works, November 23, 1945, to Samuel B. Morris and Laurance E. 

Goit, Los Angeles Department of Water and Power Historical Records, Administrative and Executive Files, Manzanar 
Relocation Center, Correspondence - Removal of Buildings, Nov. 1945--Apr. 1946, Unrau research files. 

65 Unsigned list dated March 7, 1946, Los Angeles Department of Water and Power, Water Executive Office Historical 
Records, Administrative and Executive Files, Manzanar Relocation Center, Correspondence - Removal of Buildings, 
Nov. 1945--Apr. 1946. 



A Building for War Veterans 

39 

 
A BUILDING FOR WAR VETERANS 
 
As demolition began, California Congressman Clair Engle and Senator William F. Knowland appealed to the 
War Assets Administration to sell the auditorium to the Turner Barnes Post, No. 8036, of the Veterans of 
Foreign Wars for use as a clubhouse.  The War Asset Administration then withdrew the auditorium from 
demolition and authorized its disposal to a local governmental agency that would handle the conveyance of 
the building to the Veterans of Foreign Wars.  That local agency would be the government of Inyo County, 
whose county seat was in Independence.  The county could purchase the building for its salvage value but 
then would either have to move it or lease the land on and around it from the Los Angeles Department of 
Water and Power.66 
 
In a long article about the "town" which housed Japanese-Americans during the war being "hauled away" 
which appeared in the Los Angeles Times on Monday, December 2, 1946, reporter Frank Finch noted, 
"Although most of Manzanar looks like it had been the target of an atomic bomb, a few buildings will remain, 
temporarily at least.  Inyo County purchased the center's 1280-capacity auditorium for $6500 and will turn it 
over to the veterans for use as a social center."67  Four days later, on December 6 the Inyo Register published 
an editorial giving Ralph Merritt credit for "'Re-Distributing' Manzanar,"  in which it noted among 11 specific 
benefits to the public of Inyo County:  "A 1280-capacity auditorium secured for veterans and turned over to 
southern Inyo Legion groups for recreational and social purposes." 
 
Formal acquisition of the auditorium by the county took place early in 1947.  Effective January 1, 1947, the 
Los Angeles Department of Water and Power leased to Inyo County for a period of five years (with 
subsequent renewals) a rectangle of land extending 1,445 feet by 320 feet with the longer axis running 
roughly east-west.68  The auditorium stood close to the western boundary of this tract, and the west boundary 
included a paved street, probably a section of B Street, and a fire hydrant, while the east boundary abutted the 
western edge of the right-of-way of north-south U.S. Highway No. 395.  The acreage between the east end of 
the building and the highway could be used as a parking lot.  On January 6, 1947, the War Assets 
Administration authorized the county to take possession of the auditorium pending sale for $6,200.  The actual 
transfer of ownership took place on February 11, 1947, the date on the deed from the War Assets 
Administration to the County of Inyo in exchange for ten dollars "and other valuable consideration in hand 
paid."69 

                                                      
66 Cecil L. DeWolfe, Deputy Regional Director for Real property Disposal, War Assets Administration, August 29, 

1946, telegram to Paul C. Williams, Director, Urban and Rural Division, Office of Real Property Disposal, War Assets 
administration, Washington, D.C., reporting request from Congressman Clair Engle to sell the auditorium to the 
veterans, recommending that the building be exempted from the demolition order.  Laguna Niguel, Record Group No. 
270, File No. 1;  John McMurray, Inyo County, September 27, 1946, to Senator William F. Knowland;  John J. 
O'Brien, Deputy Administrator, office of Real property Disposal, October 17, 1946, National Archives, Laguna 
Niguel, Record Group No. 270, File No. 2.  Copies of these documents are in the Unrau research files at Manzanar 
N.H.S. 

67 Los Angeles Times, Monday, December 2, 1946, pp. 1, 3. 
68 Letter, Laurance E. Boit, Chief Engineer of Water Works and Deputy General Manager, Los Angeles Department of 

Water and Power [actually signed by District Agent T.R. Silvius in Independence] to County of Inyo, April 10, 1947, 
copy supplied by the Eastern California Museum, Independence, California.  This was the cover letter enclosing Lease 
No. OVRL-2505. 

69 Unrau, Vol. II, p. 815;  Bill of Sale, accompanied by a letter from Clarence W. Hull, Director, Legal Division, War 
Assets Administration, Office of Real Property Disposal, Los Angeles, February 14, 1947, to Board of Supervisors, 
County of Inyo, from the collections of the Eastern California Museum, Independence, California. 
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Inyo County leased the auditorium to the Independence Chapter of the Veterans of Foreign Wars until 
November 5, 1951, apparently with a sequence of renewals.  According to a member of the Veterans of 
Foreign Wars, it was probably in late 1953 or early 1954 that the county allowed the V.F.W. to remove the 
single story south wing of the auditorium and move it in four sections into the southwestern portion of the 
town of Lone Pine.  There they reassembled it into two sections set at right angles to form the shape of an "L", 
facing east and south.  The V.F.W. and American Legion remodeled them into a meeting hall and club house 
for each organization, though perhaps most members of one organization were also members of the other.  
Veterans of Foreign Wars Post No. 8036 occupied the portion of the "L" facing to the east, while the 
American Legion occupied the portion of the "L" facing south; the two sections joined at the north end of the 
V.F.W. hall and the west end of the American Legion hall. The new location of the buildings lay at the dead 
end of Gene Autry Lane, just west of Washington Street.  The relocated, realigned, and remodeled south wing 
of the auditorium remained the property of Inyo County at its new location, on land owned by the Trustees of 
the Town of Lone Pine, California.70   
 
 
A COUNTY HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT GARAGE 
 
The county converted the rest of the auditorium, on its original site, into a county highway department garage 
and shop, cutting a large door in the center of the east wall and removing the stage to provide access to 
vehicles for repair and maintenance.  The county dismantled the fir floor, using the wood to build partitions 
and make other modifications to the building and to build shelves for automotive parts in the north wing.  In 
place of the wood floor, the county poured a new concrete floor to accommodate the county vehicles. The 
county continued to use the building for this purpose until 1995, when the National Park Service purchased 
the building. 
 
Thus a half century after its construction as a building intended for a brief and temporary span of use, the 
Manzanar Auditorium-Gymnasium survived as the last major structure of the Manzanar War Relocation 
Center, consigned to enter the lists of buildings destined for historic preservation.  
 
 

                                                                                                                                                                           
 A note from the Clerk of the Inyo County Board of Supervisors indicated that on June 10, 1952, he had sent H.G. 

Frew of the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power in Independence a new signed lease for the auditorium site, 
which amounted to a renewal of the lease.  Presumably others followed at five year intervals. 

70 The author examined the exterior and interior of this building at its present location on the afternoon of September 3, 
1998, with the guidance of Jim Palsrok. 
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Photo 1. The Manzanar Auditorium-Gymnasium under construction.  View of southwest corner and south wing.  1944.  University of California at Los Angeles 
Collection. 
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Photo 2. Part of west end of building under construction showing roof trusses and framing at west entrance and second story projection room.  1944.  University 
of California at Los Angeles Collection. 
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Photo 3. Southwest corner of building under construction.  Main west entrance is at left with framing of projection room above it being assembled.  The extreme 
northwest corner of the south wing is at the lower right.  1944.  University of California at Los Angeles Collection. 
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Photo 4. View during construction of northwest corner of auditorium from the interior showing the westernmost roof truss in place.  The roof and ceiling 
framing has been installed to the next truss to the east.  1944.  University of California at Los Angeles Collection. 
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Photo 5. This group is probably the construction crew, who were camp internees, with what are presumed to be some of the camp administration officials in the 
center row.  Project Director Ralph Merritt is in the center of the middle row (sixth from right).  The group is at the northwest corner of the building.  May 1, 
1944.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 1277, courtesy Archie A Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
 
Toyo Miyatake became the official camp photographer and thus documented not only the construction of the auditorium, but many of the major activities that 
took place in the building, including high school graduation ceremonies and special events.  Most of the historic photographs included in this report were taken 
by Mr. Miyatake, with permission for their use and prints provided by Archie A. Miyatake. 
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Photo 6. Construction of the framing of the projection room over the main west entrance.  View toward the west from the building interior.  The three openings 
in the lower wall would receive the entrance doors.  1944.  National Archives, Neg. No. 210-GG-588. 
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Photo 7. One of the few views of the east end of the Auditorium, this view is from the northeast.  The horizontal siding has been installed on the walls of the 
auditorium and stage sections, but the north wing is still showing the diagonal sheathing.  In the lower portion of the east stage wall is a double doorway opening 
flanked to each side be window openings, each of which would receive three sash units.  At the northerly end of this same wall at the second floor level is also a 
window opening, which also would have three sash units.  A similar window opening is at the opposite end of this wall, just outside the photograph.  1944.  
Eastern California Museum Collection, MERR 7, 94.82.1. 
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Photo 8. The completed exterior of the Manzanar Auditorium-Gymnasium, 1944 or 1945.  View from the northwest of the west main entrance, with the north 
wing at the left.  The entry walk, flagpole and some plantings are in place.  A storage building still remains or has been added to the south of the entry walk.  
Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 87-C, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 9. View from the southwest of the completed auditorium, with the south wing at the right, 1944 or 1945.  The bank of louvered openings at the upper 
center of the west wall ventilate the attic.  A similar set of louvers is found in the east wall of the attic.  The ladder provided access to the roof and an attic access 
hatch is visible in the roof beyond the ladder.  Two access hatches are also visible on the roof of the projection room.  These hatches no longer exist.  Access to 
the attic is now through one of the louver openings.  The high vent stacks were furnace flues. Two inverted v-shaped ventilator covers are seen on the roof of the 
south wing, which were repeated on the north wing.  These ventilated the shower rooms.  The south wing arrangement appears to have been a mirror image of 
the north wing except for the extension to the east, which had considerably greater window area, and housed the health unit.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 87-
D, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 10. View toward the east from the southeast corner of the main building.  At the extreme right is the northeast corner of the south wing extension which 
contained the health unit, which indicates that the window configuration was similar on both the north and south sides of the extension.  The activity may have 
been a fire safety demonstration.  The fire truck, at “A” Street, was one of two camp fire trucks.  One of the fire trucks is now back at Manzanar, having been 
previously used by the City of Bishop.  A second power line in the background is parallel to Highway 395.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 402, courtesy Archie 
A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
 



Historic Photographs 

 65



HISTORIC PHOTOGRAPHS 

 66

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo 11. Persons gathered at the west entrance to the auditorium are found in other photos dating this photo to April 5, 1945.  The ceremony was a memorial 
service for Sgt. Kiyoshi Robert Nakasaki and Pfc. Sadao Munemori, who were killed in action in Italy.  Because there are no flowers or shrubs in the planting 
beds or adjacent to the entrance walk, it is possible that other photos showing plantings were taken later in 1945.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 169, courtesy 
Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 12. View, probably in 1945, toward the southwest from the west main entrance of the auditorium showing plantings along the entrance walk.  The 
barracks in the background are in Block 8.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 415, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 13. Auditorium interior, probably during the first high school graduation ceremony, held in 1944.  The interior work had not yet been completed. The 
painting was incomplete – the wall wainscot paint colors are not yet finished and the doors and trim do not have their finish colors.  Also the seating appears to 
be all folding wooden chairs, indicating that the wooden benches had not yet been built or completed.  Although the stage backdrop curtains are not visible here, 
which could imply they were still being made, it is possible that they are pulled upward or aside because they do not appear in some later photos.  Toyo 
Miyatake Collection, No. 691, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabariel, California. 
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Photo 14.  In this view later in 1944 or possibly in 1945 of the auditorium stage, it can be seen that the painting has been completed, with medium and darker 
brown used on the doors and trim and for the wainscotting delineation on the walls.  The northeast and southeast exit doorways are also visible and the wooden 
benches are in use.  The ceiling light fixtures and hot air circulation units are still in place.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 91, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San 
Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 15. High School graduation ceremony in 1945.  Here again is illustrated the final paint scheme.  The stage backdrop curtains are shown and curtains at the 
north windows can be seen at the extreme left.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 703, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 16. In the background are the three main entrance doorways in the interior west wall of the auditorium during the 1944 high school graduation showing 
that the walls, doors and trim had not yet been given their finish coats of paint.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 694, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, 
California. 
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Photo 17. The west interior wall of the auditorium during the 1945 high school graduation ceremony showing the final paint scheme.  Window curtains 
(including black curtains for daytime movie viewings as well as evening “blackout” use) are seen as well as the wooden benches.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, 
No. 702, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 18. This view toward the southwest corner of the auditorium also provides a close-up view of the wooden benches.  1944 or 1945.  The window curtains 
had not been installed at this time.  Fire extinquishers are seen on two of the columns of the south wall.  The hangers or evidence of their locations are extant.  
Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 171-i(L), courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 19. West wall and northwest corner of auditorium, probably in 1945.  The window and black-out curtains are seen at the north windows.  A long pole in 
the northwest corner may have been for operating the windows.  Only every other sash unit of the lowest row were operable.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 
286, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 20. West main entrance of auditorium, April 5, 1945.  Photo taken during the memorial service for Sgt. Kiyoshi Robert Nakasaki and Pfc. Sadao 
Munemori.  The entry portico was divided by two simple posts.  At the left (north) side the ticket booth door and window are visible, both of which are still 
extant.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 170-B, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California.  This photo is also in the Eastern California Museum 
Collection, Brown Album. 
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Photo 21. Another view at the west main entrance during the April 5, 1945 memorial service showing details at the doorways.  The three double entry door sets 
and the closers are no longer in place but the light sockets are extant.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 170-A, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, 
California. 
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Photo 22. South wall of auditorium interior.  This view toward the southwest corner shows in clear detail  the windows, a fire extinguisher at the far column, 
bolting of the built-up columns and the painting scheme.  The window curtains however are not yet in place.  1944 or 1945.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 614, 
courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 23. Auditorium interior south wall, view toward southeast corner.  1944 or 1945  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 541, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San 
Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 24. Northwest corner and north wall of auditorium interior.  1944 or 1945.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 189, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San 
Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 25. Auditorium interior, northeast corner and front of stage, 1944 or 1945.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 191, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San 
Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 26. Southeast corner of auditorium interior, 1944 or 1945.  For some activities, the stage became temporary storage for the benches.  Toyo Miyatake 
Collection, No. 817, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 27. Manzanar Project Director Ralph P. Merritt delivering eulogy during memorial service for Pfc. Arikawa, first evacuee from Manzanar to be killed in 
action while serving in the U.S. Army.  August 6, 1944.  The stage curtains may have been taken down for resumption of painting. The door had not yet been 
installed in the opening in the upper left corner of the stage space.  The doorway was to an unfinished room at the north side of the stage space.  There is a 
similar space at the south side.  There is no evidence of either stair or ladder access to either space.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 171-D, courtesy Archie A. 
Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 28. Another view of the north side of the stage.  At this time, possibly late 1944, the door had been installed at the upper stage level, additional painting 
completed and some stage curtains rehung.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 708-B, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 29. View of stage, possibly late 1944, after the doors leading off-stage had been installed and probably most of the painting completed.  The stage curtains 
that had been installed earlier have probably been taken down for the painting work.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 843, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San 
Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 30. Close-up view of stage taken during the 1944 high school graduation ceremony.  This shows the overhang at the front of the stage.  This view again 
illustrates that the painting was incomplete at this time.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 686, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 31. Another view of the stage during the 1944 high school graduation.  A small window-like opening is seen at the south side of the stage, and adjacent to 
it a smaller opening for an electrical panel.  At the far right is one of a pair of openings and speaker(duplicated at the opposite side of the stage) of the public 
address system.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 700, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 32. The stage during the 1945 high school graduation.  Note the full array of stage curtains.  The footlight trough is more visible in this view.  Toyo 
Miyatake Collection, No. 687-C, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 33. This close-up taken during the 1945 high school graduation provides more detail of the footlighting.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 687-D, courtesy 
Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 34. A view from the stage, probably late 1944 or early 1945, shows the footlight sockets and wiring.  The window and black-out curtains at the north wall 
windows are also illustrated.  On the sides of two columns, just above the dark portion of the painted wall wainscot, are cleats for curtain pulls.  Some of these 
are still extant, as well as pulleys in the ceiling above adjacent to the columns for drawing the black-out curtains.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 95, courtesy 
Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 35. The auditorium was used between 1947 and 1954 by the Veterans of Foreign Wars.  This view of the auditorium from the southwest was shortly after 
the south wing was removed, probably 1954.  The VFW moved the south wing structure to Lone Pine and placed it there in an L-shaped configuration.  It is still 
in use by the local VFW chapter and the Lone Pine American Legion Post.  The doorways in the second and fourth bays from the west were probably added 
after 1947.  The horizontal board wall finish which was originally within the interior of the south wing and then exposed to the exterior was cedar, typical of the 
interior wall finish.  The exterior siding on the other hand was Douglas Fir.  Also exposed by the removal of the south wing and visible in this photo are the 
concrete footings supporting columns in the main south wall of the auditorium.  The cornerstone is in the left center foreground.  The pine tree near the west 
main entrance had substantially increased its height since 1945.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 87-G, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
 



Historic Photographs 

 115



HISTORIC PHOTOGRAPHS 

 116

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo 36. After removal of the south wing by the VFW, Inyo County modified the auditorium building for use as a maintenance facility.  This view, probably 
mid- to late-1954, shows that the stage has been removed and a vehicle access opening constructed in the east exterior wall.  The windows that were originally in 
the space beneath the stage had not yet been removed.  The auditorium-gymnasium floor has also been removed.  The concrete pads which had provided support 
for the floor framing were used to fill in spaces between framing and footings at the perimeter of this space before earth fill and a concrete slab were installed.  
This new floor level is lower than the original floor surface leaving the original floor level and base trim position still visible.  Some of the original wood 
flooring was used on new walls in the former stage space.    Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 87-F, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 37. West (main) entrance of the auditorium.  This view shows that a small pine tree had been planted on each side of the entrance walks, although they are 
still small so this photo may have been taken about the time the camp was closed, late 1945, or sometime later.  The entryway had also not yet been enclosed.  
Eastern California Museum Collection, MERR 8. 
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Photo 38. View to the north with the front entrance features and west end of the auditorium-gymnasium building.  Barracks Block 13 is just north of the 
auditorium.  The Sierra Nevada mountains are in the background.  There are no other buildings visible but the steps at the southwest corner of the building are 
visible at the extreme right, so this photo was probably taken between 1947 and 1954, most likely in the later part of that period as evidenced by the growth of 
the two pine trees.  The west entrance is unenclosed, indicating that the enclosure was possibly constructed after 1954.  Eastern California Museum Collection, 
NOM 47, 94.80.10a. 
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PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
SITE 
 
The entrance to the site from highway U.S. 395 is to the east of the building.  In the GMP, visitor parking is 
proposed to the east of the building.  An interim plan of operation is under development in order to open the 
park to visitors.  Aspects that may differ between the interim and ultimate (GMP) plan recommendations 
include entrance to the park, visitor flow and directions.  The historic entrance to the building is on the west 
side, opposite the park entrance and proposed visitor parking.  Parking and circulation around and into the 
building needs to be addressed.  Design of the parking as well as restoration of landscape features in the 
building’s vicinity will be important for both interim and ultimate use. 
 
Photographs taken in 1944 and 1945 show parts of the building and surrounding site from shortly after the 
September 1944 completion of the building and into the next year.  These photos indicate that the block which 
the building occupied was barren ground and the only site development and landscaping was the approach to 
the west main entrance.  A wide concrete sidewalk had two planting beds bordered with concrete curbs and 
with a flag pole between them.  This configuration was aligned with the center of the main entrance.  Various 
photos show these beds had been planted with flowers.  Still later a view toward the southwest from just 
outside the entrance shows that shrubs bordering the walk had been put in as well as a pine sapling on each 
side of the walk near the entrance.  These trees are seen in late 1940s to early 1950s photos as having grown to 
perhaps twelve to fifteen feet in height. 
 
The trees and plantings no longer exist, nor does the curb around the planting beds or the flagpole.  The 
concrete walk, or at least most of it, still exists but sections of it are broken and the west end is buried under 
sand and gravel. 
 
 
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
 
Character Defining Features 
 
Exterior. 
 
• Central gambrel roofed auditorium/gymnasium element with projecting two-story entrance element at 

west elevation and single story shed roofed “wings” on both north and south sides.  South wing 
extended east 40’-9” beyond east wall of main structure. 

• V-groove shiplap siding, horizontal except vertical on main west wall and first story of west entrance. 
• Exterior doors – wood, two panel. 
• Windows – four-light fixed and awning: 
 On north and south sides of gymnasium above wings – bank of units three vertically by 16  
 horizontally. 
 Rows of single units along north and south exterior walls of wings. 
 Single units or groups of three units at other locations. 
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Interior. 
 
• Main auditorium/gymnasium open space; ceiling of four foot by eight foot panels with 1x2 battens over 

joints, walls finished with painted V-groove horizontal shiplap, (historic) floor of 1x4 tongue and groove 
Douglas Fir, clear varnish finish, and the stage at the center of the east wall.  The ceiling finish appears to 
have been a flat white which was actually the factory primer on the fiber board panels.  The wall paint 
scheme appears to have been a dark brown wainscot (to 5 courses = 50”), a medium beige (to 10 courses 
= 100”) and then a light beige to the ceiling.  The stage ceiling and walls were similar to the assembly 
room; some activities were held before the stage curtains were installed. 

• Industrial style painted metal pendant reflector light fixtures in auditorium/gym, with wire guards, in a 5 
by 7 grid. 

• Four suspended fan units in the auditorium/gym. 
• Ceiling finishes in the other spaces consisted of fiber board panels similar to the auditorium, painted or 

unpainted shiplap boards or gypsum board. 
• Wall finishes in the other spaces consisted of painted V-groove siding similar to the auditorium, painted 

or unpainted shiplap boards, painted gypsum board, or in some cases no finish was applied to the framing. 
• Floors in the other spaces were primarily 1x4 t&g wood or concrete. 
• Interior doors – (historically) predominantly wood two-panel. 
• Auditorium seating – wooden benches. 
• Window coverings – valence and side panels of a material probably similar to the stage curtains and 

black-out curtains.  Wooden cleats (most still exist) were screwed to the sides of columns to secure the 
pull cords for the black-out curtains. 

 
 
Exterior Description and Analysis 
 
Roofing System. The roof form of the main auditorium-gymnasium space is a low-pitched gambrel formed 
by the roof trusses.  The wings, west entrance and stage sections have low-pitched shed roofs.  Roof sheathing 
consists of 1x6 shiplap (5-inch exposure).  On the main auditorium roof, the sheathing was installed 
perpendicular to the purlins (that is, parallel to the trusses).71  The existing roofing is a mineral surfaced roll 
roofing, reportedly installed by the county (date unknown).  The type of original roofing is difficult to discern 
from the historic photographs, but it was probably an asphaltic roll roofing.  In fact, it was described as black 
mineral-surfaced split-sheet roll roofing (3 feet by 36 foot rolls, 116 pounds per roll), “mopped on with hot 
asphalt.”72  The asphalt bond coat occasionally leaked through the sheathing board joints, observable on the 
underside from the attic.  There are no visible nail penetrations when the roof sheathing is inspected from the 
underside in the attic so the roofing may not have been nailed in addition to the asphalt mopping as indicated 
in the proposed building material list.  It is possible that the original roofing still exists under the later 
application. 
 
There are occassional water stains on roof sheathing and framing indicating some past leakage, but no 
deterioration was observed.  Inspection along the eaves is difficult because of the low pitch of the roof and no 
crawlway surface.  If deterioration exists it is likely to be found along the eaves, which are susceptible to 
deterioration because of overflowing gutters or damage to roofing or eave enclosure.  Flashings are probably 
from more than the most recent roofing effort.  Gutters and downspouts at the main roof are reported to have 

                                                      
71 See the related information in the historic data section of this report.  The 1946 War Relocation Authority report 

(Appendix B) described the roof sheathing (sheeting) as laid diagonally; in fact it was laid perpendicular to the purlins. 
72 See the 1942 material list for the building as proposed, Appendix A, and the 1946 report, Appendix B. 
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been installed at the time of the last roofing application.  Gutters and downspouts do not show in historic 
photographs. 
 
Exterior Walls and Siding. The exterior walls are wood frame construction with diagonal 1x6 board 
sheathing.  Most of the building is finished with painted horizontal wood siding except for the main west wall 
and the ground level of the main west entrance, which have vertical siding.  This exterior siding consists of 
both horizontal and vertical "V" groove Douglas Fir wood siding, 3/4 inches thick with a 5-inch exposure.  On 
the south elevation, the lower portion of the wall that was originally the interior wall within the south wing has 
cedar siding which was used for a majority of the interior finish.  For the most part, the siding is in poor 
condition, having received few paint coatings since the structure was constructed.  Current efforts to preserve 
the siding using a new weathered wood primer look promising.  This work was done under a recent contract 
which included all of the exterior except the west side of the building.  Areas of severely deteriorated siding, 
mostly on the south elevation, were replaced with cedar, and all repainted.  The west elevation will be treated 
separately.  The siding there is in such deteriorated condition that it can't be preserved without having an 
adverse effect on the structure's historic appearance. 
 
The west entrance configuration has been altered.  The original entryway was open with two posts that 
divided the opening into thirds.  The flanking enclosed end portions of the ground level entrance structure 
were the stairways to the projection rooms above.  The stairs and projection rooms still exist.  At a later time, 
at least by ca. 1954, this entryway was enclosed and a double door installed in the center and a window in 
each of the flanking sections.  The original three double entry doorways in the main west wall of the assembly 
room still exist but the doors were removed.  It appears that one of the original doors was installed in the in-fill 
wall. 
 
Windows. The historic windows have been modified little since their installation.  They are remarkably 
simple and consistent in detail on all elevations of the structure, consisting of single and multiple 
configurations of a single 4 light wood sash that is 1-3/4 inches thick, 4 feet wide by 3 feet 3 inches high, 
except on the north wing and in the east wall they are approximately 2 feet 3 inches in height. 
 
In single and selected alternating first-course locations when ganged, these sashes open awning style where 
the top rail of the sash is set with hardware into a grooved wood slot and allowed to slide while 
simultaneously pivoting.  When open, it appears they were held in place by the mere friction of the hardware 
gliding in the slotted wood stop (see drawing H11).  Fixed sashes had no hardware and appeared to be face-
nailed.  No flashing or sealant was visible, nor did they appear to be used when the windows were installed.  
Furthermore, when the sashes were glazed, historically, the glass panes were not set into putty, instead they 
were installed against the bare wood of the sash.  The bottom rail of the sash is not shaped to fit (seat) against 
the sill accurately and may have been designed purposely as a drip. 
 
In a damper climate, the lack of these appropriate flashing details (particularly at vertical joints between 
sashes), sealant, and maintenance would have likely left the windows in a far more deteriorated condition in a 
shorter period of time. 
 
The actual condition of the majority of the sash units on the north and south clerestories (where there are three 
courses of sash) is very poor, and in their current state they provide only limited protection from wind-driven 
rain.  The rails and stiles are severely weathered and warped, and most of the glazing putty has broken down, 
the glass points rusted, the glass panes cracked, broken, and missing.  A number of these sash units have been 
stockpiled inside the building. 
 
Most of the windows of the north wing have a grid of steel bars applied to the exterior for security reasons, 
probably installed after 1954.  Because visual inspection of these window sash was impaired by the security 
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grilles, it is difficult to assess their condition. or what kind of damage may have been caused by the installation 
of the security grilles. 
 
Most of the window units have severely deteriorated wood on the exterior surfaces and many are warped.  The 
wood is deteriorated and warped because of paint deterioration and consequent exposure to hot sun, ultraviolet 
degradation, wind, rain and snow. 
 
Doors. The historic doors are wood rail, stile, and panel construction.  These doors, interior as well as exterior, 
were of unusually lightweight construction with 1/4 inch plywood panels (primary exterior doors appear to 
have been glazed in the upper panels) and no more than 1-1/2 inch thick rails and stiles.  Because of this 
design, few of the exterior doors have survived the ravages of time.  Vulnerable to severe weather, rough use, 
and repeated break-ins, most have been replaced by vandal resistant contemporary doors of solid wood or 
steel.  Two exceptions are at exterior exit locations (room 106 and hall 113) where components of historic 
doors (some likely interior) and their black-metal panic hardware are still extant. 
 
South Wing. The original south wing was described as containing toilets, dessing rooms, lockers and offices, 
similar to the north wing, but in addition the extension to the east contained a health unit.73  The exterior 
design of the south wing was a mirror image of the north wing, with the exception of the health unit extension. 
 During the period that the VFW used the building, some doorways were added in the south wall of the 
assembly room leading to spaces in the wing. After the wing was removed, ca. 1953-54, most of the original 
and added doorways were removed.  Then a vehicle doorway was added at the west end of the south wall (at 
the southwest corner of the assembly room). 
 
 
Interior Description and Analysis 
 
Attic. Wood joists between the bottom chords of the roof trusses, with blocking at mid-span, provide the 
nailing grid for the panels of the auditorium-gymnasium ceiling.  The bottom of the joists are flush with the 
bottom of the truss chords.  The top surface of the ceiling panels has a considerable layer of dust blown into 
the attic over the years through the louvres at the ends of the attic.  Before removal of ceiling material, this 
dust needs to be vacuumed out. 
 
Ceiling Materials and Finishes. The majority of the ceilings in the building were historically finished with 4 
foot by 8 foot fiberboard panels with 3/4" by 1-1/2" wood battens covering the joints.  The ceilings of the 
gym/assembly room and some rooms of the north wing are of this fiber composition board known as 
“Celotex”, “Firtex,” “beaverboard” or various other brand or generic names, listed only as insulation board in 
the 1942 proposed construction material list and “fibre” board in the 1946 report.  It is one-half inch thick and 
had a white factory prime coat.  No finish paint coat was added.  This is a flammable material and should be 
removed and replaced.  It is also sagging and very dirty and in some areas broken and missing. 
 
Ceilings in some rooms in the building were finished with shiplap boards (painted and un-painted) or with 
3/8” gypsum board (see finish schedule). 
 
Wall Materials and Finishes. The majority of the historic interior walls are finished with painted horizontal 
"V" groove siding.  In some rooms shiplap boards were used or 3/8” gypsum board (see finish schedule).  
Most of the non-historic wall in-fills have been constructed using remnants salvaged from the demolition of 
the historic auditorium/gymnasium floor. 
 
                                                      
73 See the historic data section and the 1946 report, Appendix B. 
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Interior Paint Scheme. The historic paint colors and schemes are visible in many locations where items have 
been removed from the walls.  In the auditorium/gym a light beige color is visible where the historic 
baseboards were removed; this was probably the base color of the primer.  A dark brown finish color was used 
on the first 10 siding courses (to approximately 50-inches above the floor), medium beige the next 10 siding 
courses (to 100-inches), and light beige the rest of the way up to the ceiling line.  These colors are visible in 
other parts of the building.  After ca. 1954, most of the interior was painted medium gray. 
 
Finish Floors. The original floor of the gymnasium/assembly room was a wooden gynasium floor system.  
Flooring was of 1x4 tongue and groove (3-1/4 inch exposure) Douglas fir, varnished.  The framing was 
supported on a grid of concrete pads.  This was removed and replaced with a concrete slab, ca. 1954, when the 
building became a maintenance facility.  Portions of the wood floor were used to fill in part of the original 
stage opening.  The existing concrete floor is below the level of the original wood floor, and remnants of the 
original floor can be seen at the perimeter of the room. 
 
The historic floors that escaped demolition are primarily in the north wing.  They also consist of 1x4 tongue 
and groove (3-1/4 inch exposure) vertical grain Douglas Fir strip flooring laid over diagonal 1 x 6 shiplap 
subflooring on 2 x 6 floor joists. 
 
In historically wet locations there are thin concrete slabs poured directly over the 1 x 6 subfloor. In general the 
floor system of the north wing appears to be under-designed, even by residential standards, as they deflect 
excessively under the live load of one individual.  It seems likely that the auditorium/gym floor would have 
been of similar construction but historic documentation indicates that this floor system was supposedly 
designed for a loading of 100 pounds per square foot.74 
 
Interior Doors. Some of the historic interior doors are extant, some have been modified, some are missing 
and others have been relocated or replaced.  With some exceptions, interior doors were also wood two panel, 
without glazing.  Most extant historic doors need repair.  Non-historic, badly damaged and missing doors will 
need to be replaced with new replicating the historic design. 
 
 
Major Modifications from the Historic Period 
 
Major modifications made were: 
• Enclosure of main entrance – probably after 1954, but possibly between 1947 and 1954. 
• Removal of wood gymnasium floor, installation of concrete slab floor – ca. 1954. 
• Removal of stage and addition of vehicle access opening, east wall – ca. 1954. 
• Removal of south wing – ca. 1953-54. 
• Doorway modifications in south wall of gymnasium – additional doorways added between 1947 and 1953; 

various doorways removed or added ca. 1954 or later. 
 
Enclosure of the main entrance at the west end of the building appears to have been accomplished with little 
modification of the original opening.  The siding surrounding the opening, both exterior and interior, remains 
in place.  The two original posts may still exist within the in-fill wall.  The wall finishes within the entryway, 
ticket booth and stairwell enclosures remain intact.  The orginal three double entrance doors and their 
hardware were removed, but the light fixtures above the doorways still exist. 
 
The main floor of the auditorium is currently a concrete slab that was installed by the county (see historic 
photo 36) when they adapted the structure as a maintenance garage (ca. 1954).  In order to satisfy this new 
                                                      
74 See historic data. 
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function, major modifications were also made to the auditorium's structure so that it could accommodate 
heavy equipment. 
 
At the east elevation, which was the back wall of the original stage, a 14 foot wide by 15 foot high opening 
was created by removing the exterior wall and stage floor framing.  This required demolition of the stage's east 
wall down to the finish grade.  There also was a double door here that provided access from the exterior to the 
space under the stage (historic photo 7)..  Additionally, there is physical evidence that another original double 
door opening that would have been an exit at the southeast corner of the building was removed (at the end of 
Hall 121).  Currently the opening is covered with siding. 
 
In addition to the removal of the original stage floor (historic photo 36), its two flanking stair wells were also 
razed.  Paint ghosts of the stairs are visible in basement rooms 118 and 119.  In this same historic photograph, 
the wood gym/auditorium floor has been removed along with flooring at the same elevation in Hall 121.  The 
concrete footings are still in evidence in this photo, but current physical investigation indicates that many of 
them, if not all, were relocated and stacked with boulders to create a retaining wall for the slab fill around the 
perimeter of the gymnasium space.  The entire gym/auditorium (123), the hall at the southeast corner (121), 
and a room of undetermined use at the west end of the north wing (106), were all back-filled and a concrete 
slab poured wall-to-wall. 
 
Concrete ramps were poured in a number of locations where a difference in elevation between the new slab 
and earlier wood and concrete finish floors had to be accommodated.  The largest was poured in room 118, the 
basement beneath the central 1/3 of the stage that was removed.  A large metal roll-up door was installed on 
the east auditorium wall, transforming the stage space into a two story entry alcove that has been open to the 
elements ever since this modification was made.  Other concrete ramps installed were at the northeast corner 
of the gym/auditorium slab to the wood floor of Hall 113, from the gym/auditorium slab to historic basement 
slabs (Rooms 116 and 119), and from the auditorium/gym slab to the historic wood floor in Hall 107. 
 
Evidence of the wood auditorium/gym floor being employed as wall sheathing can be seen on the in-fill of the 
stage opening at the auditorium/gym east wall.  From basement rooms 116 and 119, the varnished floor boards 
can be seen on the east side of this wall which still have their painted red and black game markings.  The north 
and south walls of the vehicle entry 118 were created in a similar manner with historic flooring used as wall 
sheathing. 
 
By comparing photos from the historic period with photos when the south wing was removed, the various 
changes in doorways in the south wall of the auditorium can be seen.  (Also see the existing conditions 
drawings in this report).  At the west main entrance, a wall was built to enclose the originally open entry.  One 
central double door was installed, flanked on both sides with a set of windows.  The three original sets of 
double entry doors were removed. 
 
 
Hazardous Materials 
 
Removal of buried fuel tanks and contaminated soil was accomplished by the county before National Park 
Service ownership of the building.  There was a hydraulic vehicle lift in the floor of the auditorium/gym 
which was removed and a concrete slab installed at that location.  Square concrete slabs were also poured to 
fill footing holes after removal of an overhead lift.  Also the surface of the interior concrete slab was removed 
in areas where oil had accumulated from vehicle maintenance operations. 
 



Architectural Description and Analysis 

 131

An asbestos survey and abatement effort was accomplished in 1996.  Abatement was reported to have been 
completed on October 9, 1996.75  The material found and consequently removed was an asbestos containing 
wall and ceiling board historically installed for fireproofing in the projection booth rooms, in furnace room 
spaces, around furnace vent flues and in a room later used for welding. 
 
A lead-based paint survey was conducted in 1997.  Almost all of both exterior and interior finishes tested 
contain lead.76  The soil within 10 to 12 feet of the building also contains lead accumulated from weathering 
and paint chips from the building walls.  All construction and maintenance work must be conducted in 
accordance with federal and state regulations.  Where historic materials can be preserved, new paint can be 
used to provide encapsulation.

                                                      
75 Project Close Out Report, Death Valley (Scotty’s Castle) and Manzanar, CAL Inc., Vacaville, California, November 

22, 1996. 
76 Lead-Based Paint Survey, conducted by Cal Inc, Vacaville, California, contract order No. 1443PX8000-97-117, April 

14, 1997. 
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Pest Control. An inspection for pests, and some control and decontamination was undertaken in 1995, also 
before the building was transferred to the NPS.  The problems identified, along with proposed means of 
control and decontamination, were rodents (rats and mice) associated with the Hantavirus, bees, subteranean 
termites and owls.  Of particular concern was the rodent infestations around and in the building, which 
included deer mice, a primary host of the Hantavirus.  Bees were found in the walls of the building.  Termite 
damage was found in wood members near or having soil contact.  Barn Owls had apparently gained access 
through holes to the ceiling spaces above the former stage, which now is essentially outdoors.77   
 
The rodent problem was a major concern.  Removal and decontamination was reported underway in October 
of 1995.  Owl nesting houses were provided outside the building.  Nesting sites in the former stage ceiling and 
the damaged ceiling panels which allowed the birds access to the ceiling spaces were removed.  These actions 
are reported to have accomplished a successful relocation. 
 
 
STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS ANALYSIS 
 
Description of Structural Systems 
 
The entire building is wood framed.  The lumber used throughout the building appears to have been good 
quality.  For example, visible stud framing in the upper portions of the stage end of the building exhibits 
grading stamps showing select structural grade rated at 1200 psi.  Much of the wood is stamped as being 
Douglas Fir.  Most of the visible framing is in good condition, but termite damage has been identified in the 
crawl space of the north wing where framing is in contact with soil or concrete.78  The individual components 
of the building are described below. 
 
 
Gravity Load Resisting System. 
 
Roof Framing — The roof is a low-pitched gambrel formed by Pratt type trusses at 16-feet on center that span 
the full width of the auditorium.  The trusses are constructed from 2-inch dimension lumber, and all joints are 
bolted with split-ring connectors.  The top chord, bottom chord, and some of the web members consist of 
multiple 2x members--either doubled or tripled, depending on the location.  Inter-truss 2x6 cross bracing 
occurs along the longitudinal centerline of the building.  Diagonal knee braces connect each truss to its 
supporting column.  The trusses support 2x10 (1-1/2”x9”) purlins perpendicular to, and framed over the top 
of, the trusses at 24-inches on center.  Full 2x10 blocking between purlins occurs at each truss and at mid-span 
of the purlin.  Roof sheathing consists of 1x6 shiplap boards (5-inch exposure) perpendicular to the purlins 
(parallel to the trusses).  No deterioration or failures of the roof framing were observed.  Longitudinal cracks 
were observed, however, in the top chords of the trusses at the connection where the knee brace connects. 
 
The roof framing at the north and east wings consists of straight 1x sheathing on 2x12 roof rafters at 24” on 
center.  In the west wing, the roof framing consists of straight 1x sheathing on 2x8 rafters at 24” on center. 
 
Attic Framing — Attic framing consists of 2x6 (1-1/2”x5-3/8”) joists at 24 inches on center spanning between 
the bottom chords of the trusses.  The joists are notched to rest on 2x3 (1-5/8”x2-1/2”) ledgers attached to the 
bottom chords of the trusses.  The bottom edge of both the ledgers and the joists are flush with the bottom of 

                                                      
77 Letter, to Superintendent, Manzanar NHS from Pestmaster Services, Bishop, CA, August 23, 1995; also letter to 

Western Region Office, NPS, from Pestmaster Services, Bishop, CA, October 9, 1995. 
78 See footnote 10. 
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the truss chord.  The joists are blocked at mid-span with 2x4s laid flat that serve the dual purpose of also 
providing a nailer for the ceiling panels. 
 
Wall Framing — The exterior walls are 2x4 or 2x6 (depending on the location) stud walls with 1x6 board 
sheathing.  At all “exterior” walls, the sheathing is diagonal.  At all “interior” walls, there is no sheathing; the 
wall finishes are applied directly to the studs.  In this context, “exterior” is defined as walls or portions of 
walls visible from the exterior of the building, and “interior” is defined as all other walls.  The implication of 
these definitions is that the portions of the walls of the auditorium space that are above or outside the adjacent 
building wings have diagonal sheathing, but the sheathing terminates at the point where the wing begins and 
the wall becomes part of the interior of the building.  All of the truly exterior walls of the building wings have 
diagonal sheathing. 
 
There are large areas of windows in the north and south walls of the auditorium and a long stretch of shallow 
windows in the north wing.  There are also large door openings in the east wall and in the south wall near the 
west corner. 
 
The trusses are supported by built-up columns located at the perimeter of the auditorium.  The columns 
generally consist of three 2-1/2”x14-1/2” and two 1-1/2”x 14-1/2” members, bolted together with six pairs of 
5/8”-diameter bolts.  These columns are exposed at the interior of the north and south walls of the 
auditorium/gymnasium space.  The truss-to-column connections consist of 1/4-inch steel gusset plates bolted 
to each side of the connection.  The bottom portion of these plates is visible from the interior of the 
auditorium.  Diagonal knee braces connect each truss to its supporting columns.  The braces, consisting of a 
2x6 at each face of the column, are bolted to the column and to the top and bottom chords of the truss.  These 
braces are visible in the gymnasium below the ceiling level. 
 
In three locations at the south wall of the auditorium/gymnasium, the bottoms of the columns were found to be 
considerably deteriorated from a combination of termite and rot damage (see photos 13 and 14, Appendix J), 
resulting in a lack of positive bearing between the column and the footing.  In one case, there exists a 6” air 
gap between the bottom of the column and the top of the pier.  In another case, the historic pier was capped 
with additional concrete, possibly by the county, to fill in the gap between the rotted column base and the pier. 
 The column has continued to disintegrate, however.  It should be noted that these columns were historically 
protected by the south wing that was removed ca. 1954.  Once it was removed, they were exposed to the 
elements, and, in one case, the close proximity of a hose bib.  
 
Floors — The floor of the auditorium is a slab-on-grade.    This was installed ca. 1954 when the building 
became a maintenance facility.   
 
The floors in the east wing consist of diagonal 1x sheathing on 2x joists.  The joists in the remaining stage area 
are at 12” on center. 
 
The upper floor of the west wing (the Projection Room) has 2” of concrete on wood subflooring. The lower 
floor is a concrete slab-on-grade and appears to be the original floor. 
 
A crawl space extends under most of the north wing.  The floor framing consists of 1x diagonal sheathing on 
2x6 (1-5/8”x5-3/8”) joists at 16” on center.  The joists span between the north wall of the auditorium and the 
north wall of the north wing.  A  5-3/8”x9” beam running longitudinally down the centerline of the wing 
provides an intermediate line of support.  The beams, both at the centerline and the perimeter, are supported 
by wood posts (two 3-1/2”x5-3/8”) resting on 2x plates sitting on 28”x28” concrete footings.  There are no 
visible connections between the joists, beams, posts, and footings.  The floor in the restroom area has a thin 
concrete slab poured over the top of the wood-framed floor.  The wood-framed floor was removed in the north 
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wing west of the restroom, and a concrete slab-on-grade was installed in its place.  A skirt surrounds the north 
wing below the floor framing consisting of vertical 1x siding spanning between the bottom of the beam and a 
2x installed between the posts just above the concrete footings.  The floor framing in the north wing should be 
investigated further for rot or insect damage, as the floor deflects noticeably under the load of only one 
individual. 
 
Foundations — As previously stated, the auditorium floor is a slab-on-grade, as is the lower floor of the west 
wing and a portion of the north wing.  The west wall of the auditorium is supported by 28”x28” footings at 
approximately 8 feet on center.  The top of footing elevation is about 16 inches below the slab-on-grade 
elevation.  The east wall of the auditorium is supported by concrete grade beams.  The bottom portion of the 
stud wall is below the auditorium slab-on-grade and is, therefore, in contact with concrete and soil on its west 
face. 
 
The north wall of the auditorium is supported by wood beams on wood posts on concrete footings.  It is 
assumed that historically the south wall was supported in a similar fashion as the north wall.  Presently, 
however, a concrete grade beam exists along the bottom of the wall.  Soil was placed against this grade beam 
such that the bottoms of the columns supporting the trusses were below grade.  The columns supporting the 
trusses bear on tapered concrete piers.  There is no evidence that the columns are anchored to the piers. 
 
At the east wing, the exterior wall is supported by a concrete foundation wall visible in the low storage rooms. 
 The exterior grade is near or in some places above the top of this concrete wall, placing the wood wall in 
contact with soil.  It is unknown whether the concrete supporting the wall is a grade beam or stem wall and 
footing. 
 
At the north wing, the interior and perimeter beams are supported by wood posts on concrete footings.  The 
footings along the perimeter are visible from the exterior. 
 
The depths of all foundation elements are unknown. 
 
 
Lateral Load Resisting Systems. A copy of the report “FEMA 178/June 1992 Seismic Evaluation of the 
Manzanar Auditorium Building” (MARTIN/MARTIN Consulting Engineers, December 1998) is included in 
Appendix J.  This report includes descriptions of the lateral load resisting system, its deficiencies, and 
rehabilitation recommendations.  The recommendations intend to strengthen the building to the point of being 
life-safe, meaning that occupants will be able to escape the building during a severe earthquake but that the 
building itself may experience severe damage, even to the point of not being salvageable.  Further 
consideration should be given to determine if additional strengthening beyond a life-safety level would be 
appropriate and feasible. 
 
 
Structural Analysis and Findings 
 
Loads. The following loads--derived from the Uniform Building Code, 1997 edition, unless otherwise noted--
were used in the analysis of the building components: 
 
 Live Loads 
  Roof Live Load    20 psf 
  Snow Load, Pg    30 psf  (from Public Works Dept., Inyo County) 
  Snow Load, Pf    18 psf 
  Attic      10 psf 
  Floor Live Load  100 psf 



Structural Systems Analysis 

 135

  Seismic - Zone 4 
  Wind - 70 mph, Exposure C 
 Dead Loads 
  Roof       10 psf 
  Attic/Ceiling    10 psf 
  Floor     10 psf 
 
Gravity Load Deficiencies and Recommendations. 
 
Roof Framing — An analysis was run to determine the stresses in all of the truss members.  The truss top and 
bottom chord members are significantly overstressed, while the web members are generally acceptable.  Also, 
several of the bolted truss connections are severely overstressed.  The trusses will likely require the addition of 
steel elements along both sides of the top and bottom chords with new steel gusset plates at the panel point 
connections to bring them up to the design load capacity.  The cracked top chord members could be repaired 
with new metal straps extending along the diagonal web member, around the top of the top chord, and back 
down the opposite side of the web member, designed to transfer all of the tension in the diagonal member.  
(See Figure 8, Appendix J.) 
 
The capacity of the roof purlins is adequate for the design load, but the ceiling joists are overstressed and will 
need to be upgraded by sistering a new joist along one side of each existing joist. 
 
Wall Framing — The built-up columns have sufficient capacity in their current configuration.  The rot at the 
bottoms of the columns needs to be repaired, however.  The damaged wood should be removed, and either 
new wood can be spliced to the existing columns or new concrete pedestals can be cast between the bottom of 
the column and the existing footings. 
 
Floor Framing — The floor framing in the north wing should be investigated further for rot or insect damage, 
and analyzed for its load carrying capacity. 
 
Foundations — The foundations may need to be supplemented with additional concrete to raise the elevation 
in order to get the wood out of contact with the soil. 
 
 
Seismic Deficiencies and Recommendations. Complete descriptions of the deficiencies and rehabilitation 
recommendations are included in the report contained in Appendix J.  A summary of the recommendations is 
as follows: 
 
1. Wood Decay - The decay of the wood columns needs to be repaired.  (See Figure 7, Appendix J.)  On the 

south, the repair will be relatively simple, because the columns are easily accessible.  On the north, east, 
and west walls, portions of the concrete slab-on-grade will have to be removed so that new portions of 
columns can be spliced in or so that the top of footing elevation can be raised to elevate the column bases 
from being in contact with the soil. 

 
2. Inadequate Shear Walls - The lack of shear walls is a serious deficiency.  The lack of adequate sheathing 

and the presence of large and numerous door and window openings render the existing walls severely 
overstressed.  Certain portions of the walls should be designed as plywood shear walls or have new steel 
rod diagonal bracing installed.  New concrete grade beams or enlarged footings will be required at the 
bases of these walls.  The suggested locations for these shear walls are shown in Figures 2, 4, 5, 6, and 7, 
Appendix J. 
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3. Unbraced Cripple Walls at North Wing Crawl Space - The posts in the crawl space need to be more 
adequately braced.  The added shear walls or diagonal bracing in the north wing can be designed to also 
brace the crawl space. 

 
4. Inadequate Roof Diaphragms - The inadequate straight 1x roof sheathing could be corrected with an 

engineered plywood diaphragm installed over the 1x straight sheathing.  An alternate solution is to locate 
the diaphragm at the ceiling level by augmenting the ceiling bracing to act as a diaphragm.  This solution 
would also require the installation of additional bracing between the roof and the ceiling, but it would spare 
having to remove the existing roofing. 

 
5. Lack of Diaphragm Chords and Struts - The discontinuous 2x wall top plates are prevented from acting as a 

diaphragm chord.  Light gauge steel straps should be installed across the discontinuities.  (See Figure 3, 
Appendix J.)  The 2x top wall plates can function as drag struts, provided they are adequately sized and 
connected. 

 
6. Inadequate Connections and Ties - Inadequate connections between structural components can be remedied 

for each specific deficiency. 
 

• The roof diaphragm should be connected to the diaphragm chords and drag struts when the sheathing is 
installed, or with appropriate connectors to the alternative roof-ceiling bracing system. 

 
• The beam-to-post and post-to-foundation connections in the north wing should be improved with light-

gauge connectors fastened to the wood and anchor bolted to the concrete. 
• The north wing footings may need to be connected, if required by further analysis.  This could be done 

with either continuous steel members anchor bolted to the footings or with a slab-on-grade installed 
around and doweled to the footings. 

 
7. No Ceiling Bracing - Additional ceiling diaphragm bracing is needed because of the 80-foot ceiling 

diaphragm span and could be supplied by one of the following:  2x diagonals installed in the horizontal 
plane at the ceiling level; plywood added in alternate bays of the ceiling joists; or additional 2x cross 
bracing between the trusses (similar to what presently occurs at the building centerline).  Either of the 
first two solutions could be designed to act as the primary diaphragm, as previously discussed. 

 
 
MECHANICAL SYSTEMS ANALYSIS 
 
Purpose 
 
The Manzanar Auditorium building is planned to be rehabilitated and adaptively reused for Manzanar 
National Historic Site interpretive and administrative functions.  Because the National Park Service will be a 
long-term owner and occupant of this structure, it is in the best interest of the Government that long-term 
operating costs are as low as practically possible.  To keep operating costs at a minimum, it is essential that 
all potential mechanical systems and building envelope treatments considered for inclusion into future 
designs be analyzed with respect to these costs.  Efforts should be made to reduce construction and operating 
costs as much as possible, while maintaining historical integrity, aesthetics, comfort, simplicity of operation, 
ease of maintenance, and sustainability, particularly low environmental impact. 
 
This section describes, analyzes, and makes recommendations for proposed building envelope treatments, 
heating, ventilating, and air conditioning (HVAC), and plumbing systems in the Auditorium building at the 
Manzanar site. 
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Recommendations Summary 
 
Building Envelope. Because of the substantial energy savings that will result, the walls, floors, and roofs of 
the building should be insulated as much as is practical as part of any rehabilitation work.  Insulated glazing 
units are also recommended for implementation for the same reason.  In addition to reducing energy 
consumption, insulating the building has the added benefits of reducing mechanical system sizes and 
increasing interior comfort levels.  Although insulating the gym walls will result in even greater energy 
savings, it is not recommended to do so unless a suitable insulation methodology that does not require the 
removal or destruction of the interior finishes can be implemented.   
 
 
Heating, Ventilating, and Air Conditioning System. The systems recommended for implementation as part 
of any rehabilitation work are as follows: 

 
• Single-stage evaporative coolers and hydronic (hot water) radiant floor heating system for the gym and 

stage areas, with a propane-fired makeup air unit for ventilation in the heating season. 
 
• Air cooled package air conditioners with hot water heating coils for the remaining spaces in the building 

to be conditioned. 
 
• High efficiency propane-fired hot water boilers to provide hot water for the radiant floor heating system 

and the hot water coils associated with the package air conditioners. 
 
• Toilet exhaust systems in all of the new restroom spaces. 
 
Plumbing Systems. It is recommended that all of the piping in the building be replaced with new piping.  
New domestic water heaters should be provided as necessary.  All new plumbing fixtures and fittings shall 
be water-conserving (low-flow) type. 
 
Fire Protection Systems. It is recommended that portable fire extinguishers be installed in strategic 
locations throughout the building.  When the south wing is reconstructed, it should be fully sprinklered, with 
its sprinkler system connected to the existing (1998) dry pipe sprinkler system in the Auditorium building. 
 
 
Building Envelope 
 
Historic Conditions. The existing Auditorium building was constructed in 1944 and is fairly typical of 
temporary military buildings built during this period.  It is a wood frame structure, with single-glazed wood 
sash windows and little (if any) insulation in the walls and roofs.  There is no insulation in any of the walls 
and the only roof that was insulated is the north wing roof.  The north wing roof is insulated with 2 inches of 
"Kimsul" cellulose batt insulation that was installed as part of the original construction.  It is assumed that 
the south wing roof was insulated in a similar manner. 
 
It appears that the exterior of the building had light-colored walls during the historic period which would 
have helped with keeping the building cooler by reflecting more solar heat than they absorbed.  However, it 
also appears that the roof was covered with black mineral cap asphaltic roll roofing which would have added 
a considerable amount of heat to the spaces below by absorbing more solar heat than it reflected. 
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Existing Conditions. Other than the modifications listed in the Architectural Analysis section of this 
document, vandalism, and the ravages of time, the building and building envelope remain much the same as 
they were when originally constructed in 1944.  The major modifications that affect mechanical systems 
design in the building are as follows: 
 
New Roof — The present roofing system consists of white mineral cap asphaltic roll roofing.  This is a more 
desirable color of roofing material from a cooling standpoint since it reflects more solar heat than a 
comparable black roof would.  If the existing roof is replaced at some point with a black roof to match the 
historic conditions, this will need to be taken into account in any new cooling systems designs. 
 
Concrete Floor in Gym — When the building was converted to a vehicle maintenance facility, the original 
wood frame floor in the gym was removed and replaced with a concrete floor on fill.  This floor represents not 
only additional thermal mass in the building, but also presents an opportunity to install a hydronic radiant 
floor heating system in the gym area. 
 
Removal of the South Wing Structure — Reconstruction of the south wing will represent additional heating 
and cooling loads that would not presently be accounted for. 
 
Because it is a lightweight frame structure, the Auditorium building does not have a great deal of thermal 
mass.  Thermal mass acts as a "heat battery".  The mass absorbs and releases heat in the interior of the 
building, and acts to stabilize the temperatures inside the building.  The less mass there is inside a building, 
the greater the interior temperature swings during the day; conversely, the more mass there is inside a 
building, the smaller the interior temperature swings during the day.  Since this building has little mass to 
reduce interior swings during the day, the only reasonable option that can be implemented to reduce interior 
temperature swings and to reduce the size of the mechanical cooling and heating equipment is to add 
insulation to the building envelope. 
 
Recommended Treatments. Because of the poor insulating qualities of the majority of the building 
envelope, insulation should be added to the building envelope.  To accurately gauge the effects of treatments 
related to the building envelope, cooling and heating load calculations were performed for various 
alternatives as follows: 

 
•  Alternative 1 - Existing Building (with South Wing Added On), No Treatments 
•  Alternative 2 - Insulate Floors, Ceilings, and Walls (no insulation in gym walls) 
•  Alternative 3 - Insulate Floors, Ceilings, and Walls (with insulation in gym walls) 
•  Alternative 4 - Install Insulated Glazing (no insulation in gym walls) 
•  Alternative 5 - Install Insulated Glazing (with insulation in gym walls) 

 
In all of the alternatives presented above, the south wing is added into the load calculations, fully insulated 
and provided with insulated glazing as it would be if reinstalled on the existing building.  All of the 
alternatives are "additive", i.e., Alternative 3 adds insulation to the Alternative 2 case, Alternative 4 adds 
insulated glazing to the Alternative 2 case, etc. 
 

ENVELOPE 
ALTERNATIVE 

NUMBER 

BUILDING COOLING 
LOAD, ENVELOPE 

ONLY (TONS)A 

BUILDING HEATING 
LOAD, ENVELOPE 

ONLY (MBH)B 

BUILDING COOLING 
LOAD, WITH INTERNAL 

AND VENTILATION LOADS 
(TONS)A 

BUILDING HEATING 
LOAD, WITH 

VENTILATION (MBH)B 

1 20.3 443 53.5 677
2 14.1 335 44.6 565 
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3 13.2 291 43.4 521 

4 12.6 240 42.3 470 

5 11.7 224 41.4 454 
 
a1 Ton = 12,000 BTU (British Thermal Units) per hour cooling capacity 
b1 MBH = 1,000 BTU per hour 
Alternative 2 vs. Alternative 1 — As can be seen from the numbers presented in the table above, the most 
marked reduction in cooling and heating loads occurs when the majority of the building is insulated 
(excluding the gym walls).  Because this treatment results in the largest reduction of cooling and heating 
loads, it is recommended that as much insulation as possible be installed in the building walls (R11), ceilings 
(R30), and floors (R19) as part of any rehabilitation work.  This will not only save energy, but will reduce 
mechanical equipment sizes necessary to properly condition the building and will increase occupant comfort.  
 
Alternative 3 vs. Alternative 2 — Insulating the gym walls in addition to insulating the reminder of the 
building also results in reductions of cooling and heating loads, but not as great as the reductions resulting 
from the addition of insulation modeled in Alternative 2.  Because the interior surfaces of the gym are in 
good condition and it would be difficult and expensive to remove the interior surfaces to add insulation, it is 
recommended that insulation not be added to the gym walls, unless some other method that does not require 
removal or destruction of the interior finishes (such as using blown-in insulation) can be implemented. 
 
Alternative 4 vs. Alternative 2 — Adding insulated glazing reduces the heating loads by almost the same 
amount (approximately 100 MBH) as insulating the building does.  However, the cooling loads are not 
reduced as dramatically.  The reason for this is twofold.  First, the temperature difference for conduction 
through the glass in the summer is not as great as it is in the winter, reducing the effect of the improvement 
in insulating qualities of the glass.  Second, the shading coefficient for clear double glazing is 0.88 vs. 1.0 for 
clear single glazing.  This represents only a 12 percent reduction in the solar gain into the building spaces.  
Given all of this, it is still recommended to add insulated glazing to the building as part of any rehabilitation 
work to reduce the heating load to save energy, reduce heating equipment sizes, and increase occupant 
comfort. 
 
Alternative 5 vs. Alternative 4 — The discussion here is the same as that for Alternative 3 vs. Alternative 2. 
 
 
Heating, Ventilating, and Air Conditioning 
 
Historic Conditions. The Auditorium building was originally equipped with oil-fired forced air furnaces.  
The main gym space (Room 123) was heated with four furnaces, one in Room 104, one in Room 115, one in 
Room 120, and one in the south wing, directly across the gym from Room 104.  Heat for the north wing was 
provided by another furnace in Room 104 and (probably) unit heaters in Rooms 110 and 111.  Flue locations 
shown in the historic photographs and physical evidence inside the building support these locations.  The 
flue locations shown in the historic photographs also indicate that the heating systems in the south wing were 
a mirror image of the ones in the north wing.  Destratification of heated air in the high ceiling gym space 
(Room 123) was provided by four fan units located on the ceiling.  These units were vertical projection unit 
heaters with no heating coils installed.  No permanent heating systems appear to have been installed in any 
of the spaces in the east or west wings of the building.
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No cooling systems, other than doors and operable windows, were provided in the original construction.  
Ventilation was provided by doors and operable windows in most of the areas of the building.  Ventilation 
for the restrooms and shower rooms in the north and south wings was provided by what appear in the 
historic photographs to be roof-mounted gravity ventilators. 
 
Existing Conditions  All of the original furnaces and unit heaters have been removed from the building at 
some time in the past.  Three of the four historic thermostats that controlled the furnaces for the gym (Room 
123) are still in place; the thermostat that was located on the south wall is missing.  Heating during the 
period that Inyo County used the building for a maintenance facility was provided by various gas-fired and 
electric appliances.  High intensity radiant heaters are installed near the ceiling, mostly at the west end of the 
room, to provide spot heating.  A horizontal projection unit heater is installed in Room 110.  A through-the-
wall room air conditioner provides heat (electric) in Room 111.  Heat in Room 109 is provided by an electric 
wall heater.  An electric unit heater is currently being added to Room 117 under the Package D164 
construction contract.  A 1,000 gallon propane storage tank, located near the northwest corner of the fenced 
enclosure surrounding the building, provides gas to all of the gas-fired appliances.  In addition to the space 
heating appliances, the propane tank also supplied gas to a heat treating oven that was located in Room 104.  
 
Although the fuel oil tank(s) supplying the original furnaces have been removed, some of the piping that 
supplied the furnaces is still intact inside the building.  One-fourth inch oil supply lines for the oil-fired 
furnaces and unit heaters are still visible in Rooms 104, 110, 111, 115, and 120.  What appear to be two 1/2 
inch oil lines penetrate the floor in Room 117; their function is unknown. 
 
Evaporative coolers and window air conditioners were installed to provide cooling during the period that 
Inyo County used the building.  Four large evaporative coolers were installed to provide cooling in the gym 
(Room 123).  Two of the coolers that were mounted on the roof of the north wing have been removed 
because of structural safety concerns.  The other two coolers, located on the south and west sides of the 
building, are still in place.  A through-the-wall air conditioner is installed in Room 111. 
 
Recommended Treatments. To make the Auditorium building suitable for year-round park operations, 
modern HVAC systems will need to be installed to provide comfort conditions inside the building.  Different 
types of HVAC systems and energy sources that may be suitable for use in this project are discussed below.  
These discussions outline features, advantages, and disadvantages of each type of system and are general in 
nature.  Because of economics and/or considerations related to the building, there are several types of HVAC 
systems that were considered and rejected: 
 
1. Direct Resistance Electric Heating: As far as being flexible and integrating with the building itself, direct 

resistance electric heating would be a good choice for this project.  However, the operating costs would be 
excessive in the winter (both consumption and demand charges would be high).  Also, the electrical 
service may not be able to handle a heating load of approximately 140 KW (this is the peak heating load 
with building envelope treatment Alternative 4) in addition to the other electrical loads in the building. 

 
2. Fuel Oil Heating: Fuel oil could be used to fire boilers or furnaces as was done historically, but presents 

some difficulties.  First, fuel oil is not commonly used as a heating fuel in the Owens Valley area.  The 
heating fuel of choice is propane (natural gas could be used, but is not presently available).  Second, the 
use of fuel oil as a heating fuel requires a storage tank.  Whether this tank is located above or below 
ground, it is required to have overfill spill prevention devices and secondary containment with leak 
monitoring.  Underground fuel oil piping must have a secondary containment also. 

 
3. Air-to-Air Heat Pumps: Air-to-air heat pumps are a more energy-efficient choice for heating than direct 

resistance electric heat.  Another advantage is that cooling can be provided also with the same piece of 
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equipment.  The major drawback of air-to-air heat pumps is that the heating capacity drops off as the 
outside temperature decreases and the cooling capacity drops off as the outdoor temperature increases.  At 
low temperatures (typically around 20 degrees F), the heating capacity drops off so much that the heat 
pump cannot produce enough heat energy to adequately heat the indoor spaces.  At this point, a 
supplemental heat source (typically direct resistance electric heat) must be turned on to provide additional 
heat energy.  In colder climates, icing of the outdoor air coil can occur, requiring additional energy to 
defrost the coils. 

 
4. Ground-Coupled Heat Pumps: Although ground-coupled heat pumps are very energy efficient and would 

be a good choice for this project, there is a drawback in using them here.  Because wells approximately 
200 feet deep would need to be drilled to form the ground heat exchanger, they would likely penetrate into 
the water table below the site.  The water rights for this water table are owned by Los Angeles Department 
of Water and Power (LADWP) and unless a variance were granted, drilling these wells would be 
prohibited. 

 
5. Solar Assist: Because of the historic nature of this structure, any type of active solar system collectors 

mounted on the building proper will be unacceptable.  Active solar panels could be mounted on a ground 
array, but adequate site space near the building may not be compatible with other site features such as 
parking and landscaped areas. 

 
The major cooling and heating load is in the gym area, which (using building envelope Alternative 4) 
represents 53 percent of the total cooling load and 60 percent of the total heating load in the building.  This 
being the case, and because it is the single largest space in the building, the gym is the one area of the 
building that should receive the most efficient cooling and heating systems to reduce energy consumption.  
To provide the most efficient cooling and heating possible, two systems in particular are being recommended 
for implementation in the gym:  evaporative cooling and hydronic radiant floor heating. 
 
Evaporative cooling is used extensively in desert climates and has one of the lowest operating costs of any 
type of cooling system.  It is also frequently used to cool large spaces that would be uneconomical to cool in 
any other fashion.  If the acceptable space cooling temperature in the gym can be raised from 75oF to 80oF, it 
will be practical to use single-stage evaporative coolers to cool the space.  With the increased air quantities 
that are required with evaporative cooling, there will be good air motion through the space, contributing to a 
sense of cooling comfort by the occupants. 
 
Two possible location options are available for the evaporative cooling units.  One option is to locate the 
units in the attic above the gym and draw air in through the existing attic ventilation louvers.  Supply 
ductwork would be provided in the attic to connect to new supply diffusers at the ceiling of the gym 
(consideration was given to reusing the historic fan units at the ceiling as supply air diffusers, but with the air 
quantities required, the historic fan units are too small and would be quite noisy).  Support structures and 
catwalks would have to be provided to install and service the units in the attic.  The other option is to locate 
the units in the third floor storage rooms flanking the stage (Rooms 301 and 302).  Openings in the outside 
walls would have to be provided to install the units from the outside and to provide outside air to the units 
through louvers installed in the openings.  Supply air would be introduced into the gym through grilles 
mounted high on the east wall.  In both cases, relief air pathways would need to be provided for the 
evaporative coolers.  The historic furnace air openings into the gym can function as relief air outlets.  
Plenums or ducts connecting the furnace air openings with exterior louvers or with the spaces under the 
north and south wings would need to be provided to complete the relief air pathways to the building exterior. 
 The relief air openings will be provided with automatic dampers that will open when the evaporative coolers 
are running and will close when they are shut down.  This eliminates the need to manually open and close 
doors or windows to create relief air routes for the evaporative coolers. 
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One of the drawbacks of using any type of forced air heating in a space with a high ceiling is that hot air will 
collect at the ceiling of the space, leaving the zone between the floor and 8 feet above the floor relatively 
cold.  Also, with higher than normal temperature air in the upper part of the space, the temperature difference 
between the inside and outside of the building is increased, resulting in additional heat loss.  Both of these 
issues were addressed historically in the Auditorium building by installing destratification fan units at the 
ceiling to force the warm air back down to the floor level where is was needed.  To avoid hot air 
stratification problems, it is proposed that a hydronic (hot water) radiant floor heating system be 
implemented in the gym.  This type of system puts the heat where it is needed: at the floor level where the 
occupants are.  Because the main heating effect is radiant rather than convective, the air in the space is 
heated less than it would be with a forced air system.  Even though the air temperature is less than it would 
be normally, the occupants feel comfortable because they are receiving most of the heat radiantly (in the 
same fashion that a person feels warmer on a cold day when the sun is shining). Since the air is not being 
heated directly, very little (if any) stratification occurs.  Studies have shown that with radiant floor heating 
systems in spaces with high ceilings, the temperature difference between the air one foot above the floor and 
the air at the ceiling is in the range of 2oF.  With a lower space temperature and little or no stratification, 
heating energy savings will be substantial compared to a conventional forced air heating system. 
 
A radiant floor heating system can be incorporated into restoration work that is done to the floor in the gym. 
 To increase the control responsiveness of the radiant floor and to mitigate heat loss out of the bottom and 
sides of the floor, it is recommended that rigid insulation be installed on top of the existing concrete floor 
slab under any new wooden floor that will be installed.  The insulation can be channelled and the hot water 
piping (cross-linked polyethylene) for the radiant floor can be installed in the insulation channels directly 
below the wooden subfloor material.  Heat for the radiant floor system will be provided by hot water boilers 
located in a boiler room located in the area under the reconstructed stage.  Since it is directly connected to 
the gym area, the stage area can be cooled and heated by the evaporative coolers and radiant floor heating 
system serving the gym proper. 
 
During the cooling season, ventilation for the gym and stage will be provided by the evaporative coolers.  
The controls can be configured such that during occupied hours, the evaporative cooler fans would run 
continuously and during unoccupied hours, the evaporative cooler fans would run only when the thermostat 
called for cooling.  Because the outside air quantities that the evaporative coolers supply to the space are 
considerably larger than that required by ASHRAE 6279 it is recommended that a separate ventilation 
system, sized only as large as need be for ventilation air, be provided in the gym for the heating season.  This 
system would consist of a propane-fired makeup air unit, located in the attic space above the gym.  Although 
they were too small for the evaporative cooler supply air, the historic ceiling fan units in the gym are large 
enough to supply tempered ventilation air into the gym space.  The heating ventilation unit would operate 
during occupied hours and would be shut down during unoccupied hours. 
 
The other major areas of the building that need to be conditioned are the existing north wing, some of the 
rooms in the existing west wing (Rooms 201 and 202), some of the rooms in the existing east wing (Rooms 
204, 205, 208, and 209), and the reconstructed south wing.  Since it appears that these spaces will be 
primarily office, visitor contact, and support spaces, it is recommended that air-cooled packaged air 
conditioning units be implemented to provide cooling to these spaces for maximum comfort and temperature 
control.  To preserve the historic scene on the exterior of the building as much as possible, each air 
conditioning unit should be equipped with centrifugal fan condensing sections so that the entire air 
conditioning unit can be located inside the building envelope.  This eliminates having any type of air 

                                                      
 79 ASHRAE 62-89, Ventilation for Acceptable Indoor Air Quality 
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conditioning equipment visible outside the building, but necessitates the installation of louvers in the 
building walls for the condensing air to enter and exit through. 
 
The air conditioning unit for the north wing and Rooms 204 and 205 can be located in a room in the space 
under the reconstructed stage.  The air conditioning unit for the south wing and Rooms 208 and 209 can be 
located in a similar space.  Condenser air for both of these units can be provided through louvers located in 
the historic window openings communicating with the space under the stage on the east face of the building. 
 Supply and return air ductwork for the north and south wings can be routed in the crawlspaces under the 
wings, with floor mounted supply and return air grilles serving the spaces above.  The air conditioning unit 
for the west wing can be located in Room 202, with the condenser air being provided through a louver 
located in the historic window opening in the same room.  Ventilation air will be provided to all spaces by 
the air conditioning units per ASHRAE 62. 
 
Heating for the spaces served by the packaged air conditioners will be provided by hot water heating coils at 
each unit.  Hot water for the heating coils will be provided by the same boilers that supply heat to the radiant 
floor heat system.  It is recommended that high efficiency propane-fired hot water boilers be implemented to 
further reduce heating energy consumption.  High efficiency boilers will also allow greater design flexibility 
for flue routing and combustion air pathways. 
 
A single 1,000 gallon propane tank is currently located near the northwest corner of the existing cyclone 
fence around the Auditorium building.  This existing propane tank should be relocated to a location near the 
new utility buiding.  Using the heating load calculated for envelope Alternative 4, it appears that a second 
1,000 gallon tank will need to be added to meet the load.  To avoid frequent refills, a third 1,000 gallon tank 
may be desirable to increase the propane storage capacity.  New underground gas piping would be run from 
the propane tank farm location to the boiler room location in the building. 
 
Toilet exhaust systems will be provided for all of the public and private restrooms in the building.  
Reconstructed gravity ventilators on the roofs of the north and south wings may be adapted to serve as toilet 
exhaust air outlets.  In addition to installing new HVAC systems in the building, removal of existing heating 
and cooling equipment, and associated piping needs to be done as part of any rehabilitation project. 
 
 
Plumbing Systems 
 
Historic Conditions. The original domestic water system consisted of galvanized steel piping.  Soil waste 
and vent piping in the building is cast iron, with galvanized steel being used for smaller diameter piping.  
Although there is evidence that domestic hot water was available during the historic period (hot water 
connections exist for the lavatories in Room 109), there is no evidence of the water heaters themselves. 
 
Plumbing fixtures that were installed in the north wing restroom (Room 109) were 4 water closets, 3 urinals, 
and 4 lavatories.  There was a mop sink installed in the janitor's closet (Room 108).  The north wing also 
contained a shower room, but it is not known how many showers were installed in the shower room.  It is 
assumed that the original south wing of the building had numbers and types of plumbing fixtures similar to 
the north wing. 
 
Existing Conditions. The only functional plumbing fixtures remaining in the Auditorium building are one 
water closet, one urinal, and one lavatory in the north wing restroom (Room 109).  All of the other historic 
plumbing fixtures have been removed at some time in the past.  There is a small electric tank-type water 
heater located in Room 109 adjacent to the lavatory to provide hot water for hand washing.  Most of the 
historic water and soil piping is extant in Room 109.  The water and sewer services in the building are 
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currently being supplied by a new water supply and sewage disposal system installed under the 1998 utility 
improvement construction contract (Package D164). 
 
Recommended Treatments. Because of the age of the piping, and the fact that much of the historic piping 
has already been removed from the building, it is recommended that all of the existing piping in the building 
be removed and replaced with new piping.  The configuration of the new piping will depend on new fixture 
layouts proposed for the restrooms.  In the case of the domestic water piping, all of it should be replaced 
with copper pipe and fittings.  The soil, waste, and vent piping should be replaced with cast iron no-hub pipe 
and fittings.  Domestic water will be supplied by the new water supply system and sewage will be directed 
into the new sewage disposal system. 
 
Depending on the amount of domestic water use, the water heater(s) may be electric or gas.  If the domestic 
water use is limited to lavatories in the private and public restrooms, it is recommended that small point-of-
use electric tank-type water heaters can be used.  If any showers are going to be installed for park staff use, a 
gas-fired tank-type water heater should be installed.  All new plumbing fixtures and fittings shall be water-
conserving (low-flow) type. 
 
 
Fire Protection Systems 
 
Historic Conditions. Historically the interior of the structure was protected by manual fire extinguishers.  
There is evidence of this in the historic photographs.  Exterior fire protection was provided by two.fire trucks 
(one of which is still extant at the Auditorium building site), and by six fire hydrants near the Auditorium 
and in adjacent barracks blocks. 
 
Existing Conditions. All of the historic fire extinguishers are gone, but their locations can still be 
ascertained.  At some time in the past, fire hose reels were installed on the walls in the northwest and 
southeast corners of the gym.  These fire hose reels are functional and are currently being fed with water 
from the domestic water system.  One historic, non-functional fire hydrant is located outside the cyclone 
fence west of the building and a second, functional fire hydrant is located inside the fence east of the 
building. 
 
As part of the 1998 utility improvement construction contract (Package D164), a complete dry pipe 
automatic sprinkler system was installed throughout the Auditorium building.  This system is fed by a 25 
horsepower electric fire pump and 20,000 gallon fire water reservoir located in a new utility building 
northeast of the Auditorium building.  Two new fire hydrants have been installed near the building inside the 
cyclone fence enclosure that are fed by the same fire pump and reservoir. 
 
Recommended Treatments. Portable fire extinguishers should be provided in strategic locations throughout 
the building.  When the south wing is reconstructed, it should be fully sprinklered.  Provision has been made 
in the new dry pipe sprinkler system to extend that system into the south wing for fire protection. 
 
 
ELECTRICAL SYSTEMS ANALYSIS 
 
Given the proposed adaptive re-use of the auditorium building in conjunction with the existing upgraded water 
system and potential additional future loads, it is anticipated that the existing 400 amp service will need to be 
upgraded to 600 amp service.  The existing circuit transformer cabinet (with meter) adjacent to the south wall 
of the building will need to be relocated when the south wing is reconstructed.  It is recommended that a new 
free-standing circuit transformer cabinet and meter be placed adjacent to the new utility service pole southeast 
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of the building.  From that location, overhead power can be brought in to the building as was done historically 
at or near the historic weatherhead location.  As an option, this building service could be underground if 
necessary working clearances over the roof of the south wing cannot be attained. 
 
All existing electrical wiring within the building should be replaced.  Some original lighting fixtures still exist 
on the exterior, including those at the west entrance and probably those at the upper corner of the east 
elevation.  Most of the auditorium/gymnasium ceiling fixtures are still in place although the majority of the 
wire guards are missing.  To the extent possible, it is recommended that historic lighting fixtures be 
rehabilitated and reinstalled.  For necessary replacements, it may be possible that similar designs are available. 
 These fixtures would be for general lighting of the historic space.  Supplementary lighting, specific exhibit 
lighting and task lighting should be incorporated into the exhibit, book sales and other modules as much as 
possible. 
 
The temporary fire and intrusion alarm system that was installed by the county prior to transfer of the building 
to the National Park Service was not intended to be a complete, permanent installation, but rather to provide a 
badly needed interim warning system.  A complete new fire detection system is recommended, with linkage to 
the fire suppression system.  A new intrusion alarm system with notification capabilities as required for site 
operations is recommended. 
 
The adaptive re-use will require new telecommunications systems in the building and will require additional 
dedicated phone lines than are currently in use. 
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TREATMENT AND USE 
 
ULTIMATE TREATMENT AND USE 
 
As defined in the General Management Plan, developed on the basis of the authorizing legislation, the 
structure will be used as an interpretive center.  The building exterior and the assembly room will be the 
primary focus for the visitor experience.  The assembly room will contain the visitor entrance and contact, and 
most importantly, exhibits relating the story of Manzanar.  An audio/visual theatre and a book sales area might 
also be included or could be locacted in other building spaces.  The assembly room and stage will be restored 
to the historic period.  The spaces in the north wing will be rehabilitated and used for visitor related or 
administrative functions. 
 
Also proposed in the GMP is reconstruction of the missing south wing of the building.  The NPS policy [NPS 
Management Policies--NPS-2] with regard to reconstructions is that “A vanished structure may be 
reconstructed if (1) reconstruction is essential to public understanding of the cultural associations of a park 
established for that purpose, (2) sufficient data exist to permit reconstruction on the original site with minimal 
conjecture, and (3) significant archeological resources will be preserved in situ or their research values will be 
realized through data recovery.” 
 
Along with historic photographs and other documentation, this south wing can be reconstructed so that its 
exterior appearance will be historically accurate.  Some documentation exists that indicates that the south wing 
interior was almost a mirror image of the north wing; however, the interior would be adaptively used so 
interior restoration is not necessary.  The missing wing exists as part of the VFW and American Legion Post 
in Lone Pine.  Although modified, it is believed that enough original integrity remains to provide 
corroboration of original construction.  The roof eave is identical to that of the north wing of the auditorium 
and the siding appears to be the same as the original of the auditorium building.  A paint examination could be 
done for confirmation.  Near the VFW/American Legion Posts is an original, but stuccoed, Manzanar barracks 
building. 
 
 
REQUIREMENTS FOR TREATMENT 
 
Legal and regulatory requirements include meeting the provisions of the USDI Rehabilitation Standards and 
Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings, NPS Cultural Resources Management Guideline (NPS-28), 
as well as building code, life safety, accessibility, fire protection, energy conservation and hazardous materials 
standards and regulations. 
 
 
Life Safety 
 
Requirements are governed by the Uniform Building Code (UBC) and the Life Safety Code (NFPA 101).  
The occupancy catagory is assembly, Type A-2.1 (UBC, Table 3-A).  The construction type is frame (Type V 
– Table 5-B).  This assembly occupancy is not permitted in a frame building unless it has one hour fire 
protection characteristics which can be achieved with a fully automatic fire suppression system.  (This 
exception having been used, the suppression system cannot be used again to offset other requirements).  An 
automatice fire suppression system has been installed. 
 
The greatest requirements for emergency egress are of course the public spaces.  The auditorium/gym contains 
7,680 square feet of floor space.  At 15 square feet per person, the basic occupancy load is 512 persons.  This 
will be increased for space used in either the north or south wing for the audio-visual presentation or book 
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sales.  For an audio-visual presentation space, the occupancy load is calculated using 7 square feet per person. 
 In either case the total for calculation of the required exit door width using say 1,000 square feet of the north 
wing would be 512 plus 1,000/7 equals 655 persons.  The required exit door width is 131 inches [(655)(0.2)] 
or approximately 11 feet.  Assuming three double doorways at the west entry and restoration of one double 
doorway exit from each of the northeast and southeast corners of the building, this requirement is more than 
met with the total of the five historic openings being approximately 25 feet.  The maximum travel distance to 
any exit may not be greater than 250 feet (UBC 1004.2.5.2.2). 
 
If the audio-visual space is in the north wing the required exit door width for 1,000 square feet of space used 
would be 28.6 inches from that space, with two exit paths required.  This indicates that each doorway from 
that space may be single leaf (i.e., double doorways are not required). 
 
Any other necessary exit path into the exit paths from the auditorium/gym, such as from the north or south 
wings or spaces in the stage section, will add to the volumes described above.  Even so it would appear that 
the five primary exit doorways (existing and restored) will meet the requirements (but see accessibility below). 
 There are (and would be) additional separate exits from both the north and south wings for uses in those 
spaces.  The requirements for those spaces will also need to be calculated when those uses are designed in 
detail. 
 
 
Accessibility 
 
Although the initial impression is of a flat site, there is a slope from west to east such that the grade at the east 
end of the building is more than three feet below the auditorium floor level.  Even at the west entrance there 
are two steps, totaling 15 and 1/2 inches, from the sidewalk level to that of the auditorium floor.  It will be 
necessary to construct fully accessible pathways to at least all of the primary entrances and the design must be 
as unintrusive as possible. 
 
Also the entrance doorways will need to be modified to provide the minimum required accessible width.  The 
historic double doorways are 60 inches in width, each leaf being 30 inches.  These doorways (two at the east 
side of the building and at least one at the west entrance) will need to be widened to a minimum of 34 inches 
for each leaf (68 inches for the opening).  This may be achievable, but most likely not more, at the two east 
entries because of the limiting width of the hallsways (halls 113 and 121).  An option may be to provide 
automatic operators so that both door leaves will open simultaineously.  Some doorways within the building 
will also need to be widened so that all spaces on the main floor will be accessible.  The spaces below the 
stage and those at stage level will not be accessible without the installation of an elevator or lift.  If means of 
access is not feasible or would be unnecessarily expensive, the uses of these spaces will need to be limited. 
 
Accessibility requirements are found in the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards (UFAS). 
 
 
Fire Protection 
 
As noted above, an automatic fire sprinkler system has been installed in the building at the time of preparation 
of this report.80  When this construction contract is completed, the building will be fully protected with a 

                                                      
80 Construction contract 1443-CX-8360-97-004, issued September 1997.  As of the end of June 1998, the sprinkler 

system installation was complete except for punch list items.  The utility building to the northeast of the auditorium 
had been constructed but the water supply well had not been drilled and the emergency generator was not installed, so 
the system was not yet functional. 
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permanent fire suppression system.  The fire suppression system was designed in accordance with NFPA 13.  
A temporary fire and intrusion alarm system was installed by the county prior to transfer of the building to the 
National Park Service.  This system was not intended to be a complete, permanent installation, but rather to 
provide a badly needed interim warning system. 
 
 
Energy Conservation 
 
Efficiency of the heating and air conditioning systems depends not only on the type of equipment used but 
also on the building envelop.  Reduction of heat gain and heat loss can be achieved relatively easily by 
insulating the auditorium/gym ceiling, providing double glazing in replacement windows, and insulating the 
roof and walls of the reconstructed south wing.  Where replacement ceilings are required, such as in the north 
wing and stage areas, these portions can also be insulated.  To preserve interior finishes which are in good 
condition, especially in the auditorium-gymnasium space, it is recommended that these finishes not be 
removed.  For the construction of shear walls or other structural and repair work, it is recommended that the 
exterior siding and sheathing be removed for access.  These sections of walls can then be insulated from the 
exterior.  Portions of some existing exterior walls may thus remain uninsulated but, as discussed in the 
mechanical systems analysis section, this will not have a significant effect on energy useage.  For a vapor 
retarder at the exterior walls, it is recommended that the interior paint system be specified to contain a vapor 
blocking component.  Also see the mechanical systems analysis section of this report for analysis of 
alternatives and for standards. 
 
 
Hazardous Materials 
 
The primary concern for construction and maintenance activities will be lead-containing paint.  Much historic 
material can be preserved, especially within the building interior, and can be refinished with new paint to 
provide encapsulation.  All construction and maintenance activities must be conducted in accordance with 
federal and state regulations for the handling of materials having lead containing finishes or for the disposal of 
materials having lead containing finishes. 
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Functional Requirements 
 
Exhibits.  The story of Manzanar will be the primary focus of the interpretive program.  Exhibits will be 
located in the auditorium/gymnasium space.  The historic sense of time and place relative to the exhibits will 
be the character of the auditorium/gymnasium restored to its historic period (1944-45).  Restoration of the 
stage is included in the restoration program.  It is suggested that one of the historic character defining features 
of this space were the benches for audience seating and that a small section of benches set before the stage be 
part of the exhibit concept.  The stage and seating could be used, not for the interpretive audio/visual program, 
but for presentations during special events.  One of the exhibits to be considered for building into the initial 
period is the historic camp fire truck which has been donated by the Bishop Fire Department and is now in the 
building.  Means of moving the truck in and out of the building needs to be provided, as well as constructing a 
section of the restored auditorium/gym floor with the strength necessary to support the truck.  In the future, if 
a demonstration block is reconstructed, consideration could also be given to reconstructing the simple camp 
fire department building, which was in Block 13, north of the auditorium, for display of the fire truck.  This 
would provide additional space in the auditorium for other exhibits. 
 
Audio/Visual.  Space for an introductory audio/visual presentation for visitors could be provided either in the 
auditorium/gym space or in one of the wings.  It is proposed that the space in the north wing that was the 
historic locker/shower rooms, or alternatively a portion of the south wing, would have the advantage of easier 
sound control than constructing a sound controlling enclosure in the auditorium/gym. 
 
Visitor Contact and Information.  This function should be in the auditorium/gym and can be combined with 
the book sales area. 
 
Book Sales.  In addition to a portion of the auditorium/gym for book sales, or alternatively in the north wing, 
space needs to be provided elsewhere in the building for storage of books and other items that will be offered. 
 Assuming that this function may be operated by a cooperating association, an office space should be provided 
as well. 
 
Shipping/Receiving Room.  A space will be needed for packing and unpacking of deliveries of books and 
other stock for the book sales and for supplies.  This space will also be needed for exhibit maintenance or 
replacement. 
 
Restrooms.  The minimum required numbers of fixtures is derived from the building occupancy. Part of the 
building is assembly and part is office occupancy.   The minimum required numbers of fixtures (from UBC) 
are:  
  
 Public restrooms — water closets = 5 men, 5 women 
              lavs = 5 men, 5 women 
 
 Staff restrooms — water closets = 2 men, 2 women 
              lavs = 1 men, 1 women 
 
Adjustments to the above minimums are made for the ratio of urinals to water closets in the men’s restroom(s) 
and to provide a higher ratio of water closets in women’s restroom than men’s.  In the case of the 5 water 
closets for the public men’s room, 2 of those can be urinals (not more than 50%).  For the women’s room, the 
number of water closets should be increased above the minimum if possible.  A minimum of one additional is 
suggested.  Combining the public and staff restrooms would be more efficient utilization of space but is 
usually not desireable.  Note that these are minimum requirements found in UBC.  Other standards may 
recommend a greater number of fixtures, especially for public uses. 
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Visitor count information for other sites in the area indicate a higher visitation level than previously estimated. 
 Tour buses will also be expected to significanly contribute to the visitor load.  The above discussed minimum 
requirements tend to be inadequate for flucuations generated by tour bus groups, special events and periods of 
high visitation.  It is suggested that rest room facilities should be provided at greater than minimum 
requirements.  However, this would severely impact the available space in the building, particularly for staff 
offices, described below.  Other alternatives for public restrooms should be studied.  One possibility would be 
a comfort station adjacent to the visitor parking, say southeast of the auditorium, to handle tour buses and 
periods of high visitation.81 
 
First Aid.  Provide a small room generally convenient to both the public and staff areas but private for 
emergency and first aid needs. 
 
Staff Offices.  Personnel will include the superintendent, an administrative technician, a clerk-typist, park 
rangers (one supervisory plus 2 full-time and 4 seasonal), and maintenance staff (one supervisory plus 4 full 
time and 4 seasonal).82  In the park ranger catagory, the numbers of interpretive and law enforcement 
personnel are not specified.  The total staff proposed is 11 full-time and 8 seasonal.  The guideline for office 
space is found in the NPS Space Management Guideline which states that office space “...should not exceed 
an average of 125 square feet per person for the primary office area, plus 22 per cent for office support 
space.”83  Office support space means activities that include library or reference space, meeting rooms, file and 
storage space.  The maximum area would thus be 2,897 square feet for a total staff of 19 persons [(19)(125) + 
22%].  This amount of space will not be available even with the reconstructed south wing.  Using only the 11 
full time staff the maximum area would be 1,678 square feet [(11)(125) + 22%].  The available area is 
estimated to be in the range of 1,300 to 1,700 square feet; therefore there will need to be a maximizing of open 
and shared space.  Ultimately, additional space may be necessary at another location. 
 
Other.  Janitorial, supplies storage (office and rest room) and mechanical equipment. 
 
 
TREATMENT ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
Reconstruction of South Wing 
 
Functional requirements for building use as outlined in the GMP show the need for the space that would be 
provided by the south wing.  If the south wing was not reconstructed, all of the visitor related activities as well 
as the interpretive exhibits would need to be accommodated in the auditorium space.  This would result in 
reduced space for exhibits or recreation of part of the historic seating, or both, and public restrooms would be 
                                                      
81 The present visitation at the Interagency Visitor Center in Lone Pine, California exceeds 250,000 per year and is 

projected to be double that in the future.  This visitor center is a partnership of eight agencies – Inyo County, Mono 
County, California Fish and Game, California Department of Transportaion (CALTRANS), Los Angeles Department 
of Water and Power (LADWP), U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Bureau of Land Management and the National Park 
Service.  Fifteen buses per day are common.  On the weekend of September 19 and 20, 1998, the center had 1,400 
visitors on each day.  U.S. Highway 395 (presently being widened from two to four lanes) currently serves 5-6 million 
people per year, 85% recreation oriented.  Sixty-five per cent of the traffic is from southern California, with a 
population of approximately 14 million,  This population is forecasted to reach 15 million by the year 2010.  The 
annual Manzanar Pilgrimage event has been attended by 3,500 people.  (Information provided by Superintendent to 
Robert L. Carper on September 24, 1998). 

82 Draft GMP and EIS, December 1995, pg. 32. 
83 Space Management Guideline, NPS-89, Release No. 1, National Park Service, October 1994. 
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minimal.  There would also be insufficient space for the proposed level of staffing, probably requiring 
additional space elsewhere. 
 
 
Siding 
 
Preservation versus replacement of the siding was one of the concerns from the outset of NPS management of 
the site.  As part of the recent repainting work some replacement was done in combination with application of 
a stabilizing primer for weathered wood as a potential means of preserving historic fabric.  The effectiveness 
of this stabilizing primer can be monitored in the interim period before building restoration and adaptive use.  
In conjuction with this treatment, siding can be replaced over time on an as-required basis.  However, because 
of extreme deterioration at the west wall and the structural work that will be necessary on all of the building, 
most of the siding will probably be replaced. 
 
 
Windows 
 
The conclusion reached after evaluation in this study is that most windows should be replaced.  The wood 
members are extremely weathered causing reduction of wood strength, loss of cross-section and poor paint 
bonding characteristics.  Many of the sash frame members are warped as well causing loss of weather 
protection and glazing failures. 
 
 
Doors 
 
Most historic doors are missing or in poor condition.  The historic doors were not durable and provided poor 
security because of their lightweight construction.  For replacement doors, and for repair where possible, 
design and construction provisions for better durability, security and accessibility should be incorporated. 
 
Reconstruction of Stage:  The modifications made in  the 1950s are not significant to the building history and 
the original stage configuration should be reconstructed to properly interpret the site history. 
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Auditorium/Gymnasium Floor 
 
Alternatives for reconstructing this floor to its historic appearance are (1) to remove the existing concrete slab 
and earth fill (ca. 1954) and reconstruct the floor system similar to the oriiginal, but with increased load 
carrying capacity, or (2) to retain the existing concrete slab and construct a reproduction wood floor using the 
slab for support.  The second alternative is recommended, with advantages discussed below. 
 
 
Auditorium/Gymnasium Ceiling 
 
Replacement with a material similar to the original would not provide needed improvement of fire resistance 
of the building or provide rigidity for support of ceiling insulation.  Gypsum board is recommended even 
though the additional weight will require strengthening of the ceiling framing system but other factors also 
contribute to the need for this strengthening. 
 
 
Insulation of Walls 
 
Because of the good condition of the interior wall boarding in the auditorium-gymnasium space, it is 
important to disturb this material as little as possible.  As described in the mechanical systems analysis, the 
effect of insulation versus no insulation in some of the walls is not as significant as ceiling insulation or 
insulating window glazing.  However, it will be necessary to remove siding and sheathing on many large wall 
sections for structural or other work, which will permit installation of insulation from the exterior.  This can be 
unfaced batt insulation.  It is suggested that a vapor-retardant paint system be used on the interior wall 
boarding along with some means of sealing the joints of this interior board finish.  For the in-fill of the east 
stage wall and for the south wing reconstruction, batt insulation and a standard vapor retarder film can be 
installed. 
 
 
Type of HVAC Equipment and Locations 
 
Locating cooling equipment in the attic was considered to mimimize visible elements on the building exterior 
and to minimize ducting.  However, this alternative was rejected because it would require large ceiling grilles 
for air supply as well as more structural reinforcing.  Ceiling grills would probably be more visually intrusive 
than wall grilles because the large expanse of ceiling draws attention to it.  Heating for the auditorium space is 
proposed to be a radiant grid in the floor.  Mechanical equipment for the north and south wings as well as the 
auditorium space is proposed to be located in the lower level spaces below the stage  The mechanical systems 
analysis of this report describes advantages and disadvantages of other alternative heating and air-conditioning 
systems. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDED TREATMENTS 
 
Roofing 
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The timing for replacement of the roofing will be influenced by the design selected for providing the needed 
resistance in the roof system for earthquake loading.  The preferred method would be to install truss bracing in 
the attic in conjunction with a full auditorium ceiling diaphragm.  This approach would permit retention of the 
existing roofing for as long as the system remains watertight.  When replacement is necessary, new roofing 
should be a black mineral surfaced roll roofing similar to the original.  It is also important to maintain 
flashings to prevent entry of water into the walls. 
 
 
Gutters and Downspouts 
 
Although the building did not originally have gutters and downspouts, preservation of siding and windows 
would be enhanced by retention of the existing gutters and downspouts, with repairs and improvement, then 
future replacement when needed.  The most important locations are the main roof eaves to reduce splashback 
from the wing roofs on windows and siding. 
 
 
Exterior Siding 
 
The majority of the west elevation siding, and large sections of siding on other elevations, will require 
replacement in-kind following structural work.  Repainting should be done in the correct historic color 
following a paint analysis. 
 
 
Main (West) Entrance Restoration 
 
Very little needs to be done to restore the historic appearance of the west entrance, as this portion of the 
building has not been significantly modified: 
 
• Remove in-fill at west wall to expose historic columns (see historic photos). 
 
• Install reproduction wood panel doors at the three original entrance openings.  The replacements should be 

constructed and detailed in such a manner that would improve security and longevity without 
compromising historic appearance.  (Also see doors below.) 

 
 
Stage Restoration 
 
Reconstruction of the original stage and the restoration of the exterior east elevation of the building to its 
original appearance is proposed in the GMP.  Based on historic photo documentation and physical evidence, 
the stage and associated stair access can be restored with minimal conjecture. 

 
• Remove existing in-fill wall framing and sheathing at the east auditorium\gym wall and at north and south 

wall of the existing vehicle entry 118. 
 
• Remove concrete ramp down to historic concrete level in the center section of the original stage space (the 

present ramp, space No. 118).  Preserve the historic concrete slab if possible. 
 
• In-fill and blend new exterior wall with existing east wall to restore historic stage back wall. 
 
• Restore and reestablish historic stage opening. 
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• Restore and reestablish historic stage floor. 
 
• Reestablish historic stair access on both north and south sides of stage. 
 
 
Auditorium/Gym Floor Restoration 
 
The existing (ca. 1954) concrete slab is in good condition.  Rather than removal of the slab and the earth fill to 
reconstruct the wood floor framing in its original configuration, there would be advantages in retaining the 
concrete.  A radiant heating grid could be installed along with a new flooring system on sleepers which would 
have the same appearance as the original but would have greater strength as well as offering a good radiant 
heating system.  Although most of the perimeter of the existing slab will need to be removed and replaced for 
structural work, the overall cost may be less than demolition of all of the existing slab and reconstruction of 
the former type framing system..  This would also still provide space for electrical conduit for exhibit power 
and lighting. 
 
The most prudent approach to restoration of the auditorium/gym floor would be to leave the concrete slab in 
place and construct the new wood floor framing on treated wood sleepers.  Not only are there economic 
advantages to this approach, but the concrete would act as an effective termite barrier in this area, though other 
perimeter locations would still require measures to protect the structure from termites. To prevent termite 
access to the flooring system, termite shields will be necessary at the perimeter of the floor and all joints in the 
concrete slab. 
 
 
South Wing 
 
Review of the functional requirements for operation of the facility indicates that reconstruction of the south 
wing will be needed to provide adequate space for necessary staff and public functions.  As shown in the 
accompanying concept drawings, public restrooms and staff operations or visitor related functions would be 
the most appropriate uses for the reconstructed adaptively used space.  The exterior would be reconstructed in 
its historic detail but the interior would be organized and constructed for present day functions.  Except for the 
relationships to exterior door and window openings, there is no need to reconstruct the historic interior wall 
configurations.  It is proposed that the public restrooms be in the section that historically was the health unit, 
which extended beyond the east end of the main building, to minimize disturbance in the interpretive areas 
while providing the greatest convenience to the visitor parking and bus drop-off areas.  There is adequate 
information from historic photos, documentary data, the existing north wing and the remaining fabric of the 
south wing in Lone Pine for comparison to restore the exterior historic apperarance of the south wing. 
 
 
Window Restoration 
 
Most of the exterior surfaces of the the wood sash members are too deteriorated to retain paint and in addition 
many are too warped to be usable.  By salvaging usable sash members and glass, it may be possible to 
reassemble some units from original material.  (All repair work and disposal of materials must be managed in 
accordance with federal, state and local regulations pertaining to lead paint).  The recommended primary 
approach is replacement along with possible design modifications to provide other protection and energy 
saving benefits.  Additionally, the sash will require flashing and weather-sealing detailed in such a manner so 
as not to affect the historic appearance.  There also appears to be historic hardware that could be rehabiliatated 
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and reinstalled in new or rehabiliatated operable sash.  The following factors should be considered in 
determination of the final treatment approach: 
 
• New glazing of tempered or an impact resistant material (polycarbonate glazing) will provide protection of 

the building interior and its contents from vandalism. 
 
• New UV blocking glass will provided protection of exhibit items and furnishings from ultraviolet 

degradation. 
 
• New insulating glazing will reduce heat gain and consequently provide energy savings.  An alternative 

would be separate interior mounted glazing panels.  However, the thickness of the sash members is 
adequate for insulating glazing units without adversely affecting the historic appearance of the windows 
and this would therefore be the preferred approach.  Analysis of the relative benefit of insulating glazing in 
terms of cooling load energy use reduction is found in the mechanical systems analysis section of this 
report. 

 
Salvage all wood sash and determine which units have enough integrity to warrent preservation. 
 
Salvage all operable hardware and rehabilitate as required. 
 
Install new or rehabilitated window sash so that they can be removed.  New units, fixed or operable, will 
require flashing and weatherstripping. 

 
 
Door Restoration 
 
Replacement doors that match their historic counterparts in appearance will have to be detailed in such a 
manner that they can withstand the rigors of daily use and also be resistant to break-ins.  Some doorways will 
require widening, also with new doors, for accessibility.  Most hardware will need to be replaced to meet 
accessibility standards.  Repair and refinishing of historic doors will need to be accommplished in accordance 
with lead paint regulations. 
 
• Salvage all historic doors and panic hardware. 
 
• Install new doors and frames where required.  New exterior units, fixed or operable, will require flashing 

and weatherstripping. 
 
• Install new historically-compatible lock-sets and panic hardware on all doors that require security and are 

required emergency exits.  Provide accessible hardware as required. 
 
 
Ceilings 
 
For replacement ceilings, especially in the auditorium/gym, the new material/system will need to provide an 
appearance in texture, configuration and color similar to the historic as well as improve the fire resistance of 
the building.  A more rigid material is also needed to prevent sagging (“oil-canning”) of the ceiling finish, 
especially with the addition of insulation.  Gypsum board will meet these requirements, although it may be 
possible to use other lighter-weight materials to achieve these requirements.  (A fire-rated separation is not 
required between the auditorium and attic spaces.)  Also the acoustical qualities of the material or its surface 
treatment need to be considered for the assembly room. 
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Interior Walls 
 
Preserve interior wall boarding to the extent possible.  The most important spaces are the 
auditorium/gymnasium and the west entrance, which are fortunately in relatively good condition.  To avoid 
loss of historic interior fabric, the portions of these walls exposed to the exterior but not requiring exterior 
siding removal for structural or other work can be left uninsulated. 
 
Much of the stage space will need to receive replacement boarding, probably including extant original 
material that has a build-up of bird droppings.  Before final action a test cleaning panel is recommended 
followed by lab tests to determine if detrimental chemicals remain in the paint or wood. 
 
When the vehicle entrance through the former stage space was constructed in the 1950s, the stage side of the 
remaining and new walls were covered with flooring from the auditorium floor.  When this material is 
removed for restoration of the stage, samples need to be salvaged for the building artifact collection. 
 
In the spaces of the north wing and adjacent to the stage, remove post-historic period wall materials, replace 
deteriorated or damaged material, but otherwise retain as much sound original material as possible. 
 
 
Finishes 
 
Repaint the interior in its original color scheme.  As described above the primary scheme in the 
auditorium/gymnasium was a dark brown color on the first 10 board courses (to approximately 50-inches 
above the floor), medium beige the next 10 courses (to 100-inches), and light beige the rest of the way up to 
the ceiling line.  It appears that these colors were used in other parts of the building as well.  A paint analysis 
will be needed to determine the exact color hues.  Wood floors will need a durable clear finish. 
 
 
Compatible Exhibit Entrance and Floor Modifications 
 
A compatibly designed garage type door should replace the existing rolling door at the exterior wall, 
southwest corner of the auditorium/gym.  The new floor in this area will need to be designed to accomodate 
the weight of the historic fire truck.  If in the future an alternative means of protecting and exhibiting the fire 
truck is provided, such as reconstruction of the fire station in Block 13, the door could be removed and the 
wall restored to its original appearance.  Alternatively, these provisions would not be required if it is 
determined to protect and exhibit the fire truck at another location prior to adaptive use of this building. 
 
The space toward the west end of the north wing which now has a concrete floor has double door access both 
to the auditorium/gymnasium space and the exterior.  These are historic double door openings.  It is 
recommended that this space be used for shipping and receiving and a work space.  This will provide a work 
space for setting up, changing and maintenance of exhibits.  The double doors should be adequate for moving 
exhibit components in and out of the exhibit areas. 
 
 
Exhibit Systems 
 
Because the auditorium/gymnasium space is the primary significant interior space (and perhaps more 
significant than the exterior of the building) it is recommended that exhibit systems be designed as units 
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independent of the building, and not more than 8 feet in height when open above, or 10 feet when enclosure is 
needed.  Enclosed or partially enclosed modules can be acoustically designed for incorporation of interactive 
interpretive components, such as oral histories, videos and computer-driven programs.  Electrical service can 
be provided by a floor outlet grid for each module for lighting, special exhibit case climate control, audio-
visual and other equipment. 
 
 
Hazardous Materials 
 
Prepare a management plan for lead containing finishes. 
 
 
Pest Management 
 
Prepare an integrated pest management plan for the site.  Determine what additional inspections and testing 
are necessary.  Critical treatment needs are for termites and removal of bee nests in building walls. 
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Visitor Circulation and Site Restoration 
 
As proposed in the General Management Plan, it is appropriate to provide visitor parking east of the building 
(nearest the entrance to the historic site from U. S. Highway 395) because of the interpretation of the historic 
context of the camp to the west of the building.  This however presents the difficult practical problem of 
enticing visitors to walk around the building from the parking to the historic main entrance on the west side.  
And this will be particularly undesirable for people needing an easily accessible entrance.  The main west 
entrance and the two east entrances, even though the later were historically secondary, will be equally 
important for emergency egress, accessibility and visitor convenience.  Therefore, it is proposed that site 
design incorporate the concept of shaping the ground with earth fill to provide ramping with hard walking 
surfaces toward the entrances with a minimum need for handrails to minimize the visual modifications to the 
site.  Ground surface drainage must still be accommodated as well. 
 
Because the site was historically dirt without any plantings except at the west entrance, walkways to and 
around the building should be surfaced with a material that will be of the same color as the surrounding dirt 
grounds.  However, the concrete entrance walks and planting beds at the west entrance are recommended to be 
restored and replanted, and a replacement flagpole installed. 
 
 
Structural 
 
Provide additional earthquake resistance analysis for a performance based design to determine the feasibility 
of providing an acceptable degree of building protection beyond life-safety requirements but within an 
acceptable level of fabric intervention.  See the “Structural Analysis and Findings” section earlier in this report 
and the seismic evaluation, Appendix J, for more complete descriptions of the recommended treatments for 
the structural systems. 
 
Roofs and Auditorium Ceiling. Modify roof trusses to relieve overstressed members and joint connections. 
 
Provide roof bracing or diaphragms to resist lateral (earthquake) loading.  For the auditorium-gymnasium 
roof, the preferred method would be a truss bracing system rather than a roof surface diaphragm.  This would 
avoid the difficulty of preparing or removing the asphalt coating on the historic sheathing to receive a 
plywood diaphragm.  See the seismic evaluation (Appendix J) for additional information. 
Increase load-carrying capacity of auditorium-gymnasium ceiling framing by sistering new joists along 
existing joists. 
 
Provide diaphragm bracing in the plane of the auditorium-gymnasium ceiling.  It is proposed that this be 
integrated with the preferred roof bracing approach as described in the seismic evaluation. 
 
Walls. Remove deteriorated wood at bases of truss columns and replace with new wood or with concrete 
pedestals.  Anchor the truss columns to their footings. 
 
Eliminate soil to wood contact along the interior face of the auditorium walls and walls of the north wing 
below the concrete floor slabs and along the exterior face of building walls. 
 
Provide shear wall capacity to provide resistance to lateral (earthquake) loading. Sections of walls need to be 
designed as either diaphragm shear walls or with braced frames.  New concrete grade beams or enlarged 
footings at the base of these walls may be needed. 
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Provide bracing for the cripple walls in the north wing crawl space.  The new shear walls or diagonal bracing 
in the north wing can be designed to also brace the crawl space. 
Where the top plates of the walls are discontinuous at the ends of the auditorium trusses, install light gauge 
steel straps across the discontinuities.  Connect the roof system bracing or diaphragm to the diaphragm chords 
and struts. 
 
Floors. Investigate the north wing floor framing for rot or insect damage and install new framing members as 
needed to improve its load-carrying capacity. 
 
Install light gauge  beam-to-post and post-to-foundation connectors in the north wing crawl space. 
 
Foundations. Install new concrete grade beams or enlarged footings at the base of new shear walls or new 
braced frames. 
 
Provide means of interconnecting footings of the north wing, if required by further analysis, by either bolting 
continuous steel members to the footings or installing a slab-on-grade around, and doweled into, the footings. 
 
 
Mechanical Systems 
 
Building Envelope.  The walls, floors, and roofs of the building should be insulated as much as is practical 
without removal or destruction of the interior finishes in the auditorium-gymnasium section.  Insulated 
window glazing units are also recommended. 
 
Heating, Ventilating, and Air Conditioning System.  The systems recommended for implementation are: 
 
• Single-stage evaporative coolers and hydronic (hot water) radiant floor heating system for the gym and 

stage areas, with a propane-fired makeup air unit for ventilation in the heating season. 
 
• Air cooled package air conditioners with hot water heating coils for the remaining spaces in the building 

to be conditioned. 
 
• High efficiency propane-fired hot water boilers to provide hot water for the radiant floor heating system 

and the hot water coils associated with the package air conditioners. 
 
• Toilet exhaust systems in all of the new restroom spaces. 
 
Plumbing Systems.  It is recommended that all of the piping in the building be replaced with new piping.  
New domestic water heaters should be provided as necessary.  All new plumbing fixtures and fittings shall 
be water-conserving (low-flow) type. 
 
Fire Protection Systems.  When the south wing is reconstructed, it should be fully sprinklered, with its 
sprinkler system connected to the existing (1998) dry pipe sprinkler system in the Auditorium building. It is 
recommended that portable fire extinguishers be installed in strategic locations throughout the building. 
 
 
Electrical Systems 
 
Upgrade site power supply as required.  Relocate the circuit transformer cabinet and meter to the new utility 
pole location and provide an overhead drop to the building at the historic location. 



Project Phasing 

 163

 
Replace all wiring systems within the building. 
 
Restore historic exterior and auditorium-gymnasium space lighting fixtures or replace as required with similar 
fixtures for general lighting. 
 
Provide separate supplementary lighting, specific exhibit lighting and task lighting incorporated into exhibit, 
book sales and other functional modules as much as possible. 
 
Provide a new fire detection system, a new intrusion detection system and new telecommunications systems. 
 
 
Evaluation of Effects 
 
Reconstruction of South Wing.  An accurate reconstruction of the exterior can be accomplished from 
historic documentation.  The space is required for operation and interpretation of the historic site. 
 
Reconstruction of Stage and Auditorium/Gym Floor Restoration.  Accurate reconstruction can be 
accomplished from historic documentation and physical evidence.  This will restore the most important 
interior space to its period of significance. 
 
Siding Replacement.  Much of the siding is badly deteriorated and warped.  All of the original siding is 
contaminated with lead containing paint.  Siding replacement will probably be necessary on wall sections 
where structural improvements are required.  Replacement of siding on other wall areas on an as-required 
basis will also be a loss of historic fabric but this needs to be considered as a cyclic renewal of the exterior 
clading of the building.  Good maintenance will reduce the frequency of needed replacement in the future. 
 
Windows.  Loss of historic fabric will occur by replacement of most windows but this cannot be avoided 
because of extreme deterioration of the originals. 
 
Doors.  Loss of historic fabric will occur by replacement of most still extant exterior doors required because 
of deterioration, damage and requirements for durability, security and accessibility. 
 
Replacement of Ceiling Materials.  Loss of historic fabric will occur by replacement of most ceiling 
materials required because of deterioration and the need to improve the fire resistance of the building.  The 
replacement material can be finished to have an appearance similar to the historic ceilings. 
 
 
PROJECT PHASING 
 
Site water supply and fire suppression has been undertaken as a first phase, and is nearly complete. 
 
To the extent that construction funding may need to be done in small increments, at least initially, high priority 
work recommended includes: 
 
1. Structural work, especially repair of rotted column bases and seismic strengthening, and exterior 

weatherization. 
 
2. Completion of exterior repairs and restoration. 
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3. Basic electrical system upgrading and installation of permanent fire and intrusion detection system. 
 
4. Windows and exterior doors. 
 
 
ESTIMATED CONSTRUCTION COST 
 
Rehabilitation of the building as described and recommended in this report is: 
 
 Structural and exterior rehabilitation   $    657,500 
 Interior rehabilitation, including stage reconstruction       522.300 
 South wing reconstruction             279,300 
 Mechanical systems             417,400 
 Electrical systems            182,400 
 Total, net construction, 1998 dollars   $ 2,058,900 
 Inflation to 2001 (4% per year)           257,100 
            $ 2,316,000 
 
This includes restoration of historic site features at the west entrance and site work for accessible entrances. 
The sub-catagories above are not intended to be compared to any previous estimates because the items 
included in each sub-catagory will not be the same.  The above does not include furnishings, exhibits, visitor 
parking or other structures. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION AND STUDIES 
 
1. Paint analysis to determine historic period exterior and interior colors. 
 
2. HABS documentation of VFW/American Legion Post in Lone Pine, which consists of the extant portions 

of the original south wing of the Auditorium. 
 
3. Future documentation of the record of treatment. 
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Auditorium, Sheet 1 of 16
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Ground Level Floor Plan, Sheet 2 of 16
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Second Level Floor Plan, Sheet 3 of 16
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Third Level Floor Plan, Sheet 4 of 16
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Reflected Auditorium Ceiling Plan, Sheet 5 of 16
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Auditorium Attic Plan, Sheet 6 of 16
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Auditorium Roof Plan, Sheet 7 of 16
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North and East Elevations, Sheet 8 of 16
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South and West Elevations, Sheet 9 of 16
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Section A, Sheet 10 of 16
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Sections B and C, Sheet 11 of 16
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Window Details, Sheet 12 of 16
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Door Elevations, Sheet 13 of 16
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Proposed Floor Plan, Alternative 1, Ground Level, Sheet 14 of 16
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Proposed Floor Plan, Alternative 2, Ground Level, Sheet 15 of 16
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Proposed Floor Plan, Alternative 3, Ground Level, Sheet 16 of 16
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Vacaville, CA, November 22, 1996. 
 
Lead-based paint:  Lead-Based Paint Survey, Cal Inc., Vacaville, CA, contract order No. 1443PX8000-97-117, April 14, 
1997. 
 
FEMA 178/June 1992 Seismic Evaluation, Manzanar Auditorium Building, ... Final Report, Martin/Martin, Inc., Wheat 
Ridge, CO, December 1998. 
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APPENDIX A: LIST OF STRUCTURAL MATERIALS 
 
 

Excerpt from “List of Materials for Community Facilities, Manzanar Relocation Center,” prepared by 
the Farm Security Administration, August 5, 1942. 
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APPENDIX B: ENGINEERING SECTION, 1946 
 
 

Excerpts from the “Engineering Section,” by Arthur M. Sandridge and Oliver E. Sisler, Manzanar 
Relocation Authority, February 1946, part of the War Relocation Authority, Final Report, Manzanar 
War Relocation Center, “Chapter 2, WRA Construction, Part I, New Construction, B. Gymnasium-

Auditorium.”  Document on file in National Archives. 
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APPENDIX C: HABS DRAWINGS 
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APPENDIX D: SCHEMATIC DRAWINGS 
 
 
Conceptual sketches of site and building use prepared for site utilities planning, DSC, October 1996. 
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APPENDIX E: DOOR AND WINDOW ANALYSIS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
Door and window analysis and repair recommendations, prepared by Gordon White, National Park Service, Presidio 
Project Office, San Francisco, August 1996. 
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APPENDIX F: FURNACE FLUE AND VENT DETAILS 
 
 
Details of furnace flue enclosures and vent details in Projection Room and furnace rooms originally constructed in part 
with asbestos materials, recorded by George Voyta, August 1996, before asbestos abatement work. 
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APPENDIX G: EXISTING FINISHES SCHEDULE 
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APPENDIX H: MECHANICAL SYSTEMS DATA 
 

 
Mechanical Systems - General 
 
The following items represent general information and requirements pertinent to the analysis and design of mechanical 
systems and related building components for the Manzanar Auditorium building. 
 
Climatic Data  Climatic data used for calculating space cooling and heating loads for the Manzanar Auditorium 
building are as follows: 
 
 Design conditions for Independence, California (taken from ASHRAE Publication SPCDX, "Climatic Data for 

Region X, Arizona, California, Hawaii, Nevada") - 
 
 Latitude -  36.8oN 
 Elevation - 3,950' 
 
 Winter Design - 
 
  Outdoor Temperature (0.2% Design) - 19oF 
  Indoor Temperature (office and support spaces) - 72oF 
  Indoor Temperature (gym and stage) - 65oF 
  Heating Degree Days - 3,932 
 
 Summer Design - 
 
  Outdoor Temperature, Dry Bulb (0.5% Design) - 101oF 
  Mean Coincident Outdoor Wet Bulb Temperature (0.5% Design) - 60oF 
  Indoor Temperature (office and support spaces) - 75oF 
  Indoor Temperature (gym and stage) - 80oF 
 
Domestic Water Conservation  Plumbing fixtures and fittings shall be selected to comply with the following criteria 
(NPS Tech Bulletin 92-1 recommendations) to insure water and energy conservation: 
 
 Water Closets -                1.6 gallons per flush 
 Urinals -                           1.0 gallons per flush 
 Showerheads -                 2.5 gallons per minute at 80 psi 
 Kitchen Faucets -             2.2 gallons per minute at 60 psi 
 Lavatories (residential) - 2.2 gallons per minute at 60 psi  
 
Heating and Ventilating Systems  The design of the heating, ventilating, and air conditioning systems shall conform to 
the requirements of the 1997 Uniform Mechanical Code (UMC). 
 
Plumbing and Domestic Water Heating Systems  The design of the plumbing and domestic water heating systems shall 
conform to the requirements of the 1997 Uniform Plumbing Code (UPC).  The building water supply shall be 
individually metered in accordance with NPS Staff Directive 78-10, which requires that the water service to all NPS 
buildings and other facilities be metered at the use point. 
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Photo 1. The Manzanar Auditorium-Gymnasium under construction.  View of southwest corner and south wing.  1944.  University of California at Los Angeles 
Collection. 
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Photo 2. Part of west end of building under construction showing roof trusses and framing at west entrance and second story projection room.  1944.  University 
of California at Los Angeles Collection. 
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Photo 3. Southwest corner of building under construction.  Main west entrance is at left with framing of projection room above it being assembled.  The extreme 
northwest corner of the south wing is at the lower right.  1944.  University of California at Los Angeles Collection. 
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Photo 4. View during construction of northwest corner of auditorium from the interior showing the westernmost roof truss in place.  The roof and ceiling 
framing has been installed to the next truss to the east.  1944.  University of California at Los Angeles Collection. 
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Photo 5. This group is probably the construction crew, who were camp internees, with what are presumed to be some of the camp administration officials in the 
center row.  Project Director Ralph Merritt is in the center of the middle row (sixth from right).  The group is at the northwest corner of the building.  May 1, 
1944.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 1277, courtesy Archie A Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
 
Toyo Miyatake became the official camp photographer and thus documented not only the construction of the auditorium, but many of the major activities that 
took place in the building, including high school graduation ceremonies and special events.  Most of the historic photographs included in this report were taken 
by Mr. Miyatake, with permission for their use and prints provided by Archie A. Miyatake. 
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Photo 6. Construction of the framing of the projection room over the main west entrance.  View toward the west from the building interior.  The three openings 
in the lower wall would receive the entrance doors.  1944.  National Archives, Neg. No. 210-GG-588. 
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Photo 7. One of the few views of the east end of the Auditorium, this view is from the northeast.  The horizontal siding has been installed on the walls of the 
auditorium and stage sections, but the north wing is still showing the diagonal sheathing.  In the lower portion of the east stage wall is a double doorway opening 
flanked to each side be window openings, each of which would receive three sash units.  At the northerly end of this same wall at the second floor level is also a 
window opening, which also would have three sash units.  A similar window opening is at the opposite end of this wall, just outside the photograph.  1944.  
Eastern California Museum Collection, MERR 7, 94.82.1. 
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Photo 8. The completed exterior of the Manzanar Auditorium-Gymnasium, 1944 or 1945.  View from the northwest of the west main entrance, with the north 
wing at the left.  The entry walk, flagpole and some plantings are in place.  A storage building still remains or has been added to the south of the entry walk.  
Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 87-C, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 9. View from the southwest of the completed auditorium, with the south wing at the right, 1944 or 1945.  The bank of louvered openings at the upper 
center of the west wall ventilate the attic.  A similar set of louvers is found in the east wall of the attic.  The ladder provided access to the roof and an attic access 
hatch is visible in the roof beyond the ladder.  Two access hatches are also visible on the roof of the projection room.  These hatches no longer exist.  Access to 
the attic is now through one of the louver openings.  The high vent stacks were furnace flues. Two inverted v-shaped ventilator covers are seen on the roof of the 
south wing, which were repeated on the north wing.  These ventilated the shower rooms.  The south wing arrangement appears to have been a mirror image of 
the north wing except for the extension to the east, which had considerably greater window area, and housed the health unit.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 87-
D, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 10. View toward the east from the southeast corner of the main building.  At the extreme right is the northeast corner of the south wing extension which 
contained the health unit, which indicates that the window configuration was similar on both the north and south sides of the extension.  The activity may have 
been a fire safety demonstration.  The fire truck, at “A” Street, was one of two camp fire trucks.  One of the fire trucks is now back at Manzanar, having been 
previously used by the City of Bishop.  A second power line in the background is parallel to Highway 395.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 402, courtesy Archie 
A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 11. Persons gathered at the west entrance to the auditorium are found in other photos dating this photo to April 5, 1945.  The ceremony was a memorial 
service for Sgt. Kiyoshi Robert Nakasaki and Pfc. Sadao Munemori, who were killed in action in Italy.  Because there are no flowers or shrubs in the planting 
beds or adjacent to the entrance walk, it is possible that other photos showing plantings were taken later in 1945.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 169, courtesy 
Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 12. View, probably in 1945, toward the southwest from the west main entrance of the auditorium showing plantings along the entrance walk.  The 
barracks in the background are in Block 8.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 415, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 13. Auditorium interior, probably during the first high school graduation ceremony, held in 1944.  The interior work had not yet been completed. The 
painting was incomplete – the wall wainscot paint colors are not yet finished and the doors and trim do not have their finish colors.  Also the seating appears to 
be all folding wooden chairs, indicating that the wooden benches had not yet been built or completed.  Although the stage backdrop curtains are not visible here, 
which could imply they were still being made, it is possible that they are pulled upward or aside because they do not appear in some later photos.  Toyo 
Miyatake Collection, No. 691, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabariel, California. 
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Photo 14.  In this view later in 1944 or possibly in 1945 of the auditorium stage, it can be seen that the painting has been completed, with medium and darker 
brown used on the doors and trim and for the wainscotting delineation on the walls.  The northeast and southeast exit doorways are also visible and the wooden 
benches are in use.  The ceiling light fixtures and hot air circulation units are still in place.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 91, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San 
Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 15. High School graduation ceremony in 1945.  Here again is illustrated the final paint scheme.  The stage backdrop curtains are shown and curtains at the 
north windows can be seen at the extreme left.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 703, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 16. In the background are the three main entrance doorways in the interior west wall of the auditorium during the 1944 high school graduation showing 
that the walls, doors and trim had not yet been given their finish coats of paint.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 694, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, 
California. 
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Photo 17. The west interior wall of the auditorium during the 1945 high school graduation ceremony showing the final paint scheme.  Window curtains 
(including black curtains for daytime movie viewings as well as evening “blackout” use) are seen as well as the wooden benches.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, 
No. 702, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 18. This view toward the southwest corner of the auditorium also provides a close-up view of the wooden benches.  1944 or 1945.  The window curtains 
had not been installed at this time.  Fire extinquishers are seen on two of the columns of the south wall.  The hangers or evidence of their locations are extant.  
Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 171-i(L), courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 19. West wall and northwest corner of auditorium, probably in 1945.  The window and black-out curtains are seen at the north windows.  A long pole in 
the northwest corner may have been for operating the windows.  Only every other sash unit of the lowest row were operable.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 
286, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 20. West main entrance of auditorium, April 5, 1945.  Photo taken during the memorial service for Sgt. Kiyoshi Robert Nakasaki and Pfc. Sadao 
Munemori.  The entry portico was divided by two simple posts.  At the left (north) side the ticket booth door and window are visible, both of which are still 
extant.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 170-B, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California.  This photo is also in the Eastern California Museum 
Collection, Brown Album. 
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Photo 21. Another view at the west main entrance during the April 5, 1945 memorial service showing details at the doorways.  The three double entry door sets 
and the closers are no longer in place but the light sockets are extant.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 170-A, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, 
California. 
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Photo 22. South wall of auditorium interior.  This view toward the southwest corner shows in clear detail  the windows, a fire extinguisher at the far column, 
bolting of the built-up columns and the painting scheme.  The window curtains however are not yet in place.  1944 or 1945.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 614, 
courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 23. Auditorium interior south wall, view toward southeast corner.  1944 or 1945  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 541, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San 
Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 24. Northwest corner and north wall of auditorium interior.  1944 or 1945.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 189, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San 
Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 25. Auditorium interior, northeast corner and front of stage, 1944 or 1945.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 191, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San 
Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 26. Southeast corner of auditorium interior, 1944 or 1945.  For some activities, the stage became temporary storage for the benches.  Toyo Miyatake 
Collection, No. 817, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 27. Manzanar Project Director Ralph P. Merritt delivering eulogy during memorial service for Pfc. Arikawa, first evacuee from Manzanar to be killed in 
action while serving in the U.S. Army.  August 6, 1944.  The stage curtains may have been taken down for resumption of painting. The door had not yet been 
installed in the opening in the upper left corner of the stage space.  The doorway was to an unfinished room at the north side of the stage space.  There is a 
similar space at the south side.  There is no evidence of either stair or ladder access to either space.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 171-D, courtesy Archie A. 
Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 28. Another view of the north side of the stage.  At this time, possibly late 1944, the door had been installed at the upper stage level, additional painting 
completed and some stage curtains rehung.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 708-B, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 29. View of stage, possibly late 1944, after the doors leading off-stage had been installed and probably most of the painting completed.  The stage curtains 
that had been installed earlier have probably been taken down for the painting work.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 843, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San 
Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 30. Close-up view of stage taken during the 1944 high school graduation ceremony.  This shows the overhang at the front of the stage.  This view again 
illustrates that the painting was incomplete at this time.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 686, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 31. Another view of the stage during the 1944 high school graduation.  A small window-like opening is seen at the south side of the stage, and adjacent to 
it a smaller opening for an electrical panel.  At the far right is one of a pair of openings and speaker(duplicated at the opposite side of the stage) of the public 
address system.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 700, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 32. The stage during the 1945 high school graduation.  Note the full array of stage curtains.  The footlight trough is more visible in this view.  Toyo 
Miyatake Collection, No. 687-C, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 33. This close-up taken during the 1945 high school graduation provides more detail of the footlighting.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 687-D, courtesy 
Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 34. A view from the stage, probably late 1944 or early 1945, shows the footlight sockets and wiring.  The window and black-out curtains at the north wall 
windows are also illustrated.  On the sides of two columns, just above the dark portion of the painted wall wainscot, are cleats for curtain pulls.  Some of these 
are still extant, as well as pulleys in the ceiling above adjacent to the columns for drawing the black-out curtains.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 95, courtesy 
Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 35. The auditorium was used between 1947 and 1954 by the Veterans of Foreign Wars.  This view of the auditorium from the southwest was shortly after 
the south wing was removed, probably 1954.  The VFW moved the south wing structure to Lone Pine and placed it there in an L-shaped configuration.  It is still 
in use by the local VFW chapter and the Lone Pine American Legion Post.  The doorways in the second and fourth bays from the west were probably added 
after 1947.  The horizontal board wall finish which was originally within the interior of the south wing and then exposed to the exterior was cedar, typical of the 
interior wall finish.  The exterior siding on the other hand was Douglas Fir.  Also exposed by the removal of the south wing and visible in this photo are the 
concrete footings supporting columns in the main south wall of the auditorium.  The cornerstone is in the left center foreground.  The pine tree near the west 
main entrance had substantially increased its height since 1945.  Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 87-G, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 36. After removal of the south wing by the VFW, Inyo County modified the auditorium building for use as a maintenance facility.  This view, probably 
mid- to late-1954, shows that the stage has been removed and a vehicle access opening constructed in the east exterior wall.  The windows that were originally in 
the space beneath the stage had not yet been removed.  The auditorium-gymnasium floor has also been removed.  The concrete pads which had provided support 
for the floor framing were used to fill in spaces between framing and footings at the perimeter of this space before earth fill and a concrete slab were installed.  
This new floor level is lower than the original floor surface leaving the original floor level and base trim position still visible.  Some of the original wood 
flooring was used on new walls in the former stage space.    Toyo Miyatake Collection, No. 87-F, courtesy Archie A. Miyatake, San Gabriel, California. 
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Photo 37. West (main) entrance of the auditorium.  This view shows that a small pine tree had been planted on each side of the entrance walks, although they are 
still small so this photo may have been taken about the time the camp was closed, late 1945, or sometime later.  The entryway had also not yet been enclosed.  
Eastern California Museum Collection, MERR 8. 
 



Historic Photographs 

 119

 



HISTORIC PHOTOGRAPHS 

 120

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photo 38. View to the north with the front entrance features and west end of the auditorium-gymnasium building.  Barracks Block 13 is just north of the 
auditorium.  The Sierra Nevada mountains are in the background.  There are no other buildings visible but the steps at the southwest corner of the building are 
visible at the extreme right, so this photo was probably taken between 1947 and 1954, most likely in the later part of that period as evidenced by the growth of 
the two pine trees.  The west entrance is unenclosed, indicating that the enclosure was possibly constructed after 1954.  Eastern California Museum Collection, 
NOM 47, 94.80.10a. 
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